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We are a quality company,

delivering exceptional customer value,

creating opportunities for employees,

and growing through responsible energy 

development in the West to achieve 

solid returns for investors.

Corporate Mission

TO OUR SHARHOLDERS

BLACK HILLS AT A GLANCE

WHOLESALE ENERGY

RETAIL SERVICES

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

FINANCIAL SECTION
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Earnings per average share - diluted
Dividends paid per share
Book value per outstanding share
Year-end stock price

Five-year dividend growth rate
Payout ratio
Dividend yield on market value at year-end
Return on average common equity
Price-earnings multiple at year-end

Total utility electric sales (millions of KWhs)
Total independent power capacity (MW) at year-end*
Tons of coal sold (thousands of tons)
Oil and gas production sold (MMcfe)
Daily volume natural gas marketed (MMBtu)
Daily volume crude oil marketed (barrels)

2004  2003 2002

$1.97
$1.20

$21.72
$29.83

3.7
61

4.0
10
15

2,926
1,002
4,812

10,843
1,241,900

58,700

$2.26
$1.16

$19.66
$26.52

4.1
51

4.4
12
12

2,946
950

4,052
7,398

1,088,200
57,200

$1.76
$1.24

$22.43
$30.68

3.6
70

4.0
8

17

3,051
964

4,780
12,595

1,741,100
44,900

%
%
%
%

%
%
%
%

%
%
%
%

>>

1

CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS

* Includes 40 MW in 2003 and 82 MW
in 2002 that are currently reported as
“discontinued operations.”

** Excludes corporate assets and assets of 
discontinued operations.

2000

$1.50 $3.00 $3.75$0.75 $2.25$0

1.76

1.97

2.26

3.42

2.37

2004

2001

2002

2003

2000

$0.50 $1.00 $1.25$0.25 $0.75$0

1.24

1.20

1.16

1.12

1.08

2004

2001

2002

2003

2004

2001

2002

2000

2003

$0 $600 $1,200 $1,500$300 $900

123.8

420.6
926.2

1,231.1
131.3

451.2

106.9
575.7

409.5

464.4

116.4
1,446.0

463.9
1,324.2

126.2

Business Group Assets **
($million)

Earnings 
($million)

Retail Services
Wholesale energy
Communications

Dividends
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We continued to follow our 
proven business philosophy:
we reward our shareholders 
by serving our customers 
with reliability and value.

ENERGY TO CONNECT

My first year as President and Chief Executive Officer 

was exciting, challenging and personally fulfilling. I am

honored to lead this great organization and its team of

dedicated employees. Through the transition of the past

year, we continued to follow our proven business philo-

sophy: we reward our shareholders by serving our 

customers with reliability and value. To that end, our

Board of Directors recently raised the dividend to share-

holders for the 35th consecutive year. Few energy 

companies can match our solid dividend record. Our 

decision to increase the dividend reflects our confidence 

in our abilities and opportunities. 

Energy to grow

Expertise to get us there

In January 2005, we acquired Cheyenne Light, Fuel &

Power. This utility provides electric service to 38,000 

customers and natural gas distribution to 31,000 cus-

tomers in and around Cheyenne, Wyoming. In addition 

to expanding our retail presence, Cheyenne is an excellent

strategic fit, partly because it currently purchases all of 

its energy from others. Through the resource planning 

and regulatory review process, we plan to propose that

Cheyenne Light own and operate its own power gen-

eration facilities after its existing all-requirements power 

service agreement expires in late 2007. We have a proven

ability to generate reliable, competitively priced power, 

and welcome the opportunity to provide long-term 

value for our new power consumers in Cheyenne. 

Review of 2004 operations

Our 2004 financial performance improved as the year 

progressed. Earnings for 2004 were $57.7 million, or

$1.76 per share, compared to $61.0 million, or $1.97 per

share, in 2003. Per share income from continuing opera-

tions decreased 5 percent to $1.74 in 2004. In the first

half of the year, we responded to a number of issues,

including: 

• challenges that impeded our ability to meet 

production and performance goals at our oil and 

gas operations; 

• difficult market conditions during the first quarter 

when our Las Vegas Cogeneration II power plant 

was operating as a “merchant” plant; 

• unrealized losses caused by mark-to-market 

accounting rules governing our energy marketing 

operations; 

• an earnings decline from certain power fund 

investments; 

• lower earnings at Black Hills Power because of 

mild weather and the results of scheduled and 

unscheduled power plant outages; and 

• competitive price pressure in our broadband 

communications business.

In the second half of the year, a more normalized 

earnings pattern emerged. The results of our 2004 

operations are summarized by business segment below.

Oil and gas operations earned a record $12.2 million,

a 45 percent increase over 2003. Throughout much of the

first three quarters, our production growth was hindered

by delays in permitting, drilling and completing new wells

as well as in constructing a critical gas gathering system

and compressor stations. By year end, many of these 

challenges were largely overcome, and we established our 

DAVID R. EMERY

Pres ident and 
Chief  Execut ive Off icer

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS>>
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seventh consecutive annual production record, producing

12.6 billion cubic feet equivalent (BCFE) – a 16 percent

increase over last year. Proved reserves increased 11 per-

cent to 173 BCFE. 

Our coal mine earned $7.4 million, a 10 percent 

decrease from 2003. The lower results were primarily 

due to increased depreciation expense and a one-time

coal tax settlement, which, when credited back to a 

customer, effectively reduced our average coal price

received. Production of 4.8 million tons in 2004 was

slightly less than in 2003.

Energy marketing operations earned $10.2 million. 

Daily average natural gas marketing volumes increased 

40 percent in 2004, and revenues from oil marketing 

and transportation were strong. The wholesale power

generation subsidiary earned $15.6 million from 

continuing operations, a decrease of 31 percent, due 

primarily to the contract change at our Las Vegas

Cogeneration II facility. A new contract began in 

April 2004, which has stabilized our earnings from 

this business.

Black Hills Power earned $19.2 million, a decline of 

20 percent, due largely to the effects of scheduled and

unscheduled power plant outages, mild weather and

lower margins from off-system wholesale power sales.

Our communication segment reported a $3.9 million

loss, an improvement of $2 million, or 33 percent, com-

pared to 2003 results, primarily due to increased business

customers and residential revenues.  Despite competitive

pressures, we were able to solidify our customer base. 

Corporate expense was $3.5 million, which was an

improvement of $4.1 million compared to 2003, as

«more costs were allocated directly to subsidiaries.

Certain administrative expenses increased, including 

costs for Sarbanes Oxley compliance, holding 

company structuring, pension and insurance.

Strengthening internal practices

In October 2004, Linden R. Evans was promoted to 

fill my former position as President and Chief Operating

Officer of our Retail Services business group. We then

began an internal reorganization aimed at improving 

productivity and reducing costs. We seek to combine 

and cross-train retail personnel, improve customer 

service, enhance corporate compliance and achieve

greater efficiency.  

We also centralized corporate governance activities 

and improved internal controls in compliance with the

Sarbanes Oxley Act. We believe these steps strengthened

our already high standards of ethics and business con-

duct. In addition, our status as a registered holding 

company imposed new accounting and reporting 

requirements. Our reorganization conforms to these

mandates, and more readily enables us to pursue retail

electric and gas opportunities across state borders. 

These changes were costly, as higher outside professional

services and additional internal resources increased our

corporate overhead. Nevertheless, as a result of these

efforts, the Company is in a stronger position to serve

long-term investor interests.
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Building upon a solid fnancial foundation

We are committed to maintaining a strong balance sheet.

Last year, we reduced long-term debt by more than 

$100 million and refinanced an issue of pollution control

revenue bonds to take advantage of a lower interest rate

environment. Reflecting the success of our efforts, at year-

end 2004, our debt to total capitalization was 51 percent.

To maintain a strong liquidity position, we completed a

$125 million, one-year revolving credit facility in the

spring of 2004, replacing an existing facility. We maintain

additional availability under a $225 million revolving credit

facility that expires in the summer of 2006.  

Our combined diversified businesses demonstrated 

another year of solid cash flows. In 2004, cash flows from

operations were approximately $133 million. Another 

$50 million was invested in natural gas inventories at year-

end 2004, which will be delivered to customers in early

2005. Cash outflows for investments during the year

totaled approximately $87 million, related to oil and gas

development and general maintenance capital expenditures

throughout our other businesses. Our stock price at year-

end 2004 was $30.68 – about 3 percent higher than the

end of 2003. Combined with a dividend yield of 4 percent,

total shareholder return for 2004 was 7 percent, a

respectable result considering the earnings decline.

Avenues for growth

In many respects, 2004 was a year of transition, focusing

on near-term issues described above. Even so, we also

advanced our long-term goal of expanding our diversified

energy base in a prudent and balanced manner. 

We continued to actively pursue ways to:

• Increase our natural gas production. We have a 

significant drilling and development program to 

exploit our gas reserves. We believe these 

opportunities will extend our production growth 

for several years to come.

• Expand our power generation fleet. We seek 

opportunities to provide power to other utilities 

through long-term contracts. This strategy should 

enable us to build new coal-fired base load power 

plants and gas-fired peaking plants. 

• Increase our energy marketing activity. Since we 

are both a producer and consumer of energy, our 

marketing function optimizes the value of our fuel 

and generation assets. Our focus on customer 

services and the physical movement of energy is a 

proven business plan. To facilitate further growth, 

we seek to expand producer service and acquire 

additional mid-stream assets, especially in the Rocky 

Mountain region, where a concentration of gas 

marketing occurs. 

• Expand our retail presence. We are reliable and 

competitive energy suppliers and seek to expand our 

retail utility operations. We have a long history of 

expert electric utility operations, from generation to 

transmission to distribution to customer service. Retail 

gas operations may be new to us, but we have been 

producers and marketers of gas for decades, and retail 

distribution extends our existing capabilities.

Outlook for 2005

In 2005, we expect income from continuing operations 

to increase, within a range of $1.85 and $2.00 per share.

Among the factors expected to augment results are: 

In many respects, 2004 was a year of 
transition, focusing on near-term issues.
Even so, we also advanced our long-term 
goal of expanding our diversified energy 
base in a prudent and balanced manner.
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continued growth in oil and gas production, modest 

accretion from Cheyenne Light, a small improvement in

communications, increased earnings due to a full year of

contract revenues at the Las Vegas II power plant, and

incremental cost savings from ongoing integration efforts.

We also expect small earnings declines due to a planned

maintenance outage at the Wyodak power plant, lower

coal production due to the same plant outage, reduced

oil marketing and transportation revenues and narrower

gas marketing margins.

Board and officer changes

This year, we recognize Daniel P. Landguth for 36 years

of dedicated service to Black Hills Corporation. In May,

he retires and steps down as Chairman of the Board. 

Dan guided our Company during a time of tremendous

opportunity, growth and change. He motivated and

inspired us through leadership that combined a vision of

excellence with high ethical standards. Thank you, Dan,

for your friendship and lasting contributions. 

In May 2004, Jack W. Eugster joined the Board of

Directors. He replaced Everett E. Hoyt, who retired

from the Company. Ev provided leadership through 

a period of significant expansion of our businesses. 

We heartily thank him for his years of service and dedi-

cation. As previously mentioned, Linden R. Evans was

named President and Chief Operating Officer – Retail

Services in October 2004. In December 2004, Perry 

S. Krush was appointed Vice President – Controller 

of the Corporation.

Energy to connect

The relationships that make it happen

In a sense, we are in the business of connecting 

customers – to electric power, fuel resources and broad-

band communications. We also connect meaningfully 

to the broader communities where we live and conduct

business. In all we do, we strive to deliver competitive

value and quality service. Ultimately, we seek to connect

in relationships where trust and dependability enhance

the economic aspects of our dealings.

Our talented and motivated employee team exemplifies

our energy to connect: with customers, as we earn their

confidence and long-term business; with tribal leaders, 

as we work together to bring gas resources to market;

with regulators and elected officials, as we cooperate to

produce and deliver energy at reasonable rates; with 

fellow employees, as we build upon our skills collectively

and improve the final result; and with investors, as we

convert our efforts into strong earnings. 

On behalf of the Board and employee team, thank you

for your involvement with Black Hills Corporation. 

We look forward to a prosperous future together.
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BLACK HILLS AT A GLANCE
Energy to connect

We are a diversified energy and communications 

company. Our wholesale energy operations are con-

ducted through Black Hills Energy. This subsidiary

generates electricity, produces natural gas and oil,

mines coal and markets energy. Retail operations

include Black Hills Power, an electric utility and our

founding business, providing service to the Black 

Hills region and also selling surplus power in whole-

sale markets; Cheyenne Light, Fuel & Power, a

Wyoming electric and gas distribution company

acquired in January 2005; and Black Hills FiberCom,

which offers bundled broadband communications

services in and near Rapid City, South Dakota.

Power Generat ion

Oil  Production

Pipel ines

Gas Production

Coal  Mining

Uti l i ty

Energy Marketing

Communicat ions

BLACK HILLS ASSETS

6

In all we do, we strive to deliver competitive value 
and quality service. Ultimately, we seek to connect 
in relationships where trust and dependability 
enhance the economic aspects of our dealings.
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Power Generation

• 964 MW of power generation capacity.

• Plants concentrated in Colorado, Nevada, Wyoming

and California.

• Nearly all our capacity is under long-term contracts 

with load-serving electric utilities.

• Our strategy is to continue expanding our 

operations in growth markets in the West by 

providing coal-fired baseload power and natural gas-

fired peaking power capacity.

Natural Gas and Oil Production

• Development and acquisition strategy focuses 

on long-lived gas reserves.

• 173 BCFE proved reserves at year-end 2004.

• 82% of total reserves are natural gas.

• 2004 production – 12.6 BCFE – was the seventh

consecutive annual record and a 16% increase 

over 2003.

• Production is concentrated in New Mexico,

Colorado and Wyoming, with additional pro-

duction in Montana, North Dakota, Nebraska,

Oklahoma, Louisiana, Texas, the Gulf of Mexico

and California.

Energy Marketing

• Focusing on energy delivery, we market and move

natural gas and oil to markets primarily in the West.

• Natural gas marketing includes producer services

and origination services for gas consumers. We 

move gas primarily from the Rockies and Canada 

to markets in the West.

• Pipelines in Texas are contracted to deliver crude oil

between ports and key connecting points.

• Average daily marketing volumes in 2004: 

natural gas – 1.74 BCF, up 40%, a new record;

crude oil – 44,900 barrels.

Coal Mining

• Our Powder River Basin coal mine near 

Gillette, Wyoming, supports low-cost mine

mouth power generation.

• 294 million tons of coal reserves at year-end 2004 –

a 55-year supply at current production rates.

• Coal production in 2004 was 4.8 million tons.

Black Hills Power

• Electric utility serving 62,000 customers in western

South Dakota, southeastern Montana and north-

eastern Wyoming.

• 435 MW of power generation plus 50 MW of 

purchased power under long-term contract.

• 392 MW peak demand.

• Regulatory rates unchanged in 10 years, providing

stability to our customers and rewards to share-

holders through off-system wholesale power sales

and cost containment incentives.

• Surplus power may be sold in wholesale markets,

with unique access to both eastern and western

power grids through an AC-DC-AC transmission

tie, providing 70 MW of transmission capacity

between the grids.

Cheyenne Light, Fuel & Power

• Electric and natural gas distribution company 

serving 38,000 electric customers and 31,000 gas

customers in Cheyenne and other parts of Laramie

County, Wyoming.

• 163 MW peak electric demand; 5 million MMBTU

annual gas delivery.

• Excellent strategic fit with other Wyoming-based

energy assets.

• Acquired in January 2005.

Black Hills FiberCom

• Delivers bundled telephone, cable television and

high-speed internet services through a state-of-

the-art fiber optic/coaxial hybrid network.

• Nearly 27,000 customers at year-end 2004.

• Revenue-generating units – the total number of

services subscribed by residential customers – 

was 56,800 at year-end 2004, a 6 percent increase 

over 2003. 

• Phone directory publishing augments 

revenue sources.

• Focused on delivering superior products and services

at competitive prices.

WHOLESALE ENERGY

Regional market leader 

RETAIL SERVICES

A strong local presence

>>
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RETAIL SERVICES

Serving as the lifeline for vital energy and communications

services is a responsibility of the highest order, and that’s

how our retail companies deliver value and enhanced 

customer service. Connecting through electric lines, fiber

optic lines, and now gas lines enables our retail customers

to participate fully in all that modern life has to offer. Our

electric and communications customers in the Black Hills

and our electric and gas customers in Cheyenne know 

that they can count on us to make the human connection

through personalized service, while meeting the basic

needs of their homes and businesses.

Connecting to customers

Black Hills Power, our flagship retail company, first

brought electricity to the region in 1883. Our vertically-

integrated utility generates power, sends it over transmis-

sion lines, and distributes it to over 62,000 customers

throughout our three-state service territory. Black Hills

Power employees are known for their connections to cus-

tomers and communities. 

Earnings at the utility were $19.2 million in 2004, down

20 percent from the previous year. The decrease is prima-

rily due to lower firm system sales, increased fuel and

purchased power costs, higher costs related to scheduled

and unscheduled maintenance, higher health insurance

and higher allocated corporate costs. Higher off-system

electric sales and reduced interest expense partially offset

the negative impacts. Mild weather contributed to results,

too, with degree-days down 11 percent in 2004.

Black Hills FiberCom, our retail telephone, internet 

and cable television company launched in 1998 to bring

state-of-the-art communications services to much of the

Black Hills, has grown to serve about 27,000 customers

in Rapid City and the surrounding area. Withstanding

the effects of a competitive “price war,” FiberCom

expanded its business customer base and increased resi-

dential revenues, improving performance by $2 million in

2004. Because of the pioneering entrepreneurial spirit of

Black Hills Corporation, businesses and individuals living

in or relocating to the region have everything they need

to connect with the rest of the world.
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2004

2001

2,250 2,750 3,0002,000 2,500

2002

2000 2,657

2,946

3,051
2003 2,926

2,977

Electric utility sales
Thousands of megawatt-hours
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Cheyenne Light adds retail presence

We extended the reach of our retail presence further

into Wyoming with Cheyenne Light, Fuel & Power, 

the newest member of our retail family of companies.

Cheyenne Light was acquired in January 2005. The

combined gas and electric utility serves 38,000 electric

and 31,000 natural gas customers in and around

Wyoming’s capital. Founded in 1900, Cheyenne Light

is a logical fit for Black Hills. The companies’ histories

are similar, the communities they serve have the same

Western spirit, and the employees of each have the same

commitment to provide reasonably-priced and reliable

service. 

We have deep roots in Wyoming. Our coal mine 

operates in the Powder River Basin and power plants 

are located at the mine site. Black Hills Power provides

retail and wholesale energy to Wyoming customers.

We also produce oil and gas in the state. Cheyenne

Light is a logical extension of our energy activities and

we look forward to strengthening our ties to the people

and economy of Wyoming.

Together, the three retail companies are expected

to provide a solid earnings base for Black Hills

Corporation and position us to further develop our

retail service expertise with future growth.

Integration enhances customer service

To better serve customers of both Black Hills Power

and Black Hills FiberCom, certain retail functions 

were integrated during 2004.  Employees have been

consolidated into a single service center where 

customers can get all their energy and communications

questions answered with one visit or phone call – 24

hours a day, seven days a week. 

While we integrate functions to better serve the 

customer and reduce costs, we continue to account 

for these businesses as separate entities.  

Black Hills Power has kept electric rates stable for more

than a decade and its customer base is growing at a

steady 1-2 percent a year. Despite competitive chal-

lenges, Black Hills FiberCom is achieving greater 

productivity, increased efficiency, and better bottom line

performance.

Environmental and safety achievements

Furthering our commitment to ensuring protection of

the environment and the safety of our employees, we

integrated our environmental and safety departments 

in 2004. Our environmental engineers conducted in-

depth site reviews at all energy-related projects to 

assure compliance, and our safety team led the effort 

to prevent accidents and occupational illnesses. 

2004

2001

11,000 24,000 30,0006,000 18,000

2002

2000 9,000

24,800

26,980
2003 26,890

17,900

Broadband communications
Total customer count
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Our employees earned a number of difficult-to-achieve

safety awards this year, including 250,000 hours without

a lost time accident for Black Hills Power’s Ben French

Station, Southern Hills linemen and servicemen,

Northern Hills linemen and servicemen, Wyodak Coal

Mine, and Harbor Cogeneration.  

Connected to our communities

Open doors assure interaction, and we invite our 

customers and community groups to visit us in person

despite the industry trend toward distancing the process

through call centers. As a result, we know many of our

customers personally. 

Our employees have the energy to connect, and the

communities we serve are better as a result.
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Our energy diversification is instrumental to our long-term 
growth strategy.We excel in this approach because our 

operations complement and strengthen each other.
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WHOLESALE ENERGY

>>

Black Hills Energy, our wholesale energy subsidiary, 

generates electric power, produces natural gas and oil,

mines coal and markets energy. In 2004, these activities

represented about 70 percent of our asset base and 

nearly 80 percent of our income from continuing opera-

tions. Our energy diversification is instrumental to our

long-term growth strategy. We excel in this approach

because our operations complement and strengthen 

each other. 

For example, we are both a consumer and producer of

natural gas, and we create a business advantage from the

two operations. Our power generation benefits from an

indirect fuel hedge, protecting against price volatility.

This also applies to coal mining operations, where the

fuel is directly tied to our generation. Our ability to har-

ness the energy value of low cost coal gives us a vital

competitive edge in the marketplace for baseload power.

This integration model also extends to our energy mar-

keting businesses, which optimize the value of our power

generation and fuel production assets.

Effective risk management is another key aspect of our

wholesale business strategy. Nearly all of our power gen-

eration is provided under long-term contracts to load-

serving utilities. The power purchaser bears the fuel risk

under most of these agreements. Likewise, nearly all of

our coal production is under long-term contracts, most 

of which are life-of-plant agreements. We employ hedges

on a portion of our oil and gas production to assure

strong, stable cash flows as market conditions change. 

Our energy marketing operations are governed by strict

practices minimizing market risk, such as back-to-back

trading positions and low value-at-risk tolerances. We

monitor our credit exposure to counterparties on a con-

tinual basis. Our business diversity itself is also a way to

manage our overall risk profile, with no heavy reliance on

a single energy segment to deliver financial results.  

As a result, our risk-managed, diversified and integrated

energy approach gives us both flexibility and stability as

we continue advancing our prudent and balanced 

growth agenda. 

Power generation performance rebounds

In April 2004, we began operating our Las Vegas

Cogeneration II power plant under a new long-term

tolling contract with Nevada Power Company. With that

accomplished, our power generation business is expected

to demonstrate a more stable earnings profile. In 2004,

this business segment earned $15.6 million from 

continuing operations. 
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Our operated fleet of wholesale power plants is located

in Colorado, Nevada, Wyoming, California and Idaho.

Most of our 964 megawatts of generation capacity is

used in peak demand periods. Several peaking plants are

strategically located in regions of population and eco-

nomic growth. We believe some of these sites will have

the opportunity to increase capacity, through turbine

additions or combined-cycle expansions, as demand for

power increases. We also seek to build mine-mouth

baseload power plants, either at our Wyodak energy

complex or in other regions where coal resources are

available near growing load centers. 

Record oil and gas production

Our oil and natural gas operations had another good

year, with record earnings of $12.2 million. For the 

seventh consecutive year, production achieved a new

record, with 12.6 billion cubic feet equivalent (BCFE)

produced in 2004, a 16 percent increase. Reserves also

increased 11 percent, to a record-high 173 BCFE of

proved developed and proved undeveloped reserves.

These achievements were accomplished by our ambi-

tious deployment of drilling and development capital. 

Last year, we drilled or participated in 161 exploratory

and development wells (43 net wells), completing 127

wells (36 net) by year end. Our overall success rate

exceeded 88 percent in 2004, taking into account a

number of wells in progress at year end. With our

extensive inventory of undeveloped locations and the

advancement of our planned development program in

San Juan Basin of New Mexico, we fully expect a con-

tinuation of production and reserve growth for the next

several years. While not yet explored on our properties

in the San Juan Basin, additional reserves are believed

to exist in deeper drilling zones known to be productive

elsewhere in the basin. 

Stable coal mining operations

Our Wyodak coal mine is a steady performer, earning

$7.4 million from continuing operations in 2004.

Production of 4.8 million tons was slightly down from
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the record level set in 2003, due in part to planned and

unplanned outages at power plants utilizing our coal.

Coal reserves were 294 million tons at year-end 2004 –

representing a 60-year supply at current production rates.

We also are pleased the Wyodak Mine was recently pre-

sented the prestigious Sentinels of Safety award sponsored

by the federal Mine Safety Health Administration.

Solid energy marketing performance

Marketing operations increased earnings to $10.2 million

in 2004. We increased average gas volumes marketed by

40 percent last year, to more than 1.7 BCF per day. Best

described as a “physical” marketing strategy, we offer 

producer services, assisting natural gas producers with 

collection, storage, transportation and marketing. We also

are very active at the other end of the pipeline. Our origi-

nation services focus on arranging supplies and scheduling

shipments of natural gas to larger consumers: primarily

utilities, manufacturers and industry. In the case of oil, we

operate two pipelines in Texas, which link port areas to

major connection points about 200 miles to the north. In

addition to oil transportation services, we also provide oil

marketing expertise to our clientele.

Connecting to the customer

Delivering quality customer service and competitive value

unites our diversified activities. This is a core business

philosophy, because we believe long-term relationships

create the best and most productive climates for growth.

With that vision guiding us over time, we see opportuni-

ties to expand our power generation operations, increase

production and reserves of natural gas, oil and coal, and

provide additional marketing services to both existing

and new customers.
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Our ability to harness the energy value of 
low-cost coal gives us a vital competitive edge 

in the marketplace for baseload power.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Black Hills Corporation believes in responsible energy

stewardship and contributory corporate citizenship. 

Our connections with the people we serve and the 

natural resources we utilize exemplify our respect for 

the earth and those who inhabit it. 

Whether developing gas and oil reserves on the pristine

Jicarilla Apache Nation of New Mexico or extracting coal

in the Powder River Basin of Wyoming, we abide by the

West’s strict environmental standards. We proudly operate

both gas-fired and coal-fired power plants that are among

the cleanest in the nation. 

We are integral to the communities we serve, not only

with the vital products we deliver but also with our

employees who have the energy to connect and make a

difference. Our employees volunteer tirelessly to causes

involved with children and the elderly, health care and

community outreach, economic development and civic

leadership. We make community events happen.

Social responsibility and high ethical standards permeate all

aspects of the Company, from governance and accounting

to our work to caring for our customers – wholesale, retail,

regulated, and unregulated alike. We are committed to

providing returns for our shareholders, and we know the

best way to create and sustain long-term value is to stay

connected to the people and our environment. 

The best way to create and sustain
long-term value is to stay connected
to the people and our environment.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
and Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures 
about Market Risk 
 
We are a diversified energy holding company operating 
principally in the United States with two major business 
groups – wholesale energy and retail services. We report 
for our business groups in the following financial segments: 

Business Group Financial Segment 
Wholesale energy group Power generation 
 Oil and gas 
 Coal mining 
 Energy marketing and transportation 
Retail services group Electric utility 
 Communications 

Our wholesale energy group, which operates through 
Black  Hills Energy, Inc. and its subsidiaries, engages in 
the production of electric power through ownership of a 
diversified portfolio of generating plants and the sale of 
electric power and capacity primarily under long-term 
“tolling” contracts; the production of coal, natural gas 
and crude oil primarily in the Rocky Mountain region; 
and the marketing and transportation of fuel products. 
Our retail services group currently consists of our electric 
utility, Black Hills Power, and communications segments. 
In future filings, we will report the operations of our 
new combination electric and gas public utility, CLF&P, 
as its own segment.  

Our electric utility, Black Hills Power, Inc., generates, 
transmits and distributes electricity to an average of 
approximately 62,000 customers in South Dakota, 
Wyoming and Montana. Our communications segment 
provides broadband telecommunication services to 
approximately 27,000 residential and business customers 
in Rapid City and the Northern Black Hills region of 
South Dakota through Black Hills FiberCom, LLC. 

In May 2004, we sold our subsidiary, Landrica Development 
Corp., which held some land and coal enhancement facili-
ties that were previously reported in our coal mining segment. 

In 2003, we decided to divest of our non-strategic power 
generation assets located in the Northeastern United 
States. On September 30, 2003, we sold our seven 
hydroelectric power plants located in Upstate New 
York. We currently hold for sale our 40 megawatt 
Pepperell power plant in Massachusetts. 

In 2002, we discontinued operations of our coal 
marketing business due to difficulties in marketing our 
Wyodak coal from the Powder River Basin of Wyoming 
to East Coast markets. The non-strategic assets were sold 
effective August 1, 2002. 

Industry Overview 
The energy and telecommunications industries are 
expected to become increasingly competitive due to a 
variety of regulatory, economic and technological 
changes. In addition, the energy sector has become more 
volatile due to international tensions, changes in 
investment activity and factors affecting supply and 
demand of various energy resources. 

In recent years, state and federal regulators have been 
evaluating the results of energy deregulation efforts of 
the 1990s. These efforts were intended to encourage 
competition, introduce consumer choice and attract 
additional investment in energy resources. In many 
states, electric utilities were required to disaggregate 
traditional functions of generation, transmission, 
distribution and marketing of electricity in an effort to 
open markets to competition. Due to a number of 
causes, energy consumers have been exposed to 
significant price increases and deterioration in service in 
recent years. Because the benefits of a more competitive 
industry were not always evident, many regulators are 
now seeking new policy directions to assure greater 
reliability and end-user value in the future. 

A surge in investment in gas-fired power generation 
facilities occurred in the early 2000s. Some of that 
investment led to an overabundance of power capacity  
in certain regions of the country. In some instances, 
“merchant” or non-contracted plants became financially 
distressed as market prices for power fell below the cost 
of production for extended periods during the 2002-
2004 time frame. Many of these plants were deemed 
impaired and asset values were written down. Several 
companies abandoned their independent power 
production (IPP) strategy, sold their plants and exited 
the sector. IPP facilities under contract with utilities 
have fared better than those subject to volatile market 
conditions. 

Mild weather over vast sections of the U.S. in 2003 and 
2004, combined with slower regional economic growth, 
contributed to a slowdown in electric energy demand 
nationwide. As a result of excess energy supply, 
wholesale power prices have been relatively soft for 
much of the last two years. This situation could turn 
around abruptly with a resurgence of hotter than normal 
weather during the summer peaking season and increases 
in industrial demand. In addition, the availability of 
hydroelectric power is unpredictable and dependent on 
precipitation in the northwestern U.S. Power prices in 
the West can be affected dramatically by changing 
hydroelectric conditions. 

The energy industry experienced a financial crisis 
beginning in late 2001, stemming from the collapse of 
Enron Corporation and the near collapse of several 
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other leading energy companies. The aggregate market 
capitalization of energy companies fell on the scale of 
hundreds of billions of dollars, reflecting challenging 
market conditions and investor attitudes. Investors and 
consumers lost confidence in the financial health and 
future prospects of many energy providers as a result of 
numerous events. Accordingly, energy companies have 
been subject to much greater scrutiny by regulators, 
credit rating agencies and investors. In response, 
companies are moving aggressively to improve liquidity 
and to restructure their balance sheets. They are 
abandoning unsuccessful business strategies, selling non-
core assets, downsizing staffs, issuing new equity, 
canceling acquisitions, postponing or canceling 
construction projects, reducing significant levels of 
capital expenditures, accelerating debt repayment and 
realigning trading activities around their own generation, 
mid-stream and transportation assets. 

The oil and gas industry has experienced significant price 
volatility in the past several years, from a lower-price 
environment in 2002 and 2003 to significantly higher 
prices for both commodities in 2004 and 2005 to date. 
In the 2000’s, natural gas has emerged as the national 
industrial fuel of choice. Most of the recent increase in 
power generation capacity has been gas-fired, which in 
turn has exposed the generation companies’ financial 
performance to greater risk due to fuel price volatility. 
Recent high product prices have encouraged domestic 
oil and gas producers to increase production and 
reserves. In addition, investment in liquefied natural gas 
port facilities is expected to increase the availability of gas 
supplies in future years.  

The U.S. coal industry has experienced a resurgence in 
the past two years, with favorable commodity prices 
creating attractive returns. Coal prices in Wyoming’s 
Powder River Basin have increased moderately during 
this period, due to the coal’s lower heat content and high 
transportation costs. Those factors limit the ability to 
capture significant additional market share. However, 
from a regional perspective, Powder River Basin coal can 
be a very competitive energy resource. Fossil fuel 
combustion continues to be an international policy issue, 
with opponents arguing environmental harm, despite 
the application of advanced emissions technology. 
Because coal continues to be an economical resource, its 
long-term prospects as an important component of a 
national energy mix remain strong. 

The telecommunications industry underwent widespread 
changes brought about by, among other things, the 
Telecommunications Act of 1996 and the decisions of 
federal and state regulators to open the monopolistic 
local telephone and cable television markets to 
competition. The industry has also experienced the rapid 
introduction of new broadband technology applications 

and increased consumer demand for faster, higher-
capacity, digital-based and expanded broadband 
communications services, including broader video 
choices and high speed data and Internet services. The 
convergence of these trends allowed many new entrants 
into the telecommunications market. Due to the rapid 
expansion of the broadband industry and the effects of 
technical substitution and obsolescence of equipment, 
the broadband communications industry’s financial 
performance has suffered in many U.S. markets. 

Business Strategy 
We are a customer-focused energy provider. Our business 
is comprised of fuel assets, electric generation assets and 
retail utility assets, such as electric and gas distribution 
systems. To optimize the value of those assets, we utilize 
our energy marketing and transportation expertise. Our 
focus on customers, whether retail utility customers or 
wholesale generation or marketing customers, provides 
us with opportunities to expand our various businesses. 
The diversity of our operations avoids reliance on any 
single business to achieve our strategic objectives. This 
diversity is expected to provide a measure of stability to 
our business and financial performance in volatile or 
cyclical periods. It should help us reduce our total 
corporate risk and allow us to achieve higher than 
average market returns over the long term. The strength 
and stability of our balance sheet is critical in today’s 
market. Access to capital, sufficient liquidity and quality 
of earnings are our key drivers. 

Our balanced, integrated approach to fuel production, 
power generation, retail operations and energy 
marketing is supported by disciplined risk management 
practices. Additionally, building on the strength of our 
electric utility, Black Hills Power, we enhanced our 
Black Hills area operations by providing broadband 
communications to our customers in South Dakota. 

Our long-term strategy is to continue growing our core 
retail utility, generation and fuel asset businesses, 
supplemented by our energy marketing and 
transportation operations. We will do this primarily by 
focusing on customers. In the retail area, we will focus 
on acquiring new customers through the acquisition of 
additional retail utility properties, while maintaining our 
high customer service and reliability standards. In the 
power generation area, we will focus on long-term 
contractual relationships with key wholesale customers, 
as well as new customers, to allow us to expand existing 
generation sites, or to construct or acquire new 
generation facilities. Finally, in the fuel area, we will 
strive to develop additional markets for our production, 
including the development of additional power plants at 
our mine site. The expertise of our energy marketing and 
transportation businesses will continue to enable us to 
optimize the value of our asset businesses. 
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The following are key elements of our business strategy: 

 operate our lines of business as retail and wholesale 
energy components. The retail component consists of 
electric, natural gas and telecommunications products 
and services. The wholesale component consists of 
fuel production, marketing, mid-stream assets and 
power production facilities; 

 preserve Black Hills Power’s low-cost rate structure 
for our residential, commercial and industrial 
customers while retaining the flexibility to selectively 
market excess generating capacity off-system to 
maximize returns in changing market environments; 

 expand retail operations through selective acquisitions 
of electric utilities consistent with our regional focus 
and strategic advantages; 

 improve our communications business by increasing 
customer service and value, by increasing revenues and 
by creating additional operating efficiencies; 

 build and maintain strong relationships with 
wholesale energy customers; 

 conduct business with a diversified group of 
creditworthy or sufficiently collateralized 
counterparties; 

 sell a large percentage of our capacity and energy 
production from new independent power projects 
through mid- and long-term contracts primarily to 
load serving utilities in order to secure a stable 
revenue stream and attractive returns; 

 grow our power generation segment by developing 
and acquiring power generating assets in targeted 
Western markets and, in particular, by expanding 
generating capacity of our existing sites through a 
strategy known as “brownfield development;”  

 exploit our fuel cost advantages and our operating and 
marketing expertise to produce power at attractive 
margins; 

 increase our reserves of natural gas and crude oil and 
expand our overall fuel production; 

 increase margins from our coal production through an 
expansion of mine-mouth generation and increased 
coal sales; 

 grow our energy marketing operations primarily 
through the expansion of producer and end-use 
origination services; and 

 manage the risks inherent in energy marketing by 
maintaining position limits that minimize price risk 
exposure. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Operate our lines of business as retail and wholesale energy 
components. The retail component consists of electric and 
telecommunications products and services. The wholesale 
component consists of fuel production, marketing, mid-
stream assets and power production facilities. 
Through the retail and wholesale groups of our business, 
operating efficiencies are achieved. In the retail group, 
the integration of customer service and marketing and 
promotional efforts streamline operating processes and 
improve productivity. In the wholesale group, the fuel 
production, marketing and generation segments 
integrate balanced, yet diverse strategic operations. 

Preserve Black Hills Power’s Low-Cost Rate Structure for our 
Residential, Commercial and Industrial Customers While 
Retaining the Flexibility to Selectively Market Excess 
Generating Capacity Off-System to Maximize Returns in 
Changing Market Environments.  
Through a settlement with the SDPUC Black Hills 
Power has been under a retail rate freeze since 1995. The 
rate freeze agreement terminated on January 1, 2005. 
The rate freeze preserved Black Hills Power’s low-cost 
rate structure at levels below the national average for our 
retail customers while allowing us to retain the benefits 
from cost savings and wholesale “off-system” sales. This 
has provided us with flexibility in allocating Black Hills 
Power’s generating capacity to maximize returns in 
changing market environments. We have historically 
optimized the utilization of Black Hills Power’s power 
supply resources by selling wholesale power to other 
utilities and to power marketers in the spot market and 
through short-term sales contracts. Absent any request 
for a rate change by us or the SDPUC, rates will remain 
unchanged from those in place during the rate freeze. 

Expand Retail Operations Through Selective Acquisitions  
of Electric Utilities Consistent with our Regional Focus  
and Strategic Advantages.  
For more than 60 years, we have provided strong retail 
services, based on delivering quality and value to our 
customers. That tradition and accomplishment is 
expected to support efforts to expand our retail 
operations in other markets, most likely in the West and 
in regions that permit us to take advantage of our 
intrinsic competitive advantages, such as baseload power 
generation and system reliability. The January 2005 
acquisition of CLF&P is an example of these expansion 
efforts. Retail operations also can augment other 
important business development, including transmission 
and pipelines and storage infrastructure, which could 
lead to advancing other wholesale operations. Regulated 
retail operations can contribute substantially to the 
stability of our long-term cash flows and earnings. 
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Improve Our Communications Business by Increasing 
Customer Service and Value, by Increasing Revenues, and 
by Creating Additional Operating Efficiencies.  
We are now the leading provider of telephone, cable 
television and high-speed Internet services in the areas 
we serve. This accomplishment was initially due to the 
strength of Black Hills Power’s reputation for reliability, 
customer service and value. More recently, our improve-
ment in operations is due primarily to our service deliver-
ability, reliability and commitment to our broadband 
customers. We believe this dual strategy – upholding our 
strong public standing and delivering superior broadband 
communications products and services – will advance 
our efforts further in the future. As we continue to seek 
additional customers and revenue, we will also continue 
efforts to create operating efficiencies by integrating 
appropriate business functions with related utility operations, 
benefiting customers as well as both business segments. 

Build and Maintain Strong Relationships With Wholesale 
Energy Customers.  
We strive to build strong relationships with utilities, 
municipalities and other wholesale customers, who we 
believe will continue to be the primary providers of 
electricity to retail customers in a deregulated 
environment. We further believe that these entities will 
need products, such as capacity, in order to serve their 
customers reliably. By providing these products under 
long-term contracts, we are able to meet our customers’ 
energy needs. Through this approach, we also believe we 
can earn more stable revenues and greater returns over 
the long term than we could by selling energy into the 
more volatile spot markets. 

Conduct Business with a Diversified Group of Credit-worthy 
or Sufficiently Collateralized Counterparties.  
Our operations require effective management of counter-
party credit risk. We mitigate this risk by conducting 
business with a diversified group of creditworthy counter-
parties. In certain cases where creditworthiness merits 
security, we require prepayment, secured letters of credit 
or other forms of financial collateral. We accomplish this 
by establishment of counterparty credit limits, continuous 
credit monitoring, and regular review of compliance 
with our credit policy by our executive credit committee 
that reports to our board of directors. 

Sell a Large Percentage of our Capacity and Energy 
Production From New Independent Power Projects  
Through Mid- and Long-Term Contracts Primarily  
to Load Serving Utilities in Order to Secure a Stable  
Revenue Stream and Attractive Returns.  
By selling the majority of our energy and capacity under 
mid- and long-term contracts, we believe that we can 
satisfy the requirements of our customers while earning 
more stable revenues and greater returns over the long 
term than we could by selling our energy into the more 

volatile spot markets. When possible, we structure long-
term contracts as tolling arrangements, whereby the 
contract counterparty assumes the fuel risk. Our goal is 
to sell a substantial majority of our unregulated power 
generation assets under long-term pre-approved 
contracts primarily to load serving utilities. 

Grow our Power Generation Segment by Developing  
and Acquiring Power Generating Assets in Targeted  
Western Markets, and in Particular, by Expanding  
Generating Capacity of our Existing Sites Through  
a Strategy Known as “Brownfield Development.” 
We aim to develop power plants in regional markets 
based on prevailing supply and demand fundamentals in 
a manner that complements our existing fuel assets and 
fuel and energy marketing capabilities. This approach 
seeks to capitalize on market growth while managing our 
fuel procurement needs. Over the next few years, we 
intend to grow through a combination of disciplined 
acquisitions and development of new power generation 
facilities primarily in the western regions where we 
believe we have the detailed knowledge of market 
fundamentals and competitive advantage to achieve 
attractive returns. We believe the following trends will 
provide us with growth opportunities in the future: 

 Demand for electricity in certain Western regions is 
expected to grow and new generation capacity will be 
required over the next several years. 

 New electric generation construction will be 
predominantly gas-fired, which may create further 
competitive cost advantages for new and existing coal-
fired generation assets. 

 Transmission construction will significantly lag new 
generation development, favoring new development 
located near load centers or existing, unconstrained 
transmission locations. 

 Disaggregation of the electric utility industry from 
traditionally vertically integrated utilities into separate 
generation, transmission, distribution and marketing 
entities may continue in certain regions, thereby 
creating opportunities for expansions, acquisitions 
and joint ventures. 

We believe that existing sites with opportunities for 
brownfield expansion generally offer the potential for 
greater returns than development of new sites through  
a “greenfield” strategy. Brownfield sites typically offer 
several competitive advantages over greenfield develop-
ment, including: 

 proximity to existing transmission systems; 
 operating cost advantages related to ownership of 

shared facilities; 
 a less costly and time consuming permitting process; 

and 
 potential ability to reduce capital requirements by shar-

ing infrastructure with existing facilities at the same site. 
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We expanded our capacity with brownfield development 
at our Valmont and Wyodak sites in 2001, Arapahoe 
and Las Vegas sites in 2002 and our Wyodak site in 
2003. We believe that our Fountain Valley, Wyodak and 
Las Vegas sites in particular provide further opportunities 
for significant expansion of our gas- and coal-fired gener-
ating capacity over the next several years. 

Exploit our Fuel Cost Advantages and our Operating and 
Marketing Expertise to Produce Power at Attractive Margins. 
We expect to expand our portfolio of power plants having 
relatively low marginal costs of producing energy and 
related products and services. As an increasing number 
of gas-fired power plants are brought into operation, we 
intend to utilize a low-cost power production strategy, 
together with access to coal and natural gas reserves, to 
protect our revenue stream. Low marginal production 
costs can result from a variety of factors, including low 
fuel costs, efficiency in converting fuel into energy, and 
low per unit operation and mainten-ance costs. We 
aggressively manage each of these factors with the goal  
of achieving very low production costs. 

Our primary competitive advantage is our coal mine, 
which is located in close proximity to our retail service 
territories. We are exploiting the competitive advantage 
of this native fuel source by building additional mine-
mouth coal-fired generating capacity. This strengthens 
our position as a low-cost producer since transportation 
costs often represent the largest component of the 
delivered cost of coal. 

Increase our Reserves of Natural Gas and Crude Oil and 
Expand our Overall Fuel Production.  
Our strategy is to expand our natural gas reserves 
through a combination of acquisitions and drilling 
programs. We aim to maintain sufficient natural gas 
production either to directly serve or indirectly hedge 
the fuel cost exposure of our gas-fired generation plants. 
Specifically, we plan to: 

 substantially increase our natural gas reserves while 
minimizing exploration risk by focusing on lower-risk 
exploration and development drilling as well as 
acquisitions of proven reserves; 

 exploit opportunities based on our belief that the 
long-term demand for natural gas will remain strong 
by emphasizing natural gas in our acquisition and 
drilling activities; and 

 add natural gas reserves and increase production by 
focusing primarily on various shallow gas plays in the 
Rocky Mountain region, where the added production 
can be integrated with our fuel marketing and/or 
power generation activities. 

 
 
 

Increase Margins From our Coal Production Through an 
Expansion of Mine-Mouth Generation and Increased Coal Sales. 
Our strategy is to expand our coal production through 
the construction of mine-mouth coal-fired generation 
plants at our Wyodak mine location. Our objective is to 
maintain coal reserves to serve our mine-mouth coal-fired 
generation plants directly. Specifically, we plan to: 

 increase coal production and sales from our Wyodak 
mine by continuing to develop additional mine-
mouth generating facilities at the site; and 

 pursue future sales of coal from the Wyodak mine to 
regional additional rail-served and truck-served 
customers. 

 
Grow our Energy Marketing Operations Primarily Through 
the Expansion of Producer and End-use Origination Services. 
Our energy marketing activities distinguish themselves 
from other marketing businesses by focusing on 
customer services and the physical delivery of energy 
commodities. With our producer services, we primarily 
assist natural gas producers in the Rocky Mountain 
region of the U.S. and Canada with marketing and 
transporting their commodities to the marketplace. We 
also provide origination services, where we work with 
industrial consumers of natural gas, by sourcing and 
arranging delivery for gas. We expect, because of our 
regional marketing expertise and proven knowledge of 
efficiently utilizing storage and transportation 
infrastructure, that we can increase our marketing 
volumes as well as provide services to optimize the value 
of our fuel and generation assets. In the future, we may 
acquire additional mid-stream assets, such as regional 
pipelines and storage systems, so that we can facilitate 
and further augment our marketing services. 

Manage the Risks Inherent in Energy Marketing by Maintaining 
Position Limits That Minimize Price Risk Exposure.  
Our energy marketing operations require effective 
management of price and operational risks related to 
adverse changes in commodity prices and the volatility 
and liquidity of the commodity markets. To mitigate 
these risks, we have implemented risk management 
policies and procedures for each of our marketing 
companies that establish price risk exposure levels. We 
formed oversight committees to monitor compliance 
with our policies. We also limit exposure to energy 
marketing risks by maintaining separate credit facilities 
for each of our marketing companies. 

 

 

 



  

Black Hills Corporation 2004 Annual Report                                                                                                                                                                                       23 

Prospective Information 
We continue to advance our business strategy. We expect 
long-term growth through the expansion of integrated, 
balanced and diverse energy operations. We recognize 
that sustained growth requires continued capital 
deployment. We believe that we are strategically 
positioned to take advantage of opportunities to acquire 
and develop energy assets consistent with our investment 
criteria and a prudent capital structure. 

Our wholesale energy group was our largest contributor 
to revenue and earnings in 2004 and 2003. We expect 
that earnings from this group over the next few years will 
be driven primarily by increased oil and gas production 
and expansion in power generation. In March 2003 we 
acquired Mallon Resources Corporation, an energy 
company engaged in oil and natural gas exploration, 
development and production primarily in the San Juan 
Basin of New Mexico. This acquisition more than 
doubled our reserves, and contributed to a 16 percent 
increase in production volumes compared to 2003 levels. 
Although we expect long-term growth in our power 
generation segment, 2005 power generation earnings are 
expected to return to a more normalized earnings profile 
due to the new Las Vegas Cogeneration II contract with 
Nevada Power Company that began April 1, 2004. We 
expect lower earnings from our energy marketing and 
transportation segment due to anticipated decreases in 
oil marketing and transportation revenue, and lower 
margins from gas marketing. 

Firm electric business at our electric utility, Black Hills 
Power, remained healthy in 2004. We believe that Black 
Hills Power will produce modest growth in revenue, and 
absent unplanned plant outages, it will continue to 
produce stable earnings for the next several years. We 
forecast firm energy sales in our retail service territory to 
increase over the next 10 years at an annual compound 
growth rate of approximately one percent, with the 
system demand forecasted to increase at a rate of two 
percent. These forecasts are derived from studies 
conducted by us whereby we examined and analyzed our 
service territory to estimate changes in the needs for 
electrical energy and demand over a 20-year period. 
These forecasts are only estimates, and the actual changes 
in electric sales may be substantially different. Weather 
deviations can also affect energy sales significantly when 
compared to forecasts based on normal weather. The 
portion of the utility’s future earnings that will result 
from wholesale off-system sales will depend on many 
factors, including native load growth, plant availability, 
electricity demand and commodity prices. 

On January 1, 2005, the South Dakota retail rate freeze 
under which Black Hills Power has operated since 
January 1, 2000, expired. The current South Dakota 
retail electric rates, along with the Wyoming retail 

electric rates, have been in place since the summer of 
1995. These rates, which have remained flat for 10 years, 
do not include a fuel and/or purchased power 
adjustment clause but allow Black Hills Power to retain 
the benefits of off-system wholesale sales and cost 
reductions. Black Hills Power has no current plans to 
request approval to change its retail electric rates. Black 
Hills Power’s return is affected by changes in inflation, 
capital investment, capital markets, and retail and 
wholesale power sales. Black Hills Power monitors these 
potential impacts in order to ensure that its return 
remains adequate for its investment to serve customers. 

In January 2005 we acquired Cheyenne Light, Fuel & 
Power (CLF&P) from Xcel Energy Inc. CLF&P is a 
utility serving residential, commercial and industrial 
energy consumers in and around Cheyenne, Wyoming. 
Currently the utility has approximately 38,000 electric 
customers and 31,000 gas customers. Its peak load is 
163 megawatts and power is provided under an all-
requirements contract with PSCo, which extends 
through 2007. CLF&P’s annual natural gas sales and 
transportation during 2004 were approximately  
13.6 million MMbtus, with sales to commercial and 
residential customers accounting for approximately  
4.4 million MMbtus and transportation accounting for 
approximately 9.2 million MMbtus. We anticipate 
modest accretion to earnings from the CLF&P 
acquisition in 2005. A condition of the settlement 
stipulation approved by the WPSC when it authorized 
Black Hills Corporation to acquire CLF&P prohibits us 
from increasing CLF&P’s gas or electric base rates prior 
to January 1, 2006. CLF&P’s rates are separated into 
commodity energy related charges and charges that 
recover the costs of operating the natural gas and electric 
distribution systems (base rates). The commodity energy 
costs are forecasted annually for recovery on a current 
basis from customers. Also included for recovery/refund 
are any over or under collections, plus interest, occurring 
during the prior year. Another condition of the 
settlement stipulation is that CLF&P is required to file 
with the WPSC an updated resource plan prior to June 
1, 2005. The resource plan will provide information 
regarding the options being considered for meeting its 
electricity requirements after December 31, 2007, when 
the current all-requirements power supply agreement 
with PSCo expires. 

We expect improved results from our broadband 
communications business in 2005 due to increased 
revenues and continued improvement in cost 
containment measures. Integration of certain retail 
functions will improve customer service and 
productivity. The recovery of our capital investment and 
future profitability are dependent primarily on our 
ability to sustain our customer base and control our 
expenses, and is subject to the risk of market competition 
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and the risk that technological advances may render our 
network obsolete. If we determine that we will be unable 
to recover our investment, we would be required to 
record a non-cash charge to earnings, in an amount that 
could be material, in order to write down a portion of 
our investment. While we do not anticipate being 
regulated in the local markets, we are unable to predict 
future markets, future government impositions or future 
economic and competitive conditions that could affect 
the profitability of our communications operations. 

Part of our long-term growth strategy includes continued 
capital deployment. We have forecasted capital expen-
ditures of $50 million, $55 million and $96.2 million a 
year in 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively, in new projects 
or acquisitions which are yet to be identified. In addition, 
our capital requirements forecast includes $38.7 million, 
$43.9 million and $47.1 million in 2005, 2006 and 
2007, respectively, of oil and gas expenditures and  
$90.0 million in 2005 for the CLF&P acquisition,  
and $50.0 million and $18.1 million in 2006 and 2007, 
respectively, for the development of a coal fired plant. 
Actual deployment of the capital will be dependent on 
identifying and obtaining or developing projects that 
meet our investment criteria.  

Results of Operations 
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS 
Overview 
Revenue and income (loss) from continuing operations 
provided by each business group as a percentage of our 
total revenue and net income were as follows: 

 2004 2003 2002 
Revenue:    
  Wholesale energy 81% 83% 79%
  Retail services 19 17 21 
 100% 100% 100%

    
Income (loss) from 
continuing operations: 

   

  Wholesale energy 79% 81% 66%
  Retail services 27 32 39 
  Corporate (6) (13) (5) 
 100% 100% 100%
    
In May 2004, we sold our subsidiary, Landrica 
Development Corp., which held some land and coal 
enhancement facilities that were previously reported in 
our coal mining segment. 

In 2003, we sold our hydroelectric power plants located 
in upstate New York. The non-strategic assets were sold 
effective September 30, 2003. We also developed a plan 
of sale for our 40 MW Pepperell power plant, our last 
power plant in the Eastern region. These discontinued 
operations were previously reported in the Power 
generation segment. During the second quarter of 2002, 

we adopted a plan to dispose of our coal marketing 
subsidiary, Black Hills Coal Network, due primarily to 
difficulties in marketing our Wyodak coal from the 
Powder River Basin of Wyoming to Midwestern and 
Eastern coal markets. We sold the non-strategic assets 
effective August 1, 2002. These discontinued operations 
were previously reported in the Energy marketing and 
transportation segment. Results of operations for 2003 
and 2002 have been restated to reflect the operations 
discontinued. 

2004 Compared to 2003 
Consolidated income from continuing operations for 
2004 was $57.2 million, compared to $56.5 million in 
2003, or $1.74 per share in 2004, compared to $1.82 
per share in 2003. Income from discontinued operations 
was $0.7 million or $0.02 per share in 2004, compared 
to $9.9 million or $0.32 per share in 2003. Return on 
average common equity in 2004 and 2003 was 8.1 percent 
and 9.9 percent, respectively. 

The wholesale energy group’s income from continuing 
operations decreased $0.4 million in 2004 compared to 
2003. Increased income from continuing operations of 
$3.8 million at our oil and gas operations and $3.5 million 
from energy marketing and transportation operations 
were offset by decreased earnings from power generation 
of $6.8 million and from coal mining of $0.9 million. 

The retail services group’s income from continuing 
operations decreased $3.0 million in 2004 compared to 
2003. Earnings from continuing operations from the 
electric utility decreased $4.9 million due to lower 
margins received, increased maintenance expense and 
general and administrative costs, offset by lower interest 
expense. The communication segment’s losses decreased 
$1.9 million in 2004 compared to 2003 due to increased 
revenues and lower operating costs, offset by increased 
marketing costs and corporate cost allocations. 

Corporate costs for the year ended December 31, 2004 
decreased $4.1 million after tax, compared to 2003. The 
decrease is primarily due to increased allocations to 
subsidiaries and a $1.0 million pre-tax gain on sale of 
assets, partially offset by increased costs related to 
Sarbanes-Oxley compliance, and holding company 
structuring and higher pension, insurance and interest 
expense. The Company’s subsidiary, Daksoft, Inc., 
recorded a $1.0 million pre-tax gain on the sale of its 
campground reservation system. As Daksoft now 
primarily provides information technology support to 
the Company, its results of operations are included in 
Corporate. Prior to 2004, Daksoft’s results were 
included in the Communications segment. 
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2003 Compared to 2002 
Consolidated income from continuing operations for 
2003 was $56.5 million, compared to $58.1 million in 
2002, or $1.82 per share in 2003, compared to $2.14 
per share in 2002. Income from discontinued operations 
was $9.9 million or $0.32 per share in 2003, compared 
to $2.4 million or $0.09 per share in 2002. Return on 
average common equity in 2003 and 2002, was 9.9 percent 
and 11.8 percent, respectively. 

The 2003 earnings per share results were impacted by an 
approximate 14 percent increase in diluted weighted 
average shares outstanding primarily related to the dilutive 
effect of the April 2003 common stock offering in which 
4.6 million shares were issued. In addition, results for 
2003 included the impact of several non-recurring items 
that had a net effect of decreasing 2003 results by approxi-
mately $1.2 million after-tax. These items included: 

 a $3.0 million after-tax charge in our energy marketing 
and transportation segment for a settlement with the 
Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC); 

 a net after-tax charge of $1.9 million in our power 
generation segment for the impact of a $114.0 million 
contract termination payment received at the Las 
Vegas II plant, offset by the related $117.2 million 
impairment charge taken on that plant; 

 a $1.8 million after-tax benefit for unrealized gains on 
plant investments accounted for on a fair value method 
of accounting at our equity-method power funds; 

 a $1.5 million after-tax benefit from a legal settlement 
at our Las Vegas II plant; and 

 a $0.4 million after-tax benefit from an Enron 
bankruptcy settlement. 
 

In addition, 2002 results were affected by a non-recurring 
$1.9 million after-tax benefit for the collection of previously 
reserved amounts at our power generation segment. 

Corporate costs for the year ended December 31, 2003 
increased $4.6 million after tax, compared to 2002.  
The increase was primarily due to a $3.9 million net 
increase in interest expense, increased healthcare costs 
and corporate tax expense. Net interest costs increased 
due to increased borrowings from the $250 million debt 
issuance in May 2003 and the low returns on short-term 
investments. 

Discussion of results from our operating groups and 
segments is included in the following pages. 

 

 

 

The following business group and segment information does 
not include discontinued operations or intercompany eliminations. 
Accordingly, 2003 and 2002 information has been revised to 
remove information related to operations that were discontinued.  

Wholesale Energy Group 
(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 
Revenue:    

Power generation $ 158,037 $  284,567* $ 102,548 
Energy marketing and 

transportation** 
 

662,110 
 

675,586 
 

553,688 
Oil and gas 59,534 46,977 26,486 
Coal mining  31,967 34,777 31,335 

Total revenue 911,648 1,041,907 714,057 
Operating expenses** (817,898) (948,830)* (644,951) 
Operating income $   93,750 $    93,077 $   69,106 
Income from  

continuing operations 
 

$   45,447 
 

$    45,843 
 

$   38,176 
    
*  Power generation revenue in 2003 includes $114.0 million of contract 

termination revenue and operating  expenses in 2003 includes  
$117.2 million of impairment of long-lived assets (see Notes 13 and 14 
of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). 

** All periods presented reflect a net presentation of revenues at our gas 
marketing subsidiary and a gross presentation of revenues at our crude 
oil marketing subsidiary in accordance with EITF 02-3 and EITF 99-19. 

 
2004 Compared to 2003 
Income from continuing operations from the Wholesale 
Energy group for 2004 was $45.4 million, compared to 
$45.8 million in 2003. 

Power generation segment income from continuing 
operations decreased to $15.6 million in 2004 from 
$22.4 million in 2003 primarily due to lower revenues at 
the Las Vegas II and Harbor plants, higher fuel costs at 
the Las Vegas I plant, and decreased earnings from 
unconsolidated subsidiaries, offset by lower fuel costs at 
the Gillette combustion turbine and lower interest 
expense. Income from continuing operations from our 
energy marketing and transportation businesses increased 
$3.5 million due to increased gas marketing volumes and 
higher margins received and increased oil transportation 
revenues and oil marketing margins. These increases 
were partially offset by 2004 unrealized mark-to-market 
losses of $1.1 million, pre-tax. Oil and gas income from 
continuing operations increased $3.8 million due to a  
16 percent increase in volumes sold and an increase in 
sales prices for oil and gas, partially offset by increased 
production expenses. Coal mining income from continuing 
operations decreased $0.9 million due to a decrease in 
revenues resulting from scheduled and unscheduled 
plant outages, and higher depreciation expense, offset by 
lower general and administrative and direct mining costs. 

In addition, 2003 results were $1.2 million lower due to 
the impact of several non-recurring items as noted below. 
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2003 Compared to 2002 

Income from continuing operations from the Wholesale 
Energy group for 2003 was $45.8 million, compared to 
$38.2 million in 2002. Results for 2003 include the impact 
of several non-recurring items that had a net effect of 
decreasing 2003 results by approximately $1.2 million 
after-tax. These items include: 

 a $3.0 million after-tax charge in our energy marketing 
and transportation segment for a settlement with the 
Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC); 

 a net after-tax charge of $1.9 million in our power 
generation segment for the impact of a $114.0 million 
contract termination payment received at the Las 
Vegas II plant, offset by the related $117.2 million 
impairment charge taken on that plant; 

 a $1.8 million after-tax benefit for unrealized gains on 
plant investments accounted for on a fair value method 
of accounting at our equity-method power funds; 

 a $1.5 million after-tax benefit from a legal settlement 
at our Las Vegas II plant; and 

 a $0.4 million after-tax benefit from an Enron 
bankruptcy settlement. 

In addition, 2002 results were affected by a non-recurring 
$1.9 million after-tax benefit for the collection of previously 
reserved amounts at our power generation segment. 
 
Power generation segment income from continuing 
operations increased to $22.4 million in 2003 from 
$12.5 million in 2002, primarily due to earnings from 
314 megawatts of additional capacity that was placed 
into service early in 2003, partially offset by increased 
related operating, interest and depreciation costs and 
fourth quarter losses at the 224 megawatt Las Vegas II 
plant as prevailing regional power market conditions 
limited the economic dispatch subsequent to the 
termination of the plant’s long-term contract. Income 
from continuing operations from our energy marketing 
and transportation businesses decreased to $6.7 million 
in 2003, compared to $12.7 million in 2002 primarily 
due to the CFTC settlement and a 10 percent decrease in 
natural gas margins received, partially offset by a 14 percent 
increase in natural gas volumes marketed and increased 
earnings from oil pipelines. Oil and gas income from 
continuing operations increased to $8.4 million in 2003 
compared to $4.8 million in 2002. Results improved 
due to a 47 percent increase in volumes sold, primarily 
related to the March 2003 acquisition of Mallon Resources, 
and higher prices received during 2003, partially offset 
by higher depletion and operating costs. Coal mining 
income from continuing operations in 2003 increased to 
$8.3 million compared to $8.1 million in 2002, due to a 
19 percent increase in tons sold, which was partially 
offset by higher general and administrative and direct 
mining costs related to the increased production volumes.  

POWER GENERATION   

Our power generation segment produced the following 
results: 

(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 
Revenue: $158,037  $284,567* $102,548  
Operating income 47,934  58,893  35,362  
Income from  

continuing operations 
 

15,562 
 

22,429 
 

12,523 
    
*  Power generation revenue in 2003 includes $114.0 million of contract 

termination revenue (see Note 13 of our Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements). 
 

Independent Power Capacity 2004 2003 2002 
MWs of independent power 

capacity in service(b) 
 

964 
 

962 
 

950(a) 
MWs of independent power 

capacity under construction 
 

- 
 

- 
 

90 
    
(a) Includes the 224 MW expansion at the Las Vegas II power plant  

  which was placed into service on January 3, 2003. 
(b) Capacity in service includes 82 megawatt (Pepperell and hydroelectric)  

  in 2002, which is reported as “Discontinued operations.” 
 

2004 Compared to 2003 
Power generation segment income from continuing 
operations decreased to $15.6 million in 2004 from 
$22.4 million in 2003. Earnings decreased primarily as 
the result of lower earnings at our Las Vegas II plant. 
During the first quarter of 2004, prevailing regional 
power market conditions limited the economic dispatch 
of this plant subsequent to the termination of the plant’s 
long-term contract in September 2003, and for the 
remainder of the year, lower contract rates on the new 
long-term contract. The lower revenue was partially 
offset by lower depreciation expense at that plant. The 
decline in segment earnings was also due to higher fuel 
costs at Las Vegas I; lower revenues at our Harbor plant, 
offset by lower fuel cost, due to the expiration of a 
summer peaking agreement; and higher interest expense 
due to the December 31, 2003 consolidation of our 
Wygen plant. Equity in earnings of unconsolidated 
subsidiaries decreased $3.4 million after-tax primarily 
due to the impact of mark-to-market adjustments at 
certain power fund investments that use a fair value 
method of accounting. These items were partially offset 
by lower fuel costs at our Gillette combustion turbine, a 
benefit from certain tax adjustments, lower interest 
expense due to the pay-down of debt, and higher 
earnings from other revenues. In addition, the segment’s 
2003 earnings were affected by certain non-recurring 
items, netting to a benefit of approximately $1.8 million 
after-tax.  
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2003 Compared to 2002 
Income from continuing operations increased $9.9 million 
in 2003 compared to 2002 primarily due to increased 
generation capacity in operation, partially offset by 
related increases in interest, depreciation, fuel and other 
operating costs. The increase in income was partially 
offset by fourth quarter losses at the 224 megawatt Las 
Vegas II plant as the prevailing regional power market 
conditions limited the economic dispatch subsequent to 
the termination of the plant’s long-term contract in 
September 2003. In addition, 2003 results include several 
non-recurring items that had a net effect of increasing 
2003 results by $1.8 million after-tax. These items include: 

 a net $1.9 million after-tax charge for the impact of a 
$114.0 million contract termination payment at the 
Las Vegas II plant, offset by the related $117.2 million 
non-cash impairment charge taken on the plant;  

 a $1.8 million after-tax benefit for unrealized gains on 
plant investments accounted for on a fair value 
method of accounting at our equity method power 
fund investments; 

 a $1.5 million after-tax benefit from a legal settlement 
at our Las Vegas II plant; and 

 a $0.4 million after-tax benefit from an Enron 
bankruptcy settlement. 

In addition, 2002 results were affected by a non-
recurring $1.9 million after-tax benefit for the collection 
of previously reserved amounts. 

2003 revenue and operating expense increased 177 percent 
and 235 percent, respectively, over 2002. The revenue 
increase is primarily related to $114.0 million contract 
termination revenue and energy sales and capacity 
payments on the 224 megawatt gas-fired Las Vegas II 
plant and the 90 megawatt coal-fired Wygen plant, both 
of which went into operation early in 2003 and the 50 MW 
Arapahoe expansion completed in the latter part of 2002. 
The Las Vegas II plant received capacity and energy 
payments under a long-term contract only through 
September 22, 2003, the contract termination date. After 
the contract termination, the Las Vegas II plant sold 
power into the market only when it was economic to do 
so. In December 2003 a new long-term tolling 
arrangement was entered into with Nevada Power 
Company, which became effective April 1, 2004. 
Increased operating expense was primarily due to the 
$117.2 million asset impairment charge, related to the 
contract termination and the increased depreciation, fuel, 
and other operating costs associated with the additional 
power plants in operation. 

Interest expense increased $11.1 million primarily due 
to interest costs on plant construction projects, 
completed in the latter part of 2002 and early 2003, 
being capitalized during construction compared to 
expensed after the plants became operational. 

ENERGY MARKETING AND 
TRANSPORTATION 
Our energy marketing and transportation companies 
produced the following results:  

(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 
Revenue* $ 662,110 $ 675,586 $ 553,688 
Operating income 18,181 12,151 17,816 
Income from  

continuing operations 
 

10,222 
 

6,725 
 

12,739 
    
* All periods presented reflect a net presentation of revenues at our gas 

marketing subsidiary and a gross presentation of revenues at our crude 
oil marketing subsidiary in accordance with EITF 02-3 and EITF 99-19. 

The following is a summary of energy marketing average 
daily volumes: 

 2004 2003 2002 
Natural gas physical sales – 

MMbtus  
 

1,226,600 
 

897,850 
 

683,500 
Natural gas financial sales – 

Mmbtus 
 

514,500 
 

344,050 
 

404,700 
Crude oil – barrels 44,900 58,700 57,200 
    

2004 Compared to 2003 
Income from continuing operations increased $3.5 million 
due to a 40 percent increase in natural gas volumes 
marketed and a 12 percent increase in natural gas margins 
received. Earnings were also impacted by increased earnings 
from oil transportation and marketing due to increased 
transportation revenues and higher marketing margins. 
Decreased oil marketing revenues were more than offset by 
lower cost of sales resulting in the higher marketing 
margins. These increases were partially offset by unrealized 
losses recognized through mark-to-market accounting 
treatment of $1.1 million in 2004 compared to gains of 
$2.6 million in 2003 resulting in a year-over-year decrease of 
$3.7 million pre-tax. In addition, 2003 earnings were 
impacted by the $3.0 million CFTC settlement. 

2003 Compared to 2002 
Income from continuing operations decreased $6.0 million 
due to a $3.0 million after-tax charge for the settlement with 
the CFTC and a 10 percent decrease in natural gas margins 
received, partially offset by a 14 percent increase in natural 
gas volumes marketed and increased earnings from oil 
pipelines. In addition, as a result of changing commodity 
prices, results were impacted by unrealized gains recognized 
through mark-to-market accounting treatment. Unrealized 
pre-tax mark-to-market gains were $2.6 million in 2003 
compared to losses of $0.9 million in 2002, resulting in a 
year-over-year pre-tax increase of $3.5 million. 

Revenues increased 22 percent from 2002 due to a 3 percent 
increase in average daily volumes of crude oil marketed 
at average prices 20 percent higher than 2002. These higher 
revenues were substantially offset by increased operating 
expenses for the purchases of crude oil used in marketing. 



    

28                                                                                                                                                                                     Black Hills Corporation 2004 Annual Report 

OIL AND GAS 

Oil and gas operating results were as follows: 

(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 
Revenue: $ 59,534 $ 46,977 $ 26,486 
Operating income 19,181 13,258 6,471 
Income from  

continuing operations 
 

12,200 
 

8,400 
 

4,783 
    
The following is a summary of oil and natural gas 
production: 

 2004 2003 2002 
Barrels of oil sold 432,400 415,800 452,500 
Mcf of natural gas sold 10,000,100 8,348,400 4,682,600 
Mcf equivalent sales  12,594,600 10,843,400 7,397,800 
    
The following is a summary of our proved oil and gas 
reserves and 10 percent estimated present value of future 
net revenues discounted using a 10 percent rate, at 
December 31: 

 2004 2003 2002 
Barrels of oil (in thousands)   5,239 5,389 4,880 
MMcf of natural gas         141,983  124,062 28,513 
Total in MMcf equivalents         173,417  156,399 57,793 
Present value of estimated  
   future net revenues before 
   tax (in thousands) 

 
 

$ 394,446 

 
 

 $ 265,341 

 
 

$   94,165 
    
These reserves are based on reports prepared by Ralph E. 
Davis Associates, Inc., an independent consulting and 
engineering firm. Reserves were determined using constant 
product prices at the end of the respective years. Estimates of 
economically recoverable reserves and future net revenues 
are based on a number of variables, which may differ 
from actual results. Reserves at December 31, 2003 
include the March 10, 2003 acquisition of Mallon Resources 
Corporation. Reserves reflect year end pricing of: 

 2004 2003 2002 
 Oil Gas Oil Gas Oil Gas 
Year-end prices 

(NYMEX) 
 

$ 43.45 
 

$ 6.15 
 

$ 32.52 
 

$ 6.19 $ 31.20
 

$ 4.60 
Year-end prices 

(average 
well-head) 

 
 

$ 41.19 

 
 

$ 5.55 

 
 

$ 30.56 

 
 

$ 4.63 $ 29.24

 
 

 $ 3.41 
       
2004 Compared to 2003 
Income from continuing operations increased $3.8 million 
due to a 16 percent increase in volumes sold, primarily 
related to a full year of production from properties 
acquired in the March 2003 Mallon Resources acquisition. 
Average gas and oil prices received in 2004, including 
the effects of hedging, were $4.40/Mcf and $26.24/bbl, 
respectively, compared to $3.81/Mcf and $25.09/bbl in 
2003. Total operating expenses increased 20 percent 
primarily related to increased depletion, production 
taxes and operating costs associated with the increased 
production as well as higher corporate cost allocations. 
In addition, 2004 lease operating expenses per Mcfe sold 

(LOE/MCFE) increased 2 percent from $0.95 per Mcfe 
to $0.97 per Mcfe; and depletion per Mcfe sold increased 
11 percent from $0.83 per Mcfe to $0.92 per Mcfe. 

2003 Compared to 2002 
Income from continuing operations increased $3.6 million 
due to a 47 percent increase in volumes sold, primarily 
related to production from properties acquired in the 
March 2003 Mallon Resources acquisition. Average gas 
and oil prices received in 2003, including the effects of 
hedging, were $3.81/Mcf and $25.09/bbl, respectively, 
compared to $2.45/Mcf and $23.01/bbl in 2002. Total 
operating expenses increased 69 percent primarily related  
to the additional operations acquired in the Mallon trans-
action. In addition, 2003 lease operating expenses per Mcfe 
sold (LOE/MCFE) increased 38 percent from $0.69 per 
Mcfe to $0.95 per Mcfe; and 2003 depletion per Mcfe sold 
decreased 15 percent from $0.98 per Mcfe to $0.83 per Mcfe. 

Additional information on our Oil and Gas operations 
can be found in Note 26 to our Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

COAL MINING 
Coal mining results were as follows: 

(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 
Revenue: $ 31,967 $ 34,777 $ 31,335 
Operating income 8,454 8,775 9,457 
Income from  

continuing operations 
 

7,463 
 

8,289 
 

8,131 
    
The following is a summary of coal sales quantities: 

 2004 2003 2002 
Tons of coal sold 4,780,100 4,812,300 4,052,400 
Coal reserves (millions of tons) 294 263 273 
    

2004 Compared to 2003 
Income from continuing operations decreased 10 percent 
as a result of lower revenues due primarily to scheduled 
and unscheduled plant outages and an increase in depre-
ciation expense partially offset by lower general and 
administrative and direct mining costs. Decreased coal 
tons sold were primarily the result of scheduled and 
unscheduled plant maintenance outages at the Wyodak 
plant partially offset by increased sales to the Wygen plant. 

In September 2004, the Company reached a tax 
settlement with the Wyoming Department of Revenue, 
which resulted in an adjustment to coal billings for the 
period of fourth quarter 2001 through the year 2003. In 
2004, the Company recorded a $1.7 million reduction in 
revenues and a corresponding reduction in mineral taxes 
as a result of the settlement. The Company also recorded 
an additional $0.4 million decrease to mineral taxes and 
$0.5 million decrease to interest expense in 2004 related 
to settlement accruals. 
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2003 Compared to 2002 
Income from continuing operations increased $0.2 mil-
lion due to a 19 percent increase in tons sold, partially 
offset by a 6 percent decrease in average sales price per 
ton and an increase in general and administrative and 
direct mining costs related to the increased production. 
Increased coal tons sold were the result of sales to our  
90 megawatt Wygen power plant that became operational 
in February 2003 and additional sales through our train 
load-out facility.  
 

Retail Services Group 
Income from continuing operations for the retail services 
group decreased $3.0 million. Earnings from the electric 
utility segment decreased $4.9 million, while losses from 
the communications segment decreased $1.9 million. 

ELECTRIC UTILITY 

(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 
Revenue $ 173,745 $ 171,019 $ 162,186 
Operating expenses 129,936  119,920 104,026 
Operating income $   43,809 $   51,099 $   58,160 
Income from continuing 

operations and net income 
 

$   19,209 
 

$   24,089 
 

$   30,217 
    
 
The following table provides certain electric utility 
operating statistics: 

 2004 2003 2002 
Firm electric sales – MWh   1,959,969   1,994,819   1,966,060 
Wholesale off-system – MWh         1,090,827   930,706   979,677 
    
We currently have a winter peak load of 344 megawatts 
established in December 1998 and a summer peak load 
of 392 megawatts established in August 2001. We own 
435 megawatts of electric utility generating capacity and 
purchase an additional 50 megawatts under a long-term 
agreement. 

2004 Compared to 2003 
Electric revenue increased 2 percent in 2004 compared 
to 2003, primarily due to a 16 percent increase in 
wholesale off-system sales offset by decreased 
transmission revenues due to lower approved rates and 
higher load share of our Open Access Transmission 
Tariff revenues. 

Firm kilowatt-hour sales decreased 2 percent. Residential 
and commercial sales decreases of 3 percent and 2 percent, 
respectively, in 2004 accounted for a $1.7 million decrease 
in revenue. These decreases were partially offset by a  
1 percent increase in industrial sales. The 16 percent 
increase in wholesale off-system sales accounted for a 
$5.9 million increase in revenues.  

Revenue per kilowatt-hour sold was 5.5 cents in 2004 
compared to 5.6 cents in 2003. The number of customers 
in the service area increased to 62,259 in 2004 from 
61,148 in 2003. Degree days, which is a measure of 
weather trends, were 11 percent below last year and  
9 percent below normal. 

Electric utility operating expenses increased $10.0 million 
due to a $5.9 million increase in fuel and purchased 
power cost, a $4.5 million increase in certain operations 
and maintenance costs, including scheduled and 
unscheduled maintenance costs, increased group insurance 
and corporate allocations and increased costs associated 
with the increase in wholesale off-system sales, partially 
offset by decreased interest expense of $0.9 million, 
primarily due to retirement of debt. 

The increase in fuel and purchased power cost was due 
to an $11.8 million increase in purchased power costs, 
offset by a $5.9 million decrease in fuel costs, as prevailing 
gas prices made it more economical for us to purchase 
power for our peaking needs and increased off-system 
sales, rather than generate energy utilizing our gas turbines. 

2003 Compared to 2002 
Electric revenue increased 5 percent in 2003 compared 
to 2002, primarily due to an 18 percent increase in 
wholesale off-system sales at an average price that was  
24 percent higher than the average price in 2002. 

Firm kilowatt-hour sales increased 1 percent. Residential 
and commercial sales increases of 2 percent and 3 percent, 
respectively, in 2003 accounted for a $2.1 million increase 
in revenue. The 18 percent increase in wholesale off-system 
sales accounted for a $5.8 million increase in revenues. 
These increases were offset by a 4 percent decrease in 
industrial sales, primarily due to the closing of Homestake 
Mine, which had been one of our largest customers. 

Revenue per kilowatt-hour sold was 5.6 cents in 2003 
compared to 5.3 cents in 2002. The number of 
customers in the service area increased to 61,148 in 2003 
from 59,948 in 2002. 

Electric utility operating expenses increased $15.9 million 
due to a $10.1 million increase in fuel and purchased 
power cost, a $3.7 million increase in certain operations 
and maintenance costs, including pension expense, a 
$1.5 million increase in depreciation expense and a  
$2.5 million increase in interest expense due to the full 
year impact of $75 million of first mortgage bonds 
issued in August 2002. 

The increase in fuel cost was due to a 77 percent increase 
in average gas prices for combustion turbine generation 
facilities and a 19 percent increase in average megawatt-
hour purchased power costs. 
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COMMUNICATIONS 

(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 
Revenue $39,586  $39,763  $32,677  
Operating expenses 41,920  45,004  40,124  
Operating loss $(2,334) $(5,241) $(7,447) 
Loss from continuing operations 

and net loss 
 

$(3,941) 
 

$(5,880) 
 

$(7,260) 
    
 

 2004 2003 2002 
Residential customers 23,663 23,878 21,700 
Revenue generating units* 56,835 53,568 48,285 
Business customers  3,317  3,012**  3,061 
Hybrid fiber coaxial cable miles    845    840    818 
 
* Total Revenue generating units (RGU) equal the total number of 

services to which residential customers subscribe. Telephone, cable 
TV and Internet access each represent an RGU. 

** In 2003, reported business customers were adjusted for the consolidation 
of multiple-location business customers, business orders and temporary 
business access lines. 
 

In September 1998, we formed our broadband 
communications business to provide facilities-based 
communications services for Rapid City and the 
Northern Black Hills of South Dakota. As of December 
31, 2004, we had invested approximately $165 million 
in state-of-the-art technology that offers local and long 
distance telephone service, expanded cable television 
service, Internet access, and high-speed data and video 
services. We began serving communications customers in 
late 1999 and market our services to schools, hospitals, 
cities, economic development groups, and business and 
residential customers. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2004 Compared to 2003 
Loss from continuing operations was $3.9 million in 
2004 compared to $5.9 million in 2003. Results for 
2003 and 2002 include our information technology 
support subsidiary, Daksoft, Inc. Beginning in the first 
quarter of 2004, Daksoft’s focus became corporate 
information technology support and therefore its results 
are now included as “corporate” costs. Daksoft’s results 
had an insignificant impact on 2003 net earnings. The 
improved performance, excluding Daksoft’s 2003 
results, was due to increased revenues from a larger 
commercial customer base and increased sales of internet 
services to residential customers and decreased cost of 
goods sold and operating costs. These were partially 
offset by $0.6 million in sales incentive costs related to 
higher marketing campaign costs in response to 
competitive pressures and an increase in allocated 
corporate costs.  

2003 Compared to 2002 
Loss from continuing operations was $5.9 million in 
2003 compared to $7.3 million in 2002. The improved 
performance was due to increased revenues from a larger 
customer base and an additional $2.4 million in revenues 
from a successful directory publication and distribution, 
partially offset by $0.5 million in sales incentive costs 
related to a current marketing campaign in response to 
competitive pressures. Revenue increases were also 
partially offset by a $2.0 million increase in cost of sales 
and a $1.8 million increase in depreciation expense. In 
addition, 2002 results included a $0.6 million after-tax 
benefit from the collection of previously reserved 
amounts.  
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Critical Accounting Policies 
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in confor-
mity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. We are required to make certain 
estimates, judgments and assumptions that we believe are 
reasonable based upon the information available. These 
estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the periods presented. We believe the following accounting 
policies are the most critical in understanding and evalu-
ating our reported financial results. We have reviewed these 
critical accounting policies and related disclosures with our 
Audit Committee. 

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS 
We evaluate for impairment, the carrying values of our 
long-lived assets, including goodwill and other 
intangibles, whenever indicators of impairment exist and 
at least annually for goodwill as required by SFAS 142.  

For long-lived assets with finite lives, this evaluation is 
based upon our projections of anticipated future cash 
flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) from 
the assets being evaluated. If the sum of the anticipated 
future cash flows over the expected useful life of the 
assets is less than the assets’ carrying value, then a perma-
nent non-cash write-down equal to the difference between 
the assets’ carrying value and the assets’ fair value is 
required to be charged to earnings. In estimating future 
cash flows, we generally use a probability weighted 
average expected cash flow method with assumptions 
based on those used for internal budgets. Although we 
believe our estimates of future cash flows are reasonable, 
different assumptions regarding such cash flows could 
materially affect our evaluations. 

In 2004, an impairment charge of approximately $0.7 mil-
lion after-tax was recorded to reduce the carrying value of 
the Pepperell plant to its estimated fair value, less cost to sell 
and is included in “Income from discontinued operations, 
net of taxes” on the 2004 Consolidated Statement of Income. 

Our Communications business segment began providing 
broadband communications services in November 1999 
and since that time has not achieved profitability. In each 
of the last five years, we have evaluated the assets of our 
Communications business segment for impairment, and 
in each year we determined, based on our assumptions, 
that the sum of the anticipated future cash flows 
(undiscounted and without interest charges) exceeded 
the carrying value and, therefore, we did not recognize 
an impairment. The carrying value of the assets tested for 
impairment was approximately $110 million at 
December 31, 2004. Any increases in the anticipated 
future cash flows would have no impact on the carrying 

value of these assets. If our current estimates of future 
cash flows from the operation of these assets had been 
10 percent lower, we still would not have been required 
to record an impairment charge.  

As a result of the 2003 transaction terminating a fifteen 
year contract with Allegheny Energy Supply Company, 
LLC, for capacity and energy at the Company’s Las 
Vegas Cogeneration II power plant, we assessed the 
recoverability of the carrying value of the facility. The 
carrying value of the assets tested for impairment was 
$237.2 million. This assessment resulted in a pre-tax 
impairment charge of $117.2 million to write-down the 
related property, plant and equipment by $83.1 million, 
net of accumulated depreciation of $5.1 million, and 
intangible assets by $34.1 million, net of accumulated 
amortization of $1.1 million. This charge reflects the 
amount by which the carrying value of the facility 
exceeded its estimated fair value determined by its 
estimated future discounted cash flows. 

In measuring the fair value of the Las Vegas II power 
plant and the resulting impairment charge, we 
considered a number of possible cash flow models 
associated with the various probable operating 
assumptions and pricing for the capacity and energy of 
the facility. We then made our best determination of the 
relative likelihood of the various models in computing a 
weighted average expected cash flow for the facility. 
Inclusion of other possible cash flow scenarios and/or 
different weighting of those that were included could 
have led to different conclusions about the fair value of 
the plant. Further, the weighted average cash flow 
method is sensitive to the discount rate assumption. If 
we had used a discount rate that was 1 percent higher, 
the resulting impairment charge would have been 
approximately $7.0 million higher. If the discount rate 
would have been 1 percent lower, the impairment charge 
would have been approximately $8.0 million lower. 

For long-lived assets with indefinite lives, SFAS 142 
requires an annual impairment test. Upon adopting 
SFAS 142 on January 1, 2002, we completed a transition 
impairment test in the first quarter of 2002. As a result 
of this impairment test, we recognized a $0.8 million 
after-tax impairment charge related to the goodwill at 
our discontinued coal marketing operations. This 
impairment charge is reported as part of “Income from 
discontinued operations, net of taxes” on the 2002 
Consolidated Statement of Income. This impairment 
charge was offset by income of $0.9 million, after-tax, 
from the write-off of negative goodwill at our power 
generation segment, as required by SFAS 142. This 
amount is reported as “Change in accounting principles, 
net of taxes” on the 2002 Consolidated Statement of 
Income. We completed our 2004 annual goodwill 
impairment test in the fourth quarter. This test did not 
result in an additional goodwill impairment.  
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FULL COST METHOD OF ACCOUNTING FOR 

OIL AND GAS ACTIVITIES 
We account for our oil and gas activities under the full 
cost method whereby all productive and nonproductive 
costs related to acquisition, exploration and 
development drilling activities are capitalized. These 
costs are amortized using a unit-of-production method 
based on volumes produced and proved reserves. Any 
conveyances of properties, including gains or losses on 
abandonments of properties, are treated as adjustments 
to the cost of the properties with no gain or loss recog-
nized. Net capitalized costs are subject to a “ceilings test” 
that limits such costs to the aggregate of the present 
value of future net revenues of proved reserves and the 
lower of cost or fair value of unproved properties. This 
method values the reserves based upon actual oil and gas 
prices at the end of each reporting period adjusted for 
contracted price changes. The prices, as well as costs and 
development capital, are assumed to remain constant for 
the remaining life of the properties. If the net capitalized 
costs exceed the full-cost ceiling, then a permanent non-
cash write-down is required to be charged to earnings in 
that reporting period. Although our net capitalized costs 
were less than the full cost ceiling at December 31, 2004, 
we cannot assure you that a write-down in the future will 
not occur depending on oil and gas prices at that point 
in time. In addition, we rely on an independent consult-
ing and engineering firm to verify the estimates we use to 
determine the amount of our proved reserves and those 
estimates are based on a number of assumptions about 
variables. We cannot assure you that these assumptions 
will not differ from actual results. 

RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES 
We enter into derivative instruments, including options, 
swaps, futures, forwards and other contractual commit-
ments for both non-trading (hedging) and trading purposes. 
In addition to the information provided below, see  
Note 2 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Non-trading (Hedging) 
Our typical non-trading (hedging) transactions relate to 
contracts we enter into at our oil and gas exploration and 
production subsidiary to fix the price received for 
anticipated future production; and interest rate swaps we 
enter into to convert a portion of our variable rate debt 
to a fixed rate. For these and similar transactions, we 
utilize hedge accounting treatment under SFAS 133 
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities” (SFAS 133). As cash flow hedges, these 
derivative instruments are recorded at fair value on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets and the effective portion of 
the gain or loss is reported in other comprehensive 
income and the ineffective portion in earnings. 

Energy Trading and Marketing 
Our natural gas marketing operations currently fall 
under the purview of Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 
No. 02-3, “Issues Involved in Accounting for Derivative 
Contracts Held for Trading Purposes and Contracts 
Involved in Energy Trading and Risk Management 
Activities” (EITF 02-3), SFAS 133, and for contracts 
entered into before October 25, 2002, in accordance 
with EITF 98-10. The current fair values of natural gas 
trading contracts that qualify as derivatives in accordance 
with SFAS 133 are recorded on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets and any period-to-period change in the 
current fair value of such contracts is recognized in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income. We have presented 
the net unrealized and realized gains and losses, whether 
or not settled financially or physically, from the activities 
of our natural gas marketing business, in Operating 
revenues on the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

For our crude oil marketing operations, substantially all 
crude oil contracts historically met the definition of 
“energy trading activities” under EITF 98-10. Accordingly, 
all contracts at these operations that originated on or 
before October 25, 2002 have been accounted for at fair 
value. With the adoption of EITF 02-3, the contracts at 
our crude oil marketing operations are no longer recorded 
at fair value since they do not meet the definition of 
derivatives or have been exempted from mark-to-market 
accounting as normal purchase and normal sales contracts. 
These contracts are accounted for under the accrual 
method of accounting. 

Valuation 
Fair values of derivative instruments and energy trading 
contracts are based on listed market prices, where 
possible. If market prices are not available, fair value is 
determined based on other relevant factors and pricing 
models that consider current market and contractual 
prices for the underlying financial instruments or 
commodities, as well as time value and yield curve or 
volatility factors underlying the positions. 

Pricing models and their underlying assumptions impact 
the amount and timing of unrealized gains and losses 
recorded, and the use of different pricing models or 
assumptions could produce different financial results. 
Changes in the commodity markets will impact our 
estimates of fair value in the future. To the extent 
financial contracts have extended maturity dates, our 
estimates of fair value may involve greater subjectivity 
due to the lack of transparent market data available upon 
which to base modeling assumptions. 
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Counterparty Credit Risk  
We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers 
and adjust credit and tenor limits based upon payment 
history and the customer’s current creditworthiness, as 
determined by our review of their current financial 
information. We continuously monitor collections and 
payments from our customers and maintain a provision 
for estimated credit losses based upon our historical 
experience and any specific customer collection issue that 
we have identified. While most credit losses have 
historically been within our expectations and established 
provisions, we cannot be assured that our credit losses 
will be consistent with our estimates. 

PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT 

BENEFITS 
The determination of our obligation and expenses for 
pension and other postretirement benefits is dependent 
on the assumptions used by actuaries in calculating the 
amounts. Those assumptions, as further described in 
Note 20 of our Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, include, among others, the discount rate, the 
expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and the 
rate of increase in compensation levels and healthcare 
costs. Although we believe our assumptions are appro-
priate, significant differences in our actual experience or 
significant changes in our assumptions may materially 
affect our pension and other postretirement obligations 
and our future expense. 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
We account for our defined benefit pension plan in 
accordance with SFAS 87, “Employers’ Accounting for 
Pensions” (SFAS 87). In accordance with SFAS 87, 
changes in pension obligations associated with fluctu-
ations in long-term actuarial assumptions may not be 
immediately recognized as pension costs on the income 
statement, but generally are recognized in future years 
over the remaining average service period of the plan 
participants. As such, significant portions of pension 
costs recorded in any period may not reflect the actual 
level of cash benefits provided to plan participants. For 
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,  
we recorded non-cash expense related to our pension 
plans of approximately $2.6 million, $3.2 million, and 
$0.2 million, respectively. 

Our pension plan assets are held in trust and primarily 
consist of equity securities. Fluctuations in actual equity 
market returns result in increased or decreased pension 
costs in future periods. Likewise, changes in assumptions 
regarding current discount rates and expected rates of 
return on plan assets could also increase or decrease 
recorded pension costs. 

In selecting an assumed rate of return on plan assets, we 
consider past performance and economic forecasts for 
the types of investments held by the plan and weight the 
returns by applying the assumed rate of return for each 
asset class to the target allocation for each asset class in 
the portfolio. The value of our qualified pension plan 
assets increased $4.0 million to $52.8 million for the 
plan fiscal year ended September 30, 2004. Plan assets 
earned $6.3 million in 2004. Plan assets increased  
$16.4 million to $48.8 million as of September 30, 
2003, due to our $10.5 million contribution to the plan 
and improved performance of the stock market during 
2003. Plan assets earned $8.1 million in 2003. In the 
recently completed actuarial valuation, for determining 
our 2005 pension expense, we decreased the assumed 
rate of return on plan assets from 9.5 percent to 9.0 percent. 
This change is expected to increase pension costs in 2005 
and beyond by approximately $0.3 million per year. The 
expected long-term rate of return on plan assets was 9.5 
percent, 10 percent and 10.5 percent for the 2004, 2003 
and 2002 plan years, respectively. 

The 9.5 percent assumed rate of return for the 2004 plan 
year was determined based on the following estimated 
long-term investment allocations and asset class returns: 

 
 
Asset Class 

 
Estimated  
Allocation 

 
Estimated 

Return 

Weighted 
Average 
Return 

Equity 90% 10.0% 9.0% 
Fixed Income 5 6.0 0.3 
Cash    5 4.0 0.2 
 100%  9.5% 
 
The Plan’s expected long-term rate of return on assets 
assumption is based upon the weighted average expected 
long-term rate of returns for individual asset classes. The 
asset class weighting is determined using the target alloca-
tion for each asset class in the Plan portfolio. The expected 
long-term rate of return for each asset class is determined 
primarily from long-term historical returns for the asset 
class, with adjustments if it is anticipated that long-term 
future returns will not achieve historical results. 

The expected long-term rate of return for equity invest-
ments was 10.0 percent and 10.5 percent for the 2004 
and 2003 plan years, respectively. For determining the 
expected long-term rate of return for equity assets, the 
Company reviewed 20-, 30-, 40-, and 50-year annual 
returns for the S&P 500 Index, which were, at December 
31, 2004, 13.2 percent, 13.7 percent, 10.4 percent and 
10.9 percent respectively. Fund management fees were 
estimated to be 0.18 percent for S&P 500 Index assets 
and 0.45 percent for other assets. The expected long-
term rate of return on fixed income investments was  
6.0 percent; the return was based upon historical returns 
on intermediate-term treasury bonds of 6.3 percent from 
1950 to 2002. The expected long-term rate of return on 
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cash investments was estimated to be 4.0 percent; 
expected cash returns were estimated to be 2.0 percent 
below long-term returns on intermediate-term treasury 
bonds. 

The discount rate we utilize for determining future 
benefit obligations is based on high grade bond rates. 
The discount rate was decreased to 6.0 percent for the 
2004 pension cost determination from 6.75 percent in 
2003. A 0.5 percent decrease in the discount rate would 
cause annual pension expense to increase by approximately 
$0.5 million. 

Based on our recently completed plan forecasts, we esti-
mate that we will not be required to make cash contri-
butions to the pension plan during the next five years. 

Actual pension expense and contributions required will 
depend on future investment performance, changes in 
future discount rates, the level of contributions we make 
and various other factors related to the populations 
participating in the pension plan. We will continue to 
evaluate all of the actuarial assumptions, generally on an 
annual basis, including the expected long-term rate of 
return on assets and discount rate, and will adjust the 
assumptions as necessary.  

Non-qualified Pension Plans 
We have various supplemental retirement plans for our 
outside directors and key executives. The plans are 
nonqualified defined benefit plans accounted for in 
accordance with SFAS 87. Expenses recognized under 
the plans were $2.3 million in 2004, $1.7 million in 
2003, and $0.8 million in 2002. The plans are unfunded. 
The actuarial assumptions used for our non-qualified 
pension plans are the same as those used for our 
qualified plan. 

Other Postretirement Benefits 
We account for our other postretirement benefit costs in 
accordance with SFAS 106, “Employers’ Accounting for 
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions” (SFAS 106). 
We do not pre-fund our other postretirement benefit 
plan. Our reported costs of providing other postretire-
ment benefits are dependent upon numerous factors, 
including healthcare cost trends, and result from actual 
plan experience and assumptions of future experience.  
As a result of these factors, significant portions of other 
postretirement benefit costs recorded in any period do 
not reflect the actual benefits provided to plan participants. 
For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
we recorded other postretirement benefit expense of 
approximately $1.5 million, $1.2 million and $1.0 million, 
respectively, in accordance with SFAS 106. Actual pay-
ments of benefits to retirees during these periods were 
approximately $0.6 million per year. 

The following table reflects the sensitivities associated 
with a change in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate. 

 
 
Change  
in Assumption 

Impact on  
December 31, 2004 

Accumulated Postretirement 
Benefit Obligation 

 
Impact on 2004 

Service and 
Interest Cost 

Increase 1% $   2,190 $  291 
Decrease 1% $ ( 1,714) $ (223) 
 
In selecting assumed healthcare cost trend rates, we 
consider recent plan experience and various short and 
long-term cost forecasts for the healthcare industry. 
Based on these considerations, we changed the health-
care cost trend rate used by the actuaries to determine 
our other postretirement benefit expense, for 2004 and 
beyond, to 12 percent in 2004 decreasing gradually to  
5 percent in 2011. The healthcare cost trend rate 
assumption was changed from 11 percent decreasing 
gradually to 5 percent. These changes increased the 
future other postretirement benefit expense included on 
our income statement by approximately $0.2 million. 
Our discount rate assumption for postretirement 
benefits is consistent with that used in the calculation of 
pension benefits. See the Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
discussion above regarding our discount rate 
assumptions. 

VALUATION OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 
We use the liability method of accounting for income 
taxes. Under this method, deferred income taxes are 
recognized, at currently enacted income tax rates, to 
reflect the tax effect of temporary differences between the 
financial and tax basis of assets and liabilities, as well as 
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The amount 
of deferred tax assets recognized is limited to the amount 
of the benefit that is more likely than not to be realized. 

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, 
management considers whether it is more likely than  
not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets 
will not be realized and provides any necessary valuation 
allowances as required. If we were unable to realize all  
or part of our deferred tax assets in the future, an adjust-
ment to the deferred tax asset would be charged to 
income in the period such determination was made. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 
OVERVIEW 
Information about our financial position as of 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, is presented in the 
following table: 

Financial Position Summary 2004 2003   % Change 
Cash and cash equivalents $  64,506 $ 172,759 (63)% 
Short-term debt 40,166 17,659 127% 
Long-term debt 733,581 868,459 (16)% 
Stockholders’ equity 735,765 709,747 4% 
    
Ratios    
Long-term debt ratio 49.9% 55.0% (9)% 
Total debt ratio 51.3% 55.5% (8)% 
 
Our dividend payout ratio at December 31, 2004 was 
approximately 70 percent which is higher than levels over 
the past 5 years. Based on current expectations for 2005, 
we expect payout ratios for 2005 to be in the range of 64 
percent to 69 percent. 

In 2005, we expect our beginning cash balance, cash 
provided from operations, and available credit facilities 
to be sufficient to meet our normal operating commit- 
ments, to pay dividends and to fund a portion of planned 
capital expenditures. We would expect to fund a significant 
portion of any additional investment in power generating 
facilities with long-term debt. 

CASH FLOW ACTIVITIES 
2004 
In 2004, we generated sufficient cash flow from operations 
to meet our operating needs, to pay dividends on 
common and preferred stock, to pay our scheduled long-
term debt maturities and to fund a portion of our 
property additions. We funded property and investment 
additions primarily through a combination of cash on 
hand and operating cash flow.  

Cash flows from operations decreased $34.0 million 
from the prior year amount, primarily due to the net 
effect of the 2003 Las Vegas II power plant sales 
contract termination and related impairment charge 
partially offset by a $32.9 million year-over-year increase 
in deferred taxes, a $47.8 million increase in the change 
in operating assets and liabilities and a $7.0 million 
increase in depreciation and depletion expense. In 2004, 
we recognized a substantial increase in our deferred 
income tax liability due to timing differences associated 
with mining development and oil exploration costs and 
accelerated depreciation and other plant related costs. 

We had cash outflows from investing activities of  
$92.9 million, primarily for property, plant and 
equipment additions in the normal course of business. 
We had cash outflows from financing activities of  

$152.1 million, primarily due to the repayment of 
$155.0 million of long-term debt, partially offset by a 
$24.0 million increase in short-term borrowings and the 
refinancing of $18.7 million of pollution control 
revenue bonds. A detailed description of the significant 
investing and financing activities follows: 

 On January 30, 2004, we prepaid $45 million of the 
long-term debt outstanding on the project-level debt 
at our Fountain Valley facility. 

 On May 10, 2004, we repurchased $25 million of our 
6.5 percent senior unsecured notes due 2013. 

 On May 13, 2004, we closed on a $125 million 364-
day credit facility, which replaced the $200 million 
facility which was due to expire in August 2004. We 
also amended our $225 million multi-year facility that 
expires in August 2006 to conform its compliance 
calculation to the same calculation as in the new $125 
million facility. We had borrowings of $24.0 million 
under these facilities at December 31, 2004. After 
inclusion of applicable letters of credit, the remaining 
borrowing capacity under the facilities was $281.4 
million at December 31, 2004. 

 On August 31, 2004, we effected a call on Black Hills 
Power’s $5.9 million, 6.7 percent Pollution Control 
Revenue Bonds issued through Lawrence County, 
South Dakota. The bonds had a maturity date of 
2010. 

 On October 1, 2004, we effected a call and refinanced 
Black Hills Power’s $18.7 million of Pollution Control 
Revenue Bonds. $6.5 million of the bonds had a 
maturity date of 2014 and $12.2 million of the bonds 
had a maturity date of 2024. 

 On October 21, 2004, we effected a call on Black Hills 
Power’s entire $45 million Series AB 8.3 percent First 
Mortgage bonds. The bonds had a maturity date of 2024.  

2003 
In 2003, we generated sufficient cash flow from 
operations to meet our operating needs, to pay 
dividends on common and preferred stock, to pay our 
scheduled long-term debt maturities and to fund a 
portion of our property additions. We funded property 
and investment additions primarily through a 
combination of cash on hand and operating cash flow.  

Cash flows from operations decreased $42.3 million 
over the prior year amount, primarily due to a  
$37.3 million decrease in the year over year change in 
deferred taxes and a $140.4 million decrease in the 
change in operating assets and liabilities, partially offset 
by the net effect of the Las Vegas II power plant sales 
contract termination and related impairment charge and 
a $16.9 million increase in depreciation and depletion 
expense. In 2002, we recognized a substantial increase in 
our deferred income tax liability due to timing 
differences associated with accelerated depreciation and 
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expenses related to our large capital investment in power 
generation assets in 2002 and 2001. In 2003, the change 
in our deferred tax liability returned to a more normal 
level. During the third quarter of 2003, we received 
$114 million from Allegheny Energy Supply Company, 
LLC for the termination of a fifteen-year contract for 
capacity and energy at our Las Vegas II power plant. 

We had cash inflows from investing activities of $77.8 mil-
lion, which includes approximately $186 million from 
the sale of seven hydroelectric power plants located in 
upstate New York, partially offset by $104.5 million for 
property, plant and equipment additions and the 
acquisition of assets. We had cash outflows from 
financing activities of $150.7 million, primarily due to 
the repayment of $139.3 million debt, offset by the net 
proceeds of $118.0 million from a public offering of  
4.6 million shares of common stock and the sale of  
$250 million ten-year notes. A detailed description of 
the significant investing and financing activities follows: 

 On April 30, 2003, we completed a public offering of 
4.6 million shares of common stock at $27 per share. 
Net proceeds were approximately $118 million after 
commissions and expenses. The proceeds were used to 
pay off a $50 million credit facility due in May 2003 
and to repay $68 million under our 364-day revolving 
credit facility which expired on August 26, 2003. 

 On May 21, 2003, we issued $250 million 6.5 percent 
ten-year, senior unsecured notes. Net proceeds from 
the note offering were approximately $247 million 
after the discount, commissions and expenses. The 
proceeds were used to repay our $35 million term 
loan due September 30, 2004, all of our short-term 
borrowings under our $195 million, 364-day 
revolving credit facility and all of our outstanding 
notes payable under our three-year revolving credit 
facility which expires on August 24, 2004. 

 In August 2003, we closed on a $225 million multi-
year, unsecured revolving credit facility that expires on 
August 20, 2006. The credit facility replaced the  
$195 million facility that expired in August 2003  
and supplements the $200 million facility that expires 
in August 2004. 

 In September 2003, we paid off all of the project-level 
debt and related interest rate swaps totaling $91.1 mil-
lion associated with the seven hydroelectric power 
plants that were sold. 

 

 

 

 

DIVIDENDS 
Dividends paid on our common stock totaled $1.24 per 
share in 2004. This reflected increases approved by our 
board of directors from $1.20 per share in 2003 and 
$1.16 per share in 2002. All dividends were paid out of 
current earnings. Our three-year annualized dividend 
growth rate was 3.5 percent. In January 2005, our board 
of directors increased the quarterly dividend 3.2 percent 
to $0.32 cents per share. If this dividend is maintained 
during 2005, it will be equivalent to $1.28 per share, an 
annual increase of $0.04 cents per share. The 
determination of the amount of future cash dividends, if 
any, to be declared and paid will depend upon, among 
other things, our financial condition, funds from 
operations, the level of our capital expenditures, 
restrictions under PUHCA, restrictions under our credit 
facilities and our future business prospects. 

SHORT-TERM LIQUIDITY 
Our principal sources of short-term liquidity include our 
cash on hand, our revolving bank facilities and cash 
provided by operations. As of December 31, 2004 we 
had approximately $64.5 million of cash unrestricted for 
operations and $350 million of credit through revolving 
bank facilities. Approximately $17.7 million of the cash 
balance at December 31, 2004 was restricted by subsidiary 
debt agreements that limit our subsidiaries’ ability to 
dividend cash to the parent company. The bank facilities 
consist of a $225 million facility due August 20, 2006 
and a $125 million facility due May 12, 2005. These bank 
facilities can be used to fund our working capital needs, for 
general corporate purposes, and to provide liquidity for 
a commercial paper program if implemented. At December 
31, 2004, we had $24 million of bank borrowings out-
standing under these facilities. After inclusion of applicable 
letters of credit, the remaining borrowing capacity under 
the bank facilities was $281.4 million at December 31, 2004. 

The above bank facilities include financial covenants the 
most restrictive of which are as follows: 

 a consolidated net worth in an amount of not less than 
the sum of $550 million and 50 percent of our aggre-
gate consolidated net income beginning April 1, 2004;  

 a recourse leverage ratio not to exceed 0.65 to 1.00; and  
 a fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.5 to 1.0.  

 
If these covenants are violated and we are unable to 
negotiate a waiver or amendment thereof, the lender 
would have the right to declare an event of default, 
terminate the remaining commitment and accelerate all 
principal and interest outstanding. As of December 31, 
2004, we were in compliance with the above covenants. 
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Our liquidity position remained ample in 2004, albeit at 
lower levels than at the end of the prior year. Our reduction 
in liquidity is reflected in our lower levels of cash on hand 
and in the reduced level of capacity on our corporate 
revolving credit line.  

Our cash levels at the end of 2004 were $108.3 million 
lower than at the end of 2003, due to optional reductions 
of debt and due to purchases of natural gas inventory. 

In 2004, we used a portion of our cash to reduce our 
aggregate short-term and long-term borrowings by 
$112.4 million. In January, 2004 we prepaid $45 million 
of long-term debt at our Fountain Valley facility; in  
May, 2004 we purchased and retired $25 million of the 
6.5 percent senior unsecured notes due in 2013; in 
August, 2004 we called $5.9 million of the 6.7 percent 
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds due in 2010; in 
October, 2004 we called $45 million of the Series AB 
8.3 percent First Mortgage Bonds and also called and 
refinanced $6.5 million of 6.7 percent Pollution Control 
Revenue Bonds and $12.2 million of 7.5 percent 
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds. 

In 2004, our gas marketing subsidiary increased levels of 
natural gas inventory in storage through the purchases of 
gas which were sold for forward delivery in the first and 
second quarters of 2005. At year-end 2004, our natural 
gas inventory was $63.3 million, compared to $23.4 mil-
lion at year-end 2003. 

Our consolidated net worth was $735.8 million at Decem-
ber 31, 2004, which was approximately $161.7 million 
in excess of the net worth we are required to maintain 
under the debt covenant described above.  The long-term 
debt component of our capital structure at December 31,  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2004 was 49.9 percent, our total debt leverage ratio was 
51.3 percent and our recourse leverage ratio was 
approximately 46.4 percent. 

On January 21, 2005, we purchased CLF&P for 
approximately $90 million, including the assumption of 
$25 million of CLF&P outstanding debt. We funded 
the purchase price of this acquisition with existing cash 
on hand and short-term borrowings on bank credit 
facilities. 

In addition, Enserco Energy, Inc., our gas marketing 
unit, has a $150 million uncommitted, discretionary line 
of credit to provide credit support for the purchase of 
natural gas. As of December 31, 2004, we had a $3.0 mil-
lion guarantee to the lender under this facility. At 
December 31, 2004, there were outstanding letters of 
credit issued under the facility of $91.7 million with no 
borrowing balances on the facility. 

Similarly, Black Hills Energy Resources, Inc. (BHER), 
our crude oil marketing unit, had a $25 million uncom-
mitted, discretionary credit facility at December 31, 
2004. The facility allows BHER to elect up to $40 mil-
lion of available credit via notification to the bank at the 
beginning of each calendar quarter. This line of credit 
provides credit support for the purchases of crude oil by 
BHER. We provided no guarantee to the lender under 
this facility. At December 31, 2004, BHER had letters 
of credit outstanding of $8.9 million and no borrowing 
balance outstanding on its overdraft line. 

Our ability to obtain additional financing, if necessary, 
will depend upon a number of factors, including our 
future performance and financial results, and capital market 
conditions. We cannot assure you that we will be able to 
raise additional capital on reasonable terms or at all. 

 

 

 

 

 

The following information is provided to summarize our cash obligations and commercial commitments at December 31, 2004: 

 Payments Due by Period 
(in thousands) 
Contractual Obligations 

 
                 Total 

        Less Than
              1 Year 

 
          1-3 Years 

 
         4-5 Years 

                 After  
            5 Years 

Long-term debt (a) $    749,747 $  16,166 $ 337,155(b) $  54,387 $ 342,039 
Unconditional purchase obligations (c) 230,783 28,429 64,026 35,993 102,335 
Operating lease obligations (d) 19,205 2,745 4,331 1,881 10,248 
Capital leases (e) 789 195 334 223 37 
Other long-term obligations (f) 23,809 - - - 23,809 
Credit facilities 24,000 24,000 - - - 
Total contractual cash obligations $ 1,048,333 $  71,535 $ 405,846 $  92,484 $ 478,468 
(a) In addition the following amounts are required for interest payments on long-term debt over the next five years: $39.2 million in 2005, $35.2 million in 2006,  

$29.6 million in 2007, $27.1 million in 2008 and $26.5 million in 2009. 
(b) We expect to refinance maturities on the project financing floating rate debt with project level or corporate level intermediate or long-term debt. 
(c) Unconditional purchase obligations include the capacity costs associated with our purchase power agreement with PacifiCorp and certain transmission,  

communication, gas purchase and gas transportation agreements. The energy charge under the purchase power agreement and the commodity price under the  
gas purchase contract are variable costs, which for purposes of estimating our future obligations, were calculated using existing prices at December 31, 2004.  
Our transmission obligations are based on filed tariffs as of December 31, 2004. Actual future costs under the variable rate contracts may differ materially from  
the estimates used in the above table. 

(d) Includes operating leases associated with several office buildings, a storage agreement and land leases associated with the Araphoe, Valmont, Harbor and  
Ontario power plants. 

(e) Represents a lease on computer hardware. 
(f) Includes our asset retirement obligations associated with our oil and gas and coal mining segments as discussed in Note 9 to our Notes to Consolidated Financial  

Statements. 
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GUARANTEES 
We provide various guarantees supporting certain of our 
subsidiaries under specified agreements or transactions. 
At December 31, 2004, we had guarantees totaling 
$184.7 million in place. Of the $184.7 million,  
$139.3 million was related to guarantees associated  
with subsidiaries’ debt to third parties, which are 
recorded as liabilities on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets, $20.0 million was related to performance 
obligations under subsidiary contracts and $25.4 million 
was related to indemnification for reclamation and 
surety bonds of subsidiaries. For more information on 
these guarantees, see Note 22 of our Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

As of December 31, 2004, we had the following 
guarantees in place (in thousands): 

 
Nature of Guarantee 

Outstanding at 
December 31, 

2004 

 
Year 

Expiring 
Guarantee payments under the Las Vegas 

Cogen I Power Purchase and Sales 
Agreement with Sempra Energy Solutions 

 
 

$   10,000 

 
Upon 5 days 
written notice 

Guarantee of certain obligations under 
Enserco’s credit facility 

 
3,000 

 
2005 

Guarantee of obligation of Las Vegas 
Cogen II under an interconnection and 
operation agreement 

 
 

750 

 
 

2005 
Guarantee payments of Black Hills Power 

under various transactions with Idaho 
Power Company 

 
 

500 

 
 

2005 
Guarantee payments of Black Hills Power 

under various transactions with 
Southern California Edison Company 

 
 

750 

 
 

2005 
Guarantee obligations under the Wygen 

Plant Lease 
 

111,018 
 

2008 
Guarantee payment and performance 

under credit agreements for two 
combustion turbines 

 
 

28,213 

 
 

2010 
Guarantee payments of Las Vegas Cogen 

II to Nevada Power Company under a 
power purchase agreement 

 
 

5,000 

 
 

2013 
Indemnification for subsidiary 

reclamation/surety bonds 
 

25,420 
 

Ongoing 
 $ 184,651  

 
CREDIT RATINGS 
As of February 28, 2005, our issuer credit rating is 
“Baa3” by Moody’s Investors Service and “BBB-” by 
Standard & Poor’s. In addition, our Black Hills Power’s 
first mortgage bonds are rated “Baa1” and “BBB” by 
Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s, respectively. Standard 
& Poor’s downgraded our issuer credit rating to “BBB-” 
in May 2003. This credit rating downgrade had a 
minimal effect on our interest rates under our credit 
agreements. These security ratings are subject to revision 
and/or withdrawal at any time by the respective rating 
organizations. None of our current credit agreements 
contain acceleration triggers. If our issuer credit rating 

should drop below investment grade, however, pricing 
under the credit agreements would be affected, increasing 
interest expense by approximately $0.3 million pre-tax 
based on December 31, 2004 balances. 

In addition, as a result of becoming a registered holding 
company under PUHCA, if our credit ratings drop 
below investment grade, we would be restricted absent 
prior SEC approval in the amounts and types of additional 
investments which we would be allowed to make. 

CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS 
Our primary capital requirements for the three years 
ended December 31, were as follows:  

(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 
Property additions and 

acquisition costs: 
   

Wholesale energy $   63,739 $   81,271 $ 248,956 
Retail services 21,448 33,605 52,903 
Corporate 5,787 1,815 1,332 

Common stock dividends 40,210 37,025 31,116 
Maturities/redemptions  

of long-term debt 
 

155,021 
 

139,310 
 

32,527 
 $ 286,205 $ 293,026 $ 366,834 
 
Our capital additions for 2004 were $91.0 million.  
The capital expenditures were primarily for maintenance 
capital and development drilling of oil and gas properties. 

Our capital additions for 2003 were $116.7 million. The 
capital expenditures were primarily for maintenance 
capital, development drilling of oil and gas properties 
and the completion of the construction of an AC-DC-AC 
converter station for Black Hills Power. 

Our capital additions for 2002 were $303.2 million. The 
major capital items for the year included the following: 

 Acquisition of additional assets and interests in crude 
oil pipelines and storage facilities. 

 Continuation of the construction of our 224 megawatt 
gas-fired Las Vegas II  power plant located near Las 
Vegas, Nevada, which was placed into service in 
January 2003. 

 Completion of construction of the 50 megawatt 
combined-cycle expansion at our Arapahoe site in 
Denver, Colorado, which was placed into service in 
October 2002. 

 Acquisition of an additional 30 percent interest in the 
Harbor Cogeneration facility. 

 Acquisitions of various interests in partnerships in 
which we previously held a majority interest. 

 Completion of construction of the Lange 
Combustion Turbine for Black Hills Power, which 
was placed into service in March 2002. 
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 Construction of an AC-DC-AC converter station for 
Black Hills Power, which was placed into service in 
the fourth quarter of 2003. 

 Continuation of the construction of our 
communications fiber optic network. 

 
Forecasted capital requirements for maintenance capital 
and developmental capital are as follows: 

*  Wholesale energy capital requirements include approximately  
$38.7 million, $43.9 million and $47.1 million in 2005, 2006 and 2007, 
respectively, of oil and gas expenditures. 

** Retail services regulated utility capital requirements include approximately 
$90.0 million for the CLF&P acquisition in 2005 and $50.0 million and 
$18.1 million for the development of a coal-fired plant in 2006 and 
2007, respectively. 

Market Risk Disclosures 
Our activities in the regulated and unregulated energy 
sector expose us to a number of risks in the normal 
operations of our businesses. Depending on the activity, 
we are exposed to varying degrees of market risk and 
counterparty risk. We have developed policies, processes, 
systems, and controls to manage and mitigate these risks. 

Market risk is the potential loss that might occur as a 
result of an adverse change in market price or rate. We 
are exposed to the following market risks: 

 commodity price risk associated with our marketing 
businesses, our natural length in crude oil and natural 
gas production, and fuel procurement for our gas fired 
generation assets; and   

 interest rate risk associated with our variable rate 
credit facilities and our project financing floating rate 
debt as described in Notes 7 and 8 of our Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 

Our exposure to these market risks is affected by a 
number of factors including the size, duration, and 
composition of our energy portfolio, the absolute and 
relative levels of interest rates and commodity prices, the 
volatility of these prices and rates, and the liquidity of 
the related interest rate and commodity markets.  

To manage and mitigate these identified risks, we have 
adopted the Black Hills Corporation Risk Policies and 
Procedures (BHCRPP). These policies have been 
approved by our Executive Risk Committee and 
reviewed by our Board of Directors. These policies 
include governance, control infrastructure, authorized 

commodities and trading instruments, prohibited 
activities, employee conduct, etc. The Executive Risk 
Committee composed of senior level executives meets on 
a regular basis to review our business and credit activities 
and to ensure that these activities are conducted within 
the authorized policies. 

TRADING ACTIVITIES 
Natural Gas Marketing 
We have a natural gas marketing business specializing in 
producer services, end-use origination and wholesale 
marketing that conducts business in the western and 
mid-continent regions of the United States and Canada. 
For producer services our main objective is to provide 
value in the supply chain by acting as the producer’s 
“marketing arm” for wellhead purchases, scheduling 
services, imbalance management, risk management 
services and transportation management. We accomplish 
this goal through industry experience, extensive contacts, 
transportation and risk management expertise, trading 
skills and personal attention. Our origination efforts 
focus on supplying and providing electricity generators 
with flexible options to procure their energy inputs and 
asset optimization services to these large end-use 
consumers of natural gas. Our wholesale marketing 
activity has two functions: support the efforts of 
producer services and end-use origination groups, and 
marketing third party natural gas.  

To effectively manage our producer services, end-use 
origination and wholesale marketing portfolios, we enter 
into forward physical commodity contracts, financial 
instruments including over-the-counter swaps and 
options and storage and transportation agreements.  

We conduct our gas marketing business activities within 
the parameters as defined and allowed in the BHCRPP 
and further delineated in the gas marketing Commodity 
Risk Policies and Procedures (CRPP) as approved by the 
Executive Risk Committee. As a general policy, we 
permit only limited market risk positions as clearly 
defined in these policies and procedures. 

MONITORING AND REPORTING MARKET 
RISK EXPOSURES   

Senior management uses a number of quantitative tools 
to measure, monitor, and limit our exposure to market 
risk in our natural gas portfolio. We measure and 
monitor the market risk inherent in the natural gas 
trading portfolio employing value-at-risk (VaR) analysis 
and scenario analysis. VaR is a statistical measure that 
quantifies the probability and magnitude of potential 
future losses related to open contract positions. We use 
scenario analysis to test the impact of extreme moves in 
both specific delivery points and overall commodity 
prices on our portfolio value. We also monitor and limit 

(in thousands) 2005 2006 2007 
Wholesale energy* $   52,300 $   61,840 $   64,710 
Retail services** 136,500 92,680 57,710 
Corporate 6,530 1,690 1,770 
Unspecified  

development capital 
 

50,000 
 

55,000 
 

96,190 
 $ 245,330 $ 211,210 $ 220,380 
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our market risk by establishing limits on the nominal 
size of positions based on type of trade, location, and 
duration.  

VaR is a statistical measure used to quantify the potential 
loss in fair value of the trading portfolio over a particular 
time, with a specified likelihood of occurrence, due to 
adverse market price changes. We use an external VaR 
model from a third party vendor and utilize independent 
commodity pricing data. The modeling of VaR involves 
a number of assumptions and approximations. Inputs 
for the VaR calculation include commodity prices, 
positions, instrument valuations, and variance-covariance 
matrices. While we believe that our assumptions and 
approximations are reasonable, there is currently no 
uniform methodology or best practice for calculating 
VaR in the energy sector. 

We calculate VaR on a daily basis to determine the 
potential three-day favorable and unfavorable changes to 
the market value of our portfolio. The VaR is computed 
utilizing Monte Carlo simulation based on correlation 
matrices for price movements over a specified period 
(generally ranging from one to three months) to simulate 
forward price curves in the natural gas markets to estimate 
the “worst case” outcomes on the existing portfolio 
value. The VaR computations utilize a 99 percent loss 
level for a three day holding period with a 95 percent 
confidence level. This calculation means that there is a 
one in one hundred (1 in 100) statistical chance that the 
portfolio value will fall below the expected maximum 
potential reduction in portfolio value at least as large as 
the reported VaR over a three day period, provided that 
no mitigation actions are taken during these three days.  

At year-end 2004, we were completing the implementation 
of an enhanced trade capture system and due to technical 
constraints, must estimate our VaR. During this system 
implementation, risk management activities focused 
upon scrutinizing positions, their changes in daily mark-
to-market and other non-statistical risk management 
techniques. Our estimate of the three-day, 99 percent 
loss level VaR is approximately $1.7 million. 

Actual commodity price volatility can result in portfolio 
values worse than predicted using the VaR model. The 
VaR methodology assumes a normal distribution of 
price changes; thus, if the actual distribution is not 
normal, the VaR may understate actual results. VaR  
is used to estimate the risk of the entire gas marketing 
portfolio. For locations that have insufficient daily 
trading activity, VaR may not accurately estimate risk 
due to limited price information. Therefore, stress tests 
are employed, in addition to VaR, to further measure 
risk when market price information may prove 
insufficient. VaR is effective in estimating risk exposures 
in markets in which there are not sudden fundamental 

changes or shifts in market conditions. An inherent 
limitation of VaR is that past changes in assumed market 
risk factors may not produce accurate predictions of 
future market risk. VaR should be evaluated in light of 
this and the methodology’s other limitations.  

The contract or notional amounts, terms and mark-to-
market values of our natural gas marketing and 
derivative commodity instruments at December 31, 
2004 and 2003, are set forth in Note 2 of our Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the 
activity in our energy trading portfolio that has been 
recorded at fair value under a mark-to-market method of 
accounting during the year ended December 31, 2004 
(in thousands): 

Total fair value of natural gas marketing marked-to-market 
at December 31, 2003 

 
$   1,222(a) 

Net cash settled during the year on positions that existed at 
December 31, 2003 

 
(3,454) 

Unrealized gain on new positions entered during the year 
and still existing at December 31, 2004 

 
(73) 

Realized gain on positions that existed at December 31, 
2003 and were settled during year 

 
1,983 

Unrealized loss on positions that existed at December 31, 
2003 and still exist at December 31, 2004. 

 
(608) 

Total fair value of natural gas marketing positions marked-
to-market at December 31, 2004 

 
$  (930)(a) 

(a) The fair value of positions marked-to-market consists of derivative  
  assets/liabilities and natural gas inventory that has been designated 
  as a hedged item and marked-to-market as part of a fair value hedge,  
  as follows (in thousands): 

  
 December 31,  

2004 
December 31,  

2003 
Net derivative assets/(liabilities) $ 8,082 $   (408) 
Fair value adjustment recorded in 

material, supplies and fuel 
 

(9,012) 
 

1,630 
 $   (930) $ 1,222 
 

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted EITF Issue 
No. 02-3. The adoption of EITF 02-3 resulted in certain 
energy trading activities no longer being accounted for at 
fair value, therefore, the above reconciliation does not 
present a complete picture of our overall portfolio of 
trading activities and our expected cash flows from those 
operations. EITF 98-10 was superseded by EITF 02-3 
and allowed a broad interpretation of what constituted 
“trading activity” and hence what would be marked-to-
market. EITF 02-3 took a much narrower view of what 
“trading activity” should be marked-to-market, limiting 
mark-to-market treatment primarily to only those 
contracts that meet the definition of a derivative under 
SFAS 133. At our natural gas marketing operations, we 
often employ strategies that include derivative contracts 
along with inventory, storage and transportation 
positions to accomplish the objectives of our producer 
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services, end-use origination and wholesale marketing 
groups. Except in very limited circumstances when we 
are able to designate transportation, storage or inventory 
positions as part of a fair value hedge, SFAS 133 
generally does not allow us to mark our inventory, 
transportation or storage positions to market. The result 
is that while a significant majority of our natural gas 
marketing positions are economically hedged, we are 
required to mark some parts of our overall strategies (the 
derivatives) to market value, but are generally precluded 
from marking the rest of our economic hedges 
(transportation, inventory or storage) to market. 
Volatility in reported earnings and derivative positions 
should be expected given these accounting requirements. 

At December 31, 2004, we had a mark to fair value 
unrealized loss of $0.9 million for our natural gas 
marketing activities. Of this amount, $(1.2) million was 
current and $0.3 million was non-current. The source of 
fair value measurements were as follows (in thousands): 

 Maturities 
 
Source of Fair Value 

 
2005 

2006 and 
Thereafter 

Total Fair 
Value 

Actively quoted  
(i.e., exchange-traded) prices 

 
$    784 

 
$      - 

 
$    784 

Prices provided by  
other external sources 

 
(1,994) 

 
280 

 
(1,714) 

Modeled - - - 
Total $ (1,210) $ 280 $   (930) 
 
The following table presents a reconciliation of our natural 
gas marketing positions recorded at fair value under 
GAAP to a non-GAAP measure of the fair value of our 
natural gas forward book wherein all forward trading 
positions are marked-to-market. The approach used in 
determining the non-GAAP measure is consistent with 
our previous accounting methods under EITF 98-10. 

Fair value of our natural gas marketing positions 
marked-to-market in accordance with GAAP    
(see footnote (a) above) 

 
 

$    (930) 
Increase/(decrease) in fair value of inventory,  

storage and transportation positions that are  
part of our forward trading book, but that are  
not marked-to-market under GAAP 

 
 
 

9,650 
Fair value of all forward positions (Non-GAAP) $  8,720 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

ACTIVITIES OTHER THAN TRADING 
Crude Oil Marketing 
We have a crude oil marketing and transportation 
services company operating predominately in Texas, 
Oklahoma, and Louisiana. We specialize in providing 
independent producers with marketing and 
transportation services to market their crude oil 
production to end-use markets. Our main objective is to 
provide value in the supply chain by acting as the 
producer’s “marketing arm” for wellhead purchasing, 
scheduling services, imbalance management and 
transportation management.             

To provide these services, we execute physical crude oil 
purchase contracts with producers and resell into various 
crude oil markets. Through these transactions, we 
effectively lock in a marketing fee equal to the difference 
between the sales price and the purchase price, less 
transportation costs. The crude oil marketing portfolio is 
essentially hedged whereby market risk, basis risk and 
quality differentials are mitigated or eliminated. We do 
not speculate with the crude oil marketing portfolio with 
the intent to generate profits from short-term market 
differences. Any accepted risk will be from small 
differences in contract terms, index risk, or credit risk. 
Any risk that we identify will be managed and mitigated 
within the guidelines stipulated in the BHCRPP. 

The contract or notional amounts, terms and mark-to-
market values of our crude oil contracts at December 31, 
2004 and 2003 are set forth in Note 2 of our Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



    

42                                                                                                                                                                                     Black Hills Corporation 2004 Annual Report 

Oil and Gas Exploration and Production 
We produce natural gas and crude oil through our 
exploration and production activities. These natural 
“long” positions, or unhedged open positions, introduce 
commodity price risk and variability in our cash flows. 
We employ risk management methods to mitigate this 
commodity price risk and preserve our cash flows. We 
have adopted guidelines covering hedging for our 
natural gas and crude oil production. These guidelines 
have been approved by our Executive Risk Committee 
and reviewed by our Board of Directors. 

Any hedging strategies are conducted with an enterprise 
wide perspective. As more fully defined in the next 
section, we have some fuel procurement risk within our 
gas-fired generation business. Therefore, hedging in the 
oil and gas segment considers any natural hedge offsets 
in the power generation segment. In certain cases, we do 
not hedge forecasted natural gas production when we 
have offsetting market risk in our fuel requirements in 
the power generation segment. In other words, 
exploration and production’s natural length is used to 
offset generation’s short position. 

The contract or notional amounts, terms and fair values 
of our contracts used to hedge portions of our crude oil 
and natural gas production at December 31, 2004 and 
2003 are set forth in Note 2 of our Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements.  

To mitigate commodity price risk and preserve cash 
flows, we use over-the-counter swaps and options. 

The Company has entered into agreements to hedge a 
portion of its estimated 2005 and 2006 natural gas and 
crude oil production. The hedge agreements in place at 
December 31, 2004 are as follows: 

NATURAL GAS 
 
Location 

 
Term 

Volume 
(mmbtu/day) 

 
Price 

San Juan El Paso 01/05 – 03/05 2,000 $ 4.80 
San Juan El Paso 01/05 – 03/05 2,500 $ 5.63 
San Juan El Paso 01/05 – 03/05 2,500 $ 7.15 
San Juan El Paso 01/05 – 03/05 2,500 $ 7.24 
San Juan El Paso 01/05 – 03/05 2,500 $ 8.00 
San Juan El Paso 04/05 – 10/05 2,500 $ 5.30 
San Juan El Paso 04/05 – 10/05 5,000 $ 5.40 
San Juan El Paso 04/05 – 10/05 2,500 $ 6.04 
San Juan El Paso 11/05 – 03/06 2,500 $ 7.08 
CIG 01/05 – 03/05 2,500 $ 6.01 
 
CRUDE OIL 
 
Location 

 
Term 

Volume 
(barrels/month) 

 
Price 

NYMEX Calendar 2005 10,000 $ 27.90 
NYMEX Calendar 2005 10,000 $ 34.08 
NYMEX Calendar 2006 10,000 $ 41.00 

Power Generation 
We have a portfolio of gas-fired generation assets located 
throughout several Western states. The output from 
most of these generation assets are sold under long-term 
tolling contracts with third parties whereby any 
commodity price risk is transferred to the third party. 
However, we do have some gas-fired generation assets 
under long-term contracts and a few merchant plants 
that do possess market risk for fuel purchases.  

It is our policy that fuel risk, to the extent possible, be 
hedged. Since we are “long” natural gas in our 
exploration and production segment, we look at our 
enterprise wide natural gas market risk when hedging at 
the subsidiary level. Therefore, we may attempt to hedge 
only enterprise wide “long” or “short” positions. 

A potential risk related to power sales is the price risk 
arising from the sale of wholesale power that exceeds our 
generating capacity. These short positions can arise from 
unplanned plant outages or from unanticipated load 
demands. To control such risk, we restrict wholesale off-
system sales to amounts by which our anticipated 
generating capabilities exceed our anticipated load 
requirements plus a required reserve margin. 
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FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
We engage in activities to manage risks associated with changes in interest rates. We have entered into floating-to-fixed 
interest rate swap agreements to reduce our exposure to interest rate fluctuations associated with our floating rate debt 
obligations. At December 31, 2004, we had $113.0 million of notional amount floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps, 
having a maximum term of 1.75 years. Further details of the swap agreements are set forth in Note 2 of our Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements.  

On December 31, 2004 and 2003, our interest rate swaps and related balances were as follows (in thousands): 

(in thousands) 
 
 
 
December 31, 2004 Notional 

Weighted 
Average 

Fixed 
Interest 
Rate 

Maximum   
Terms in Years 

Current 
Assets 

Non- 
current 
Assets 

Current 
Liabilities 

Non- 
current 

Liabilities 

Pre-tax 
Accumulated 

Other 
Comprehensive 
Income (Loss) 

Swaps on project financing $113,000 4.22% 1.75 $    60 $     - $ 1,226 $    200 $ (1,366) 
         
December 31, 2003         
Swaps on project financing $113,000 4.48% 2.75 $ 256 $     - $ 3,247 $ 1,931 $ (4,922) 
Swaps on corporate debt 25,000 5.28% 0.25 $      - - 169 - (169) 
 $138,000   $ 256 $     - $ 3,416 $ 1,931 $ (5,091) 
 
We anticipate a portion of unrealized losses recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income will be realized as 
increased interest expense in 2005. Based on December 31, 2004 market interest rates, $1.2 million will be realized as 
additional interest expense during 2005. Estimated and realized amounts will likely change during 2005 as market 
interest rates change. 

At December 31, 2004, we had $366.6 million of outstanding, variable-rate debt of which $253.6 million was not offset 
with interest rate swap transactions that effectively convert the debt to a fixed rate. A 100 basis point increase in interest 
rates would cause interest expense to increase $2.5 million. 

The table below presents principal (or notional) amounts and related weighted average interest rates by year of maturity 
for our short-term investments and long-term debt obligations, including current maturities (in thousands). 

 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter Total 
Cash equivalents        
     Fixed rate $64,506 $            - $            - $          - $         - $             - $    64,506 
        
Long-term debt        
     Fixed rate $2,854 $    2,865 $    2,049 $  2,062 $ 2,078 $ 371,280 $ 383,188 
     Average interest rate      8.5% 8.5% 9.6% 9.6% 9.6% 7.3% 7.4% 
        
     Variable rate (a) $13,312 $197,546 $113,468 $19,165 $ 2,000 $   21,068  $ 366,559 
     Average interest rate  3.9 % 3.5%  3.6% 3.0% 4.0% 3.9% 3.5% 
        
     Total long-term debt $16,166 $200,411 $115,517 $21,227 $ 4,078 $ 392,348 $ 749,747 
     Average interest rate     4.7 % 3.5%   3.7 %   3.6 % 6.9% 7.1% 5.5% 

(a)  Approximately 31 percent of the variable rate long-term debt has been hedged with interest rate swaps moving the floating rates to fixed rates  
       with an average interest rate of 4.22 percent. 
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CREDIT RISK 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss resulting from non-
performance of contractual obligations by a counter-
party. We have adopted the Black Hills Corporation 
Credit Policy (BHCCP) that establishes guidelines, 
controls, and limits to manage and mitigate credit risk 
within risk tolerances established by the Board of 
Directors. In addition, our Executive Credit Committee 
composed of senior executives meets on a regular basis 
to review the Company’s credit activities and to monitor 
compliance with the policies adopted by the Company.  

For our energy marketing, production, and generation 
activities, we attempt to mitigate our credit risk by 
conducting a majority of our business with investment 
grade companies, setting tenor and credit limits 
commensurate with counterparty financial strength, 
obtaining netting agreements, and securing our credit 
exposure with less creditworthy counterparties through 
parental guarantees, prepayments, letters of credit, and 
security agreements.  

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers 
and adjust credit limits based upon payment history and 
the customer’s current creditworthiness, as determined 
by our review of their current credit information. We 
maintain a provision for estimated credit losses based 
upon our historical experience and any specific customer 
collection issue that we have identified. While most 
credit losses have historically been within our 
expectations and provisions established, we cannot 
assure you that we will continue to experience the same 
credit loss rates that we have in the past or that an 
investment grade counterparty will not default sometime 
in the future. 

At the end of the year, our credit exposure (exclusive of 
retail customers of our regulated utility and communi-
cations segment) was concentrated with investment 
grade companies. Approximately 74 percent of our 
credit exposure was with investment grade companies. 
For the 26 percent credit exposure with non-investment 
grade rated counterparties, approximately 91 percent of 
this exposure was supported through letters of credit, 
prepayments, parental guarantees and asset liens. 

FOREIGN EXCHANGE CONTRACTS 
Our gas marketing subsidiary conducts its business in the 
United States and Canada. Transactions in Canada are 
generally transacted in Canadian dollars, which creates 
exchange rate risk. To mitigate this risk, we enter into 
forward currency exchange contracts to offset earnings 
volatility from changes in exchange rates between the 
Canadian and United States dollars. At December 31, 
2004, we had outstanding forward exchange contracts to 
sell approximately $38.0 million Canadian dollars and at 
December 31, 2003, had no forward exchange contracts. 

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, we also had 
outstanding forward exchange contracts to purchase 
approximately $10.8 million and $3.0 million Canadian 
dollars, respectively. These contracts had a fair value of 
$(1.0) million and $0.1 million at December 31, 2004 
and 2003, respectively, and have been recorded as 
Derivative Assets/Liabilities on the accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. All forward exchange 
contracts outstanding at December 31, 2004 settle by 
April 2005. 

New Accounting Pronouncements 
See Note 1 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements for information on new accounting standards 
adopted in 2004 or pending adoption. 

Safe Harbor for Forward-Looking Information 
This Annual Report includes “forward-looking statements” 
as defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC). We make these forward-looking statements in 
reliance on the safe harbor protections provided under the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All 
statements, other than statements of historical facts, 
included in this report that address activities, events or 
developments that we expect, believe or anticipate will or 
may occur in the future are forward-looking statements. 
These forward-looking statements are based on 
assumptions which we believe are reasonable based on 
current expectations and projections about future events 
and industry conditions and trends affecting our business. 
However, whether actual results and developments will 
conform to our expectations and predictions is subject to 
a number of risks and uncertainties that, among other 
things, could cause actual results to differ materially from 
those contained in the forward-looking statements, 
including the Risk Factors set forth in this report and 
the following: 

 The amount and timing of capital deployment in new 
investment opportunities or for the repurchase of 
debt or stock; 

 The volumes of our production from oil and gas 
development properties, which may be dependent 
upon issuance by federal, state, and tribal 
governments, or agencies thereof, of drilling, 
environmental and other permits, and the availability 
of specialized contractors, work force, and equipment; 

 The extent of our success in connecting natural gas 
supplies to gathering, processing and pipeline systems; 

 Our ability to successfully integrate CLF&P into our 
operations; 

 Our compliance with orders of the SEC under 
PUHCA related to our financing and investment 
authority, and related to transactions and cost 
allocation among our affiliated companies; 
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 Our ability to remedy any deficiencies that may be 
identified in the review of our internal controls; 

 The timing and extent of changes in energy-related 
and commodity prices, interest rates, energy and 
commodity supply or volume, the cost of 
transportation of commodities, and demand for our 
services, all of which can affect our earnings, liquidity 
position and the underlying value of our assets; 

 General economic and political conditions, including 
tax rates or policies and inflation rates; 

 Our use of derivative financial instruments to hedge 
commodity, currency exchange rate and interest rate 
risks; 

 The creditworthiness of counterparties to trading and 
other transactions, and defaults on amounts due from 
counterparties; 

 The amount of collateral required to be posted from 
time to time in our transactions; 

 Changes in or compliance with laws and regulations, 
particularly those relating to taxation, safety and 
protection of the environment; 

 Changes in state laws or regulations that could cause 
us to curtail our independent power production; 

 Weather and other natural phenomena; 
 Industry and market changes, including the impact of 

consolidations and changes in competition; 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 The effect of accounting policies issued periodically by 
accounting standard-setting bodies; 

 The cost and effects on our business, including 
insurance, resulting from terrorist actions or responses 
to such actions; 

 Capital market conditions, which may affect our 
ability to raise capital on favorable terms; 

 Price risk due to marketable securities held as 
investments in benefit plans; 

 Obtaining adequate cost recovery for our retail 
operations through regulatory proceedings; and 

 Other factors discussed from time to time in our other 
filings with the SEC. 
 

New factors that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those described in forward-looking 
statements emerge from time to time, and it is not 
possible for us to predict all such factors, or the extent to 
which any such factor or combination of factors may 
cause actual results to differ from those contained in any 
forward-looking statement. We assume no obligation to 
update publicly our forward-looking statements, whether 
as a result of new information, future events or 
otherwise. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



    

46                                                                                                                                                                                     Black Hills Corporation 2004 Annual Report 

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
 
We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in  
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our internal control over  
financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting  
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.  

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2004, based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. This evaluation included review of the documentation of 
controls, evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls, testing of the operating effectiveness of controls and a 
conclusion on this evaluation. Based on our evaluation we have concluded that our internal control over financial 
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004.  

Our assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 has been 
audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which  
is included herein.  

BLACK HILLS CORPORATION 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Black Hills Corporation 

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting, that Black Hills Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Corporation”) maintained effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO 
Framework”). The Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial 
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control 
over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal 
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of 
internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We 
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s 
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s 
board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts 
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of 
the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, 
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or 
improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected 
on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to 
future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in the COSO Framework. 
Also in our opinion, the Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established in the COSO Framework. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 31, 
2004, of the Corporation, and our report dated March 10, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial 
statements and financial statement schedule and included an explanatory paragraph relating to the adoption of Statement 
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, and Emerging Issues Task 
Force Issue 02-3, Accounting for Contracts Involving Energy Trading and Risk Management Activities, effective January 
1, 2003; Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46 (Revised), Consolidation of Variable Interest 
Entities, effective December 31, 2003; and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets, effective January 1, 2002. 

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 
Minneapolis, Minnesota 
March 10, 2005 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Black Hills Corporation 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Black Hills Corporation and subsidiaries  
(the “Corporation”) as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income,  
common stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period  
ended December 31, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s management.  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board  
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about  
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,  
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of  
Black Hills Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and  
their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based  
on  the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 10, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion  
on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting and an 
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting. 

As discussed in Note 9 and Note 2, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2003,  
the Corporation adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement 
Obligations, and Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 02-3, Accounting for Contracts Involving Energy Trading and  
Risk Management Activities. As discussed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, effective December 31,  
2003, the Corporation adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46 (Revised), Consolidation  
of Variable Interest Entities. As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002,  
the Corporation adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. 

 

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 
Minneapolis, Minnesota 
March 10, 2005 
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BLACK HILLS CORPORATION 
Consolidated Statements of Income 
(in thousands, except per share amounts) 
Years ended December 31, 

 
2004 

 
2003 

 
2002 

Revenues:    
     Operating revenues $ 1,121,701 $ 1,136,050 $ 908,477 
     Contract termination revenue - 114,000 - 
 1,121,701 1,250,050 908,477 
    
Operating expenses:    
     Fuel and purchased power 703,261 718,450 580,973 
     Operations and maintenance 99,371 99,335 68,257 
     Administrative and general 68,859 73,548 64,673 
     Depreciation, depletion and amortization 87,833 80,791 63,865 
     Taxes, other than income taxes 28,458 29,551 17,993 
     Impairment of long-lived assets - 117,207 - 
 987,782 1,118,882 795,761 
    
Operating income 133,919 131,168 112,716 
    
Other income (expense):    
     Interest expense (51,842) (52,579) (33,564) 
     Interest income 1,758 1,076 609 
     Other expense (491) (539) (554) 
     Other income 1,181 1,209 3,264 
 (49,394) (50,833) (30,245) 
    
Income from continuing operations before minority interest, 

income taxes and change in accounting principle 
 

84,525 
 

80,335 
 

82,471 
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated subsidiaries (386) 5,747 4,588 
Minority interest (186) - (2,277) 
Income taxes (26,704) (29,601) (26,644) 
Income from continuing operations before changes in accounting principles 57,249 56,481 58,138 
Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 724 9,936 2,418 
Changes in accounting principles, net of income taxes - (5,195) 896 
    
               Net income 57,973 61,222 61,452 
Preferred stock dividends (321) (258) (223) 
Net income available for common stock $     57,652 $     60,964 $     61,229 
    
Earnings per share of common stock:    
      Basic-    
        Continuing operations $         1.76 $         1.84 $         2.16 
        Discontinued operations 0.02 0.33 0.09 
        Changes in accounting principles - (0.17) 0.03 
               Total $         1.78 $         2.00 $         2.28 
     Diluted-    
        Continuing operations $         1.74 $         1.82 $         2.14 
        Discontinued operations 0.02 0.32 0.09 
        Changes in accounting principles  - (0.17) 0.03 
               Total $         1.76 $         1.97 $         2.26 
    
Weighted average common shares outstanding:    
     Basic 32,387   30,496   26,803   
     Diluted 32,912 31,015 27,167 
 
The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BLACK HILLS CORPORATION 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(in thousands, except share amounts) 
At December 31, 

 
2004 

 
2003 

ASSETS   
Current assets:   
     Cash and cash equivalents $      64,506 $     172,759 
     Restricted cash 3,069 1,350 
     Accounts receivable (net of allowance for  
       doubtful accounts of $4,698 and $7,345, respectively) 

 
256,505 

 
201,976 

     Materials, supplies and fuel 89,732 44,895 
     Derivative assets 47,977 26,804 
     Deferred income taxes 4,237 4,256 
     Prepaid income taxes 3,978 18,940 
     Notes receivable 239 554 
     Other current assets 7,005 8,321 
     Assets of discontinued operations 3,059 4,575 
 480,307 484,430 
   
Investments 24,436 26,847 
   
Property, plant and equipment 1,971,119 1,882,545 
     Less accumulated depreciation and depletion (525,387) (440,274) 
 1,445,732   1,442,271   
Other assets:   
     Goodwill 30,144 30,144 
     Intangible assets, net 36,750 40,070 
     Derivative assets 593 1,002 
     Other 38,201 38,488 
  105,688 109,704 
  $  2,056,163 $ 2,063,252 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   
Current liabilities:   
     Accounts payable $     196,619 $    162,706 
     Accrued liabilities 69,306 66,618 
     Derivative liabilities 43,206 32,967 
     Notes payable 24,000 - 
     Current maturities of long-term debt 16,166 17,659 
     Accrued income taxes 7,799 5,752 
     Liabilities of discontinued operations 651 3,444 
 357,747 289,146 
   
Long-term debt, net of current maturities 733,581 868,459 
   
Deferred credits and other liabilities:   
     Deferred income taxes 159,623 125,040 
     Derivative liabilities 206 3,247 
     Other 64,406 62,924 
 224,235   191,211   
   
Minority interest 4,835 4,689 
   
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 8, 16, 20, 21 and 22)   
   
Stockholders’ equity:    
   Preferred stock – no par Series 2000-A; 21,500 shares authorized;  
      issued and outstanding: 6,839 and 7,771 respectively 

 
7,167 

 
8,143 

   Common stock equity –   
     Common stock $1 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; issued: 
        32,595,285 shares in 2004 and 32,447,765 shares in 2003 

 
32,595 

 
32,448 

     Additional paid-in capital 384,439 379,271 
     Retained earnings 322,009 304,567 
     Treasury stock at cost – 117,567 shares in 2004 and 150,048 shares in 2003 (2,838) (3,560) 
     Accumulated other comprehensive loss (7,607) (11,122) 
 728,598 701,604 
      Total stockholders’ equity 735,765 709,747 
   
 $ 2,056,163 $ 2,063,252 
The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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BLACK HILLS CORPORATION 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
 
(in thousands) 
Years ended December 31, 

 
2004 

 
2003 

 
2002 

Operating activities:    
     Net income available for common $ 57,652 $ 60,964 $ 61,229 
     Adjustments to reconcile net income available for common 
       to net cash provided by operating activities – 

   

        Income from discontinued operations (724) (9,936) (2,418) 
        Depreciation, depletion and amortization 87,833 80,791 63,865 
        Impairment of long-lived assets - 117,207 - 
        Issuance of treasury stock for operating expense 1,030 361 2,252 
        Change in provision for valuation allowances (2,598) 3,363 (2,935) 
        Net change in derivative assets and liabilities (8,101) (317) (2,086) 
        Deferred income taxes 29,186 (3,743) 33,597 
        Undistributed earnings in associated companies 3,762 (3,874) (2,972) 
        Minority interest 186 - 2,277 
        Accounting changes - 5,195 (896) 
     Change in operating assets and liabilities-    
        Accounts receivable and other current assets (75,620) (75,673) (74,806) 
        Accounts payable and other current liabilities 34,061 (6,863) 128,209 
        Other operating activities 10,015 3,206 7,670 
 136,682 170,681 212,986 
Investing activities:    
     Property, plant and equipment additions (90,974) (90,353) (232,347) 
     Proceeds from sale of assets - 185,926 - 
     Payment for acquisition of net assets, net of cash acquired - - (23,229) 
     Payment for acquisition of minority interest - (9,000) (13,800) 
     Increase in notes receivable – Mallon Resources - (5,164) (33,815) 
     Other investing activities (1,892) (3,566) (5,300) 
 (92,866) 77,843 (308,491) 
Financing activities:    
     Dividends paid on common stock (40,210) (37,025) (31,116) 
     Common stock issued 4,031 123,073 5,084 
     Increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings, net 24,000 (340,500) (19,500) 
     Long-term debt – issuance 18,650 252,000 223,135 
     Long-term debt – repayments (155,021) (139,310) (25,069) 
     Other financing activities (3,519) (8,924) (8,312) 
 (152,069) (150,686) 144,222 
    
          Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (108,253) 97,838 48,717 
    
Cash and cash equivalents:    
     Beginning of year 172,759 74,921 26,204 
     End of year $  64,506 $ 172,759 $ 74,921 
    
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:    
    
     Cash paid during the period for-    
        Interest (net of amount capitalized) $  49,546 $   51,452 $ 41,404 
        Income taxes paid (refunded) $ (21,927) $   58,660 $(31,353) 
    
     Non-cash net assets acquired through issuance of common 
       and preferred stock (Note 21) 

 
$            - 

 
$    6,231 

 
$   3,826 

    
     Property, plant and equipment acquired with accrued  
       liabilities and the issuance of long-term debt 

 
$            - 

 
$    6,951 

 
$           - 

    
     Non-cash net assets of Mallon Resources, acquired through issuance of  
        common stock and decrease in notes receivable (Note 24) 

 
$            - 

 
$  51,153 

 
$          - 

  
The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BLACK HILLS CORPORATION 
Consolidated Statements of Common Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income 

`       Accumulated  
   Additional    Other  
 Common Stock Paid-In Retained Treasury Stock Comprehensive  

(in thousands) Shares Amount Capital Earnings Shares Amount Income (loss) Total 
Balance at  
December 31, 2001 

26,891 $ 26,891 $ 241,454 $ 250,515 239 $ (5,503) $ (3,742) $ 509,615 

Comprehensive Income:         
   Net income - - - 61,452 - - - 61,452 
   Other comprehensive loss, 
     net of tax (see Note 18) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(17,450) 

 
(17,450) 

Total comprehensive income - - - 61,452 - - (17,450) 44,002 
         
Dividends on preferred stock - - - (223) - - - (223) 
Dividends on common stock - - - (31,116) - - - (31,116) 
Issuance of common stock 211 211 4,993 - - - - 5,204 
Treasury stock issued, net - - 550 - (70) 1,582 - 2,132 
Balance at  
December 31, 2002 

 
27,102 

 
27,102 

 
246,997 

 
280,628 

 
169 

 
(3,921) 

 
(21,192) 

 
529,614 

Comprehensive Income:         
   Net income - - - 61,222 - - - 61,222 
   Other comprehensive income, 
      net of tax (see Note 18) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
10,070 

 
10,070 

Total comprehensive income - - - 61,222 - - 10,070 71,292 
         
Dividends on preferred stock - - - (258) - - - (258) 
Dividends on common stock - - - (37,025) - - - (37,025) 
Issuance of common stock 5,346 5,346 130,484 - - - - 135,830 
Treasury stock issued, net - - 1,790 - (19) 361 - 2,151 
Balance at  
December 31, 2003 

 
32,448 

 
32,448 

 
379,271 

 
304,567 

 
150 

 
(3,560) 

 
(11,122) 

 
701,604 

Comprehensive Income:         
   Net income - - - 57,973 - - - 57,973 
   Other comprehensive income, 
      Net of tax (see Note 18) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
3,515 

 
3,515 

Total comprehensive income - - - 57,973 - - 3,515 61,488 
         
Dividends on preferred stock - - - (321) - - - (321) 
Dividends on common stock - - - (40,210) - - - (40,210) 
Issuance of common stock 147 147 4,860 - - - - 5,007 
Treasury stock issued, net - - 308 - (32) 722 - 1,030 
Balance at  
December 31, 2004 

 
32,595 

 
$ 32,595 

 
$ 384,439 

 
$ 322,009 

 
118 

 
$ (2,838) 

 
$ (7,607) 

 
$ 728,598 

   
The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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BLACK HILLS CORPORATION 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 
 

 Business Description and Summary  
 of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION 
Black Hills Corporation is a registered public utility 
holding company and with its subsidiaries operates in 
two primary operating groups: non-regulated wholesale 
energy and retail services. The Company operates its 
wholesale energy businesses through its direct and 
indirect subsidiaries: Wyodak Resources related to coal, 
Black Hills Exploration and Production related to oil 
and natural gas production, Enserco Energy related to 
natural gas marketing and Black Hills Energy Resources 
related to crude oil marketing and transportation, and 
Black Hills Generation and its subsidiaries and Black 
Hills Wyoming related to independent power activities, 
all aggregated for reporting purposes as Black Hills 
Energy. Retail services include public utility electric 
operations through its subsidiary, Black Hills Power, 
Inc.; and communications operations through its 
subsidiaries Black Hills Fiber Systems and Black Hills 
FiberCom L.L.C. In addition, on January 21, 2005, the 
Company expanded its retail services with the 
acquisition of Cheyenne Light, Fuel and Power (see 
Note 25). For further descriptions of the Company’s 
business segments, see Note 23.  

In 2004, the Company sold its subsidiary, Landrica 
Development Corp., which held land and coal enhance-
ment facilities. In 2003, the Company sold its hydro-
electric power plants located in Upstate New York.  
The non-strategic assets were sold effective September 
30, 2003. Amounts related to Landrica and the hydroelectric 
power plants are included in Discontinued operations  
on the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. 

USE OF ESTIMATES 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. The most significant estimates 
relate to allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable, 
inventory obsolescence, realization of market value of 
derivatives due to commodity risk, intangible asset 
valuations and useful lives, long-lived asset values and 

useful lives, proved oil and gas reserve volumes, employee 
benefit plans, environmental accruals and contingencies. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION  
The consolidated financial statements include the 
accounts of Black Hills Corporation and its wholly 
owned and majority-owned subsidiaries. In addition,  
as of December 31, 2003, the Company consolidated 
Wygen Funding, Limited Partnership, a variable interest 
entity in which the Company is the primary beneficiary 
as defined by Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(FASB) Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of 
Variable Interest Entities Revised” (FIN 46-R). 
Generally, the Company uses equity accounting for 
investments of which it owns between 20 and 50 percent 
and investments in partnerships under 20 percent if the 
Company exercises significant influence.  

All significant intercompany balances and transactions 
have been eliminated in consolidation except for revenues 
and expenses associated with intercompany fuel sales in 
accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 71, “Accounting for 
the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation” (SFAS 71). 
Total intercompany fuel sales not eliminated were  
$9.6 million, $10.3 million and $10.5 million in 2004, 
2003 and 2002, respectively. 

The Company’s consolidated statements of income 
include operating activity of acquired companies 
beginning with their acquisition date. 

The Company uses the proportionate consolidation 
method to account for its working interests in oil and 
gas properties and for its ownership in the jointly owned 
Black Hills Power transmission tie, the Wyodak power 
plant and the Black Hills Exploration and Production 
gas processing plant as discussed in Note 5. 

MINORITY INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES 
Minority interest in the accompanying Consolidated 
Statements of Income represents the share of income or 
loss of certain consolidated subsidiaries attributable to 
the minority shareholders of those subsidiaries. The 
minority interest in the accompanying Consolidated 
Balance Sheets reflect the amount of the underlying net 
assets of those certain consolidated subsidiaries attributable 
to the minority shareholders in those subsidiaries. 

Earnings attributable to minority ownership in certain 
subsidiaries are generally shown on the accompanying 
consolidated statement of income on a pre-tax basis as 
the subsidiaries with minority investors are typically 

1 



    

54                                                                                                                                                                                     Black Hills Corporation 2004 Annual Report 

limited liability companies or partnerships which pay no 
tax at the corporate or partnership level. 

REGULATORY ACCOUNTING 
The Company’s subsidiary, Black Hills Power, is subject 
to regulation by various state and federal agencies. The 
accounting policies followed are generally subject to the 
Uniform System of Accounts of the Federal Energy 
Regulatory Commission (FERC). These accounting 
policies differ in some respects from those used by the 
Company’s non-regulated businesses. 

Black Hills Power follows the provisions of SFAS 71, 
and its financial statements reflect the effects of the 
different ratemaking principles followed by the various 
jurisdictions regulating Black Hills Power. A 50-year 
depreciable life for the Neil Simpson II plant is used for 
financial reporting purposes. If Black Hills Power were 
not a regulated utility following SFAS 71, a 35 to 40 
year life would likely be more appropriate, which would 
increase depreciation expense by $0.6 - $1.1 million per 
year. If rate recovery of generation-related costs becomes 
unlikely or uncertain, due to competition or regulatory 
action, these accounting standards may no longer apply 
to Black Hills Power’s generation operations. In the 
event Black Hills Power determines that it no longer 
meets the criteria for following SFAS 71, the accounting 
impact to the Company could be an extraordinary non-
cash charge to operations of an amount that could be 
material. Criteria that give rise to the discontinuance of 
SFAS 71 include increasing competition that could restrict 
Black Hills Power’s ability to establish prices to recover 
specific costs and a significant change in the manner in 
which rates are set by regulators from cost-based 
regulation to another form of regulation. The Company 
periodically reviews these criteria to ensure that the 
continuing application of SFAS 71 is appropriate. 

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had 
regulatory assets of $7.2 million and $4.6 million and 
regulatory liabilities of $6.0 million and $6.3 million, 
respectively. Regulatory assets are primarily recorded for 
the probable future revenue to recover future income 
taxes related to the deferred tax liability for the equity 
component of allowance for funds used during 
construction of utility assets and for unamortized losses 
on reacquired debt. Regulatory liabilities include the 
probable future decrease in rate revenues related to a 
decrease in deferred tax liabilities for prior reductions in 
statutory federal income tax rates and also the cost of 
removal for utility plant, recovered through the 
Company’s electric utility rates. The regulatory assets are 
included in Other assets and the regulatory liabilities are 
included in Other deferred credits and other liabilities on 
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

CASH EQUIVALENTS 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments 
with an original maturity of three months or less to be 
cash equivalents. 

MATERIALS, SUPPLIES AND FUEL 
As of December 31, 2004, the following amounts by major 
classification are included in Materials, supplies and fuel 
on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets: 

(in thousands) 
Major Classification 

 
2004 

 
2003 

Materials and supplies $22,661 $18,920 
Fuel for generation 2,211 1,581 
Gas and oil held by  

energy marketing 
 

64,860 
 

24,394 
Total materials, supplies and fuel $89,732 $44,895 
 
“Materials and supplies” and “Fuel for generation” are 
stated at the lower of cost or market. Generally, cost for 
these classifications is determined on a weighted-average 
cost methodology. 

“Gas and oil held by energy marketing” primarily consists 
of gas held in storage and gas imbalances held on account 
with pipelines. Gas imbalances represent the differences 
that arise between volumes of gas received into the 
pipeline versus gas delivered off of the pipeline. Generally, 
natural gas inventory is stated at the lower of cost or 
market on a weighted-average cost basis. To the extent 
that inventory has been designated as the underlying 
hedged item in a “fair value” hedge transaction, those 
volumes are stated at market value using published spot 
industry quotations. 

DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES 
The Company accounts for its derivative and hedging 
activities in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting 
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” 
(SFAS 133). SFAS 133 requires that every derivative 
instrument be recorded in the balance sheet as either an 
asset or liability measured at its fair value. SFAS 133 
requires that changes in the derivative instrument’s fair 
value be recognized currently in earnings unless specific 
hedge accounting criteria are met. 

SFAS 133 allows hedge accounting for qualifying fair 
value and cash flow hedges. SFAS 133 provides that the 
gain or loss on a derivative instrument designated and 
qualifying as a fair value hedging instrument as well as 
the offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item attribu-
table to the hedged risk be recognized currently in 
earnings in the same accounting period. SFAS 133 
provides that the effective portion of the gain or loss on 
a derivative instrument designated and qualifying as a 
cash flow hedging instrument be reported as a component 
of other comprehensive income and be reclassified into 
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earnings in the same period or periods during which the 
hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. The 
remaining gain or loss on the derivative instrument, if 
any, must be recognized currently in earnings. 

CURRENCY ADJUSTMENTS 
The Company’s natural gas marketing subsidiary, 
Enserco, engages in business transactions in Canada  
and accordingly, has various transactions that have been 
denominated in Canadian dollars. These Canadian 
denominated transactions/balances are adjusted to 
United States dollars for financial reporting purposes 
using the year-end exchange rate for balance sheet items 
and an average exchange rate during the period for 
income statement items. Currency transaction gains or 
losses on transactions executed in Canadian dollars are 
recorded in Operating revenues on the accompanying 
Consolidated Statement of Income as incurred. 

DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS 
Deferred financing costs are amortized using the effective 
interest method over the term of the related debt. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Additions to property, plant and equipment are 
recorded at cost when placed in service. Included in the 
cost of regulated construction projects is an allowance 
for funds used during construction (AFUDC) which 
represents the approximate composite cost of borrowed 
funds and a return on capital used to finance the project. 
The AFUDC was computed at an annual composite rate 
of 9.8 percent during 2004 and 2003 and 9.1 percent 
during 2002, respectively. In addition, the Company 
capitalizes interest, when applicable, on certain non-
regulated construction projects. The amount of AFUDC 
and interest capitalized was $0.2 million, $0.4 million 
and $11.5 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 
The cost of regulated electric property, plant and 
equipment retired, or otherwise disposed of in the 
ordinary course of business, less salvage, is charged to 
accumulated depreciation. Retirement or disposal of all 
other assets, except for oil and gas properties as 
described below, result in gains or losses recognized as a 
component of income. Repairs and maintenance of 
property are charged to operations as incurred. 

Depreciation provisions for property, plant and equip-
ment are computed on a straight-line or componentization 
basis. Capitalized coal mining costs and coal leases are 
amortized on a unit-of-production method on volumes 
produced and estimated reserves. 
 

 

 

OIL AND GAS OPERATIONS 
The Company accounts for its oil and gas activities 
under the full cost method. Under the full cost method, 
costs related to acquisition, exploration and development 
drilling activities are capitalized. These costs are 
amortized using a units-of-production method based on 
volumes produced and proved reserves. Any conveyances 
of properties, including gains or losses on abandonment 
of properties, are treated as adjustments to the cost of 
the properties with no gain or loss recognized. 

Under the full cost method, net capitalized costs are 
subject to a “ceiling test” which limits these costs to the 
present value of future net cash flows discounted at 10 
percent, net of related tax effects, plus the lower of cost 
or fair value of unproved properties included in the net 
capitalized costs. Future net cash flows are estimated 
based on end-of-period spot market prices adjusted for 
contracted price changes. If the net capitalized costs 
exceed the full cost “ceiling” at period end, a permanent 
non-cash write-down would be charged to earnings in 
that period unless subsequent market price changes 
eliminate or reduce the indicated write-down. Given the 
volatility of oil and gas prices, the Company’s estimate of 
discounted future net cash flows from proved oil and gas 
reserves could change in the near term. If oil and gas 
prices decline significantly, even if only for a short period 
of time, it is possible that a write-down of oil and gas 
properties could occur in the future. No “ceiling test” 
write-downs were recorded during 2004, 2003 or 2002.  

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, 
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (SFAS 142). 
Under SFAS 142, goodwill and intangible assets with 
indefinite lives are no longer amortized but the carrying 
values are reviewed annually (or more frequently if 
impairment indicators arise) for impairment. Intangible 
assets with a defined life will continue to be amortized 
over their useful lives (but with no maximum life). The 
amortization provisions of SFAS 142 apply to goodwill 
and intangible assets acquired after June 30, 2001. With 
respect to goodwill and intangible assets acquired prior 
to July 1, 2001, the Company was required to adopt 
SFAS 142 effective January 1, 2002. The cumulative 
effect adjustment recognized upon adoption of SFAS 
142 was $0.1 million (after-tax), which had only a 
nominal impact on earnings per share. The adjustment 
consisted of income from the after-tax write-off of nega-
tive goodwill from prior acquisitions in the power 
generation segment of $0.9 million, offset by a $0.8 million 
after-tax write-off for the impairment of goodwill related 
to the discontinued coal marketing operations (see Note 
19). The goodwill impairment was a result of changes in 
the criteria for the measurement of impair-ments from an 
undiscounted to a discounted cash flow method. If the 
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carrying value exceeds the fair value, an impairment loss 
will be recognized. A discounted cash flow approach was 
used to determine fair value of the Company’s businesses 
for the purposes of testing for impairment. 

The substantial majority of the Company’s goodwill and 
intangible assets are contained within the Power Generation 
segment. Changes to goodwill and intangible assets during 
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as 
follows (in thousands): 

  
 
 

Goodwill 

Amortized 
Other 

Intangible 
Assets 

Balance at December 31, 2002, net 
of accumulated amortization 

 
$ 23,913 

  
$ 78,089 

Additions 6,231  62 
Impairment losses - (34,094) 
Amortization expense - (3,987) 
Balance at December 31, 2003, net 
of accumulated amortization 

 
30,144 

 
40,070 

Amortization expense - (3,320) 
Balance at December 31, 2004, net 
of accumulated amortization 

 
$ 30,144 

 
$ 36,750 

 
Intangible assets primarily relate to site development 
fees and above-market long-term contracts within the 
Power Generation segment and are amortized using a 
straight-line method using estimated useful lives ranging 
from 5 to 40 years. Intangible assets totaled $58.5 
million, with accumulated amortization of $21.7 million 
at December 31, 2004 and $58.5 million, with 
accumulated amortization of $18.4 million at December 
31, 2003. Amortization expense for intangible assets was 
$3.3 million, $4.0 million and $4.2 million in 2004, 
2003 and 2002, respectively. Amortization expense for 
existing intangible assets for the next five years is 
expected to be approximately $3.3 million a year. 

During the third quarter of 2003, the Company wrote 
off intangible assets of $34.1 million, net of accumulated 
amortization of $1.1 million, related to the impairment 
of the Las Vegas II plant. The impairment charge is a 
result of a contract termination and subsequent impair-
ment of the Las Vegas II plant (see Notes 13 and 14). 

Goodwill additions during the year ended December 31, 
2003 were from contingent consideration related to the 
July 7, 2000 acquisition of Indeck Capital Inc. (see  
Note 11). 

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS 
The Company periodically evaluates whether events and 
circumstances have occurred which may affect the 
estimated useful life or the recoverability of the remain-
ing balance of its long-lived assets. If such events or 
circumstances were to indicate that the carrying amount 
of these assets was not recoverable, the Company would 

estimate the future cash flows expected to result from the 
use of the assets and their eventual disposition. If the 
sum of the expected future cash flows (undiscounted and 
without interest charges) was less than the carrying 
amount of the long-lived assets, the Company would 
recognize an impairment loss. In 2004, a $1.1 million 
pre-tax impairment was recorded to reduce the carrying 
value of the Company’s Pepperell power plant. This 
charge is reported in discontinued operations. In 2003,  
a $117.2 million pre-tax impairment was recorded to 
reduce the carrying value of the Las Vegas II facility. In 
2002, a $0.8 million pre-tax impairment was recorded 
for intangible assets in the discontinued coal marketing 
operations. 

INCOME TAXES 
The Company and its subsidiaries file consolidated 
federal income tax returns. Income taxes for 
consolidated subsidiaries are allocated to the subsidiaries 
based on separate company computations of taxable 
income or loss. 

The Company uses the liability method in accounting 
for income taxes. Under the liability method, deferred 
income taxes are recognized, at currently enacted income 
tax rates, to reflect the tax effect of temporary differences 
between the financial and tax basis of assets and 
liabilities. Such temporary differences are the result of 
provisions in the income tax law that either require or 
permit certain items to be reported on the income tax 
return in a different period than they are reported in the 
financial statements. The Company classifies deferred tax 
assets and liabilities into current and non-current 
amounts based on the classification of the related assets 
and liabilities. 

REVENUE RECOGNITION  
Revenue is recognized when there is persuasive evidence 
of an arrangement with a fixed or determinable price, 
delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, and 
collectibility is reasonably assured. In addition, energy 
marketing businesses have historically used the mark-to-
market method of accounting. Under that method, all 
energy marketing activities are recorded at fair value as of 
the balance sheet date and net gains or losses resulting 
from the revaluation of these contracts to fair value are 
recognized currently in the results of operations. In 
accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 
Issue No. 02-3 “Issues Involved in Accounting for 
Derivative Contracts Held for Trading Purposes and 
Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk 
Management Activities” (EITF 02-3), all energy 
marketing contracts entered into after October 25, 
2002 that do not meet the definition of derivatives as 
defined by SFAS 133, have been accounted for under 
the accrual method of accounting. For long-term non-
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utility power sales agreements revenue is recognized 
either in accordance with EITF No. 91-6, “Revenue 
Recognition of Long-Term Power Sales Contracts” 
(EITF 91-6), or in accordance with SFAS No. 13, 
“Accounting for Leases,” (SFAS 13) as appropriate. 
Under EITF 91-6, revenue is generally recognized as 
the lower of the amount billed or the average rate 
expected over the life of the agreement. Under SFAS 
13, revenue is generally levelized over the life of the 
agreement. Revenues from one-year advertising 
contracts in telephone directories published by our 
Communications segment are recognized on the 
publication date with cash received prior to publication 
deferred until it is recognized. For its Investment in 
Associated Companies (see Note 3), which are involved 
in power generation, the Company uses the equity 
method to recognize as earnings its pro rata share of 
the net income or loss of the associated company. 

The Company presents its operating revenues from 
energy marketing operations in accordance with the 
guidance provided in EITF 02-3 and EITF Issue  
No. 99-19, “Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal 
versus Net as an Agent” (EITF 99-19). Accordingly, 
gains and losses (realized and unrealized) on transactions 
at our natural gas marketing operations are presented on 
a net basis in operating revenues, whether or not settled 
physically. Settled amounts on contracts at our crude oil 
marketing operations are reported on a gross basis as 
they are not held for “trading purposes” as defined by 
EITF 02-3 and EITF Issue No. 03-11, “Reporting 
Realized Gains and Losses on Derivative Instruments 
That Are Subject to FASB Statement  
No. 133 and not ‘held for trading purposes’ as defined 
by Issue No. 02-3.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EARNINGS PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK 
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations is 
computed by dividing “Income from continuing opera-
tions before change in accounting principle” less preferred 
dividends, by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during each year. Diluted earnings 
per share gives effect to all dilutive potential common 
shares outstanding during a period. A reconciliation of 
income from continuing operations and basic and 
diluted share amounts is as follows (in thousands): 

 2004 2003 2002 
  Average  Average  Average
   Income Shares   Income Shares   Income Shares 
Income from 

continuing 
operations 

 
$57,249

  
 

$56,481 

 
 

$58,138 
Less: preferred  

stock dividends (321)
  

(258) 
 

(223)
Basic – Income  

from continuing 
operations 

 
 

56,928

  
 

32,387 

 
 

56,223 

 
 

30,496

 
 

57,915 

 
 

26,803
Dilutive effect of:    
   Stock options - 96 - 102 - 91
   Convertible 

preferred stock 
 

321
  

195 
 

258 
 

222
 

223 
 

148
Estimated contingent 

shares issuable for  
prior acquisition 

 
-

 
 

159 

 
 

- 
 

158

 
 

- 
 

88
   Others - 75 - 37 - 37
Diluted – Income 

from continuing 
operations 

 
$57,249

  
 

32,912 

 
 

$56,481 

 
 

31,015

 
 

$58,138 

 
 

27,167
 
The following outstanding securities were not included 
in the computation of diluted earnings per share as their 
effect would have been anti-dilutive (in thousands): 

 2004 2003 2002 
Options to purchase 

common stock 
 

484 
 

334 
 

381 
Restricted stock - 21 34 
 484 355 415 
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STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 
At December 31, 2004, the Company has three stock-
based employee compensation plans under which it can 
issue stock options to its employees, which are described 
more fully in Note 10. The Company accounts for these 
plans under the recognition and measurement principles 
of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, 
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (APB 25), 
and related Interpretations. No stock-based employee 
compensation cost is reflected in net income, as all 
options granted under these plans had an exercise price 
equal to the market value of the underlying common 
stock on the date of grant. The following table illustrates 
the effect on net income and earnings per share if the 
Company had applied the fair value recognition pro- 
visions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation” (SFAS 123), to stock-based employee 
compensation as of December 31 (in thousands, except 
per share amounts): 
 

 2004 2003 2002 
Net income available for common 

stock, as reported 
 

$ 57,652 
 

$ 60,964 
 

$ 61,229 
Deduct: Total stock-based 

employee compensation expense 
determined under fair value based 
method for all awards,  
net of related tax effects 

 
  
 
 

(665) 

 
 
 
 

(794) 

 
 
 
 

(990) 
    
Pro forma net income $ 56,987       $ 60,170     $ 60,239    
    
Earnings per share:    
  As reported –    
    Basic    
      Continuing operations $      1.76     $      1.84    $      2.16   
      Discontinued operations 0.02     0.33    0.09   
      Change in accounting principles - (0.17) 0.03 
         Total $      1.78 $      2.00 $      2.28 
    Diluted    
      Continuing operations $      1.74     $      1.82    $      2.14   
      Discontinued operations 0.02     0.32    0.09   
      Change in accounting principles  - (0.17) 0.03 
         Total $      1.76 $      1.97 $      2.26 
    
  Pro forma –     
    Basic    
      Continuing operations $      1.74     $      1.81    $      2.13   
      Discontinued operations 0.02    0.33   0.09   
      Change in accounting principles - (0.17) 0.03 
         Total $      1.76 $      1.97 $      2.25 
    Diluted    
      Continuing operations $      1.72     $      1.80    $      2.11   
      Discontinued operations 0.02     0.32    0.09   
      Change in accounting principles - (0.17) 0.03 
         Total $      1.74 $      1.95 $      2.23 
 
 
 
 
 

RECLASSIFICATIONS 
Certain 2003 and 2002 amounts in the consolidated 
financial statements have been reclassified to conform to 
the 2004 presentation. These reclassifications had no 
effect on the Company’s stockholders’ equity or results 
of operations, as previously reported. 

RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING 

PRONOUNCEMENTS 

FSP 106-2 
In May 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(FASB) issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. 106-2, 
“Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the 
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and 
Modernization Act of 2003” (FSP 106-2), which provides 
guidance on the accounting for the effects of the Medicare 
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act 
of 2003 (2003 Medicare Act) for employers that sponsor 
postretirement healthcare plans that provide prescription 
drug benefits. If the Plan is deemed actuarially equivalent 
to the prescription drug benefit under the 2003 Medicare 
Act, the sponsor of the Plan could be eligible for a federal 
subsidy. FSP 106-2 supersedes FSP 106-1 that was issued 
in January 2004 under the same title. FSP 106-2 is effect-
tive for the first interim period beginning after June 15, 
2004. The Company provides prescription drug benefits 
to certain eligible employees. The actuarial measurement 
of the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation and 
net periodic postretirement benefit cost does not include 
the effects of the 2003 Medicare Act as it is believed the 
Plan is not actuarially equivalent (see Note 20). 

FSP FAS 141-1 and FAS 142-1 
In April 2004, the FASB issued FSP FAS 141-1 and 
FAS 142-1, “Interaction of FASB Statements No. 141, 
Business Combinations, and No. 142, Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets, and EITF Issue No. 04-2, Whether 
Mineral Rights Are Tangible or Intangible Assets.”  The 
FSP amends SFAS 141 and SFAS 142 to conform with 
the EITF consensus in EITF 04-2 that mineral rights,  
as defined by EITF 04-2, are tangible assets. When the 
Company adopted SFAS 142 on January 1, 2002, the 
amounts related to mineral rights were already classified 
as tangible assets and continue to be classified in 
“Property, plant and equipment” on the accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The adoption of FSP FAS 
141-1 and FAS 142-1 had no effect on the Company’s 
consolidated financial position, results of operations or 
cash flows. 
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RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING 

PRONOUNCEMENTS 

SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004) 
In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 
(Revised 2004) “Share Based Payment” (SFAS 123 
(Revised 2004)). SFAS 123 (Revised 2004) requires the 
measurement and recognition of the cost of employee 
services received in exchange for an award of equity 
instruments, based on the grant-date fair value of the 
award. The cost  is to be recognized over the requisite 
service period. The effective date of SFAS 123 (Revised 
2004) is the first interim period beginning after June 15, 
2005. The Company currently accounts for its employee 
equity compensation stock option plans under the 
provisions of APB No. 25 and no stock-based employee 
compensation cost is reflected in net income (see Note 1, 
Stock-Based Compensation and Note 10 Common 
Stock). The effect of adoption of SFAS 123 (Revised 
2004) will be to recognize compensation expense for the 
fair value of the stock options granted at the grant date. 
Total stock-based employee compensation expense, net 
of related tax effects would have been $0.7 million in 
2004, $0.8 million in 2003 and $1.0 million in 2002 
had the Company applied the fair value recognition 
provisions of SFAS 123 during those periods.  

 Risk Management Activities 
 

The Company’s activities in the regulated and 
unregulated energy sector expose it to a number of risks 
in the normal operations of its businesses. Depending on 
the activity, the Company is exposed to varying degrees 
of market risk and counterparty risk. The Company has 
developed policies, processes, systems, and controls to 
manage and mitigate these risks. 

Market risk is the potential loss that might occur as a 
result of an adverse change in market price or rate. The 
Company is exposed to the following market risks: 

 commodity price risk associated with its marketing 
businesses, its natural length in crude oil and natural 
gas production, and fuel procurement for its gas fired 
generation assets;   

 interest rate risk associated with variable rate credit 
facilities and project financing floating rate debt as 
described in Notes 7 and 8; and 

 foreign currency exchange risk associated with natural 
gas marketing business transacted in Canadian dollars. 
 

The Company’s exposure to these market risks is affected 
by a number of factors including the size, duration, and 
composition of our energy portfolio, the absolute and 
relative levels of interest rates, currency exchange rates 

and commodity prices, the volatility of these prices and 
rates, and the liquidity of the related markets.  

To manage and mitigate these identified risks, the 
Company has adopted the Black Hills Corporation Risk 
Policies and Procedures (BHCRPP). These policies have 
been approved by the Company’s Executive Risk 
Committee and reviewed by the Board of Directors. 
These policies include governance, control infrastructure, 
authorized commodities and trading instruments, 
prohibited activities, employee conduct, etc. The 
Company has an Executive Risk Committee composed 
of senior level executives that meets on a regular basis to 
review the Company’s business and credit activities and 
to ensure that these activities are conducted within the 
authorized policies. 

TRADING ACTIVITIES 
Natural Gas Marketing 
To effectively manage our marketing portfolios, the 
Company enters into forward physical commodity 
contracts, financial instruments including over-the-
counter swaps and options, transportation agreements 
and forward foreign exchange contracts.  

Gas marketing business activities are conducted within 
the parameters as defined and allowed in the BHCRPP 
and further delineated in the gas marketing Commodity 
Risk Policies and Procedures (CRPP) as approved by the 
Executive Risk Committee. As a general policy, only 
limited market risk positions are permitted, as clearly 
defined in these policies and procedures. Therefore, a 
significant majority of the Company’s gas marketing 
positions are fully hedged. The Company attempts to 
balance its portfolio in terms of volume and timing of 
performance and delivery obligations. 

The Company’s natural gas marketing operations fall 
under the purview of EITF 02-3, SFAS 133, and for 
contracts entered into before October 25, 2002, in 
accordance with EITF 98-10. As such, all natural gas 
contracts entered into on or before October 25, 2002 
and contracts entered after that date that meet the 
definition of a derivative as defined by SFAS 133, are 
accounted for under mark-to-market accounting. The fair 
values are recorded as either Derivative assets or 
Derivative liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. The net gains or losses are recorded as 
Operating revenues in the accompanying Consolidated 
Statements of Income. 

 

2 
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For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, 
contracts and other activities at the Company’s natural 
gas marketing operations are accounted for under the 
provisions of EITF 02-3 and SFAS No. 133 
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities” (SFAS 133). As such, all of the contracts and 
other activities at the Company’s natural gas marketing 
operations that meet the definition of a derivative under 
SFAS 133 are accounted for at fair value. EITF 02-3, 
adopted on January 1, 2003, precludes mark-to-market 
accounting for energy trading contracts that are not 
derivatives pursuant to SFAS 133. The prior 
authoritative accounting guidance applied was EITF 
Issue 98-10 “Accounting for Contracts Involving 
Energy Trading and Risk Management Activities” 
(EITF 98-10), which allowed a broad interpretation of 
what constituted “trading activity” and hence what 
would be marked-to-market. EITF 02-3 took a much 
narrower view of what “trading activity” should be 
marked-to-market, limiting mark-to-market treatment 
primarily to only those contracts that meet the definition 
of a derivative under SFAS 133. At the Company’s 
natural gas marketing operations, management often 
employs strategies that include derivative contracts along 
with inventory, storage and transportation positions to 
accomplish the objectives of the Company’s producer 
services, end-use origination and wholesale marketing 
groups. Except in limited circumstances when the 
Company is able to designate transportation, storage or 
inventory positions as part of a fair value hedge, SFAS 
133 generally does not allow the Company to mark 
inventory, transportation or storage positions to market. 
The result is that while a significant majority of the 
Company’s natural gas marketing positions are 
economically hedged, the Company is required to mark 
some parts of its overall strategies (the derivatives) to 
market value, but are generally precluded from marking 
the rest of its economic hedges (transportation, 
inventory or storage) to market. Volatility in reported 
earnings and derivative positions should be expected 
given these accounting requirements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The contract or notional amounts and terms of our 
natural gas marketing and derivative commodity 
instruments at December 31, are set forth below: 

 2004 2003 
 
 
(thousands of MMBtu’s) 

 
Notional 
Amounts 

Latest 
expiration 
(months) 

 
Notional 
Amounts

Latest 
expiration 
(months) 

Natural gas basis swaps 
purchased 

 
24,942 

 
15 13,028

 
12 

Natural gas basis swaps 
sold 

 
27,145 

 
15 12,691

 
12 

Natural gas fixed-for-float 
swaps purchased 

 
27,274 

 
15 19,645

 
18 

Natural gas fixed-for-float 
swaps sold 

 
32,206 

 
12  21,752

 
18 

Natural gas physical            
purchases 

 
64,799 

 
15 50,757

 
27 

Natural gas physical sales 95,996 58 44,066 27 
Natural gas options 

purchased 
 

9,643 
 

33 -
 

- 
Natural gas options sold 9,613 33 - - 
    
(thousands of U.S. dollars)    
Canadian dollars purchased $10,800 1 $3,000 1 
Canadian dollars sold $38,000 4 $        - - 
 
Derivatives and certain natural gas marketing activities 
were marked to fair value on December 31, 2004 and 
2003, and the gains and/or losses recognized in earnings. 
The amounts related to the accompanying Consolidated 
Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Income  
as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows  
(in thousands): 

 
 

 
 

Current 
Assets 

 
Non-

current 
Assets 

 
 

Current 
Liabilities 

 
Non-

current 
Liabilities

Unreal-
ized 
Gain 
(loss) 

December 31, 2004 $46,177 $   286 $38,375 $       6 $ 8,082
December 31, 2003 $26,376 $1,002 $26,495 $1,291 $  (408)
 
In addition, certain volumes of natural gas inventory 
have been designated as the underlying hedged item in a 
“fair value” hedge transaction. These volumes are stated 
at market value using published spot industry quotations. 
Market adjustments are recorded in inventory on the 
Balance Sheet and unrealized gain/loss on the Statement 
of Income. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the market 
adjustments recorded in inventory were $(9.0) million 
and $1.6 million, respectively. 
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ACTIVITIES OTHER THAN TRADING 
Crude Oil Marketing 
The Company’s crude oil marketing operations executes 
physical crude oil purchase contracts with producers and 
resells into various crude oil markets. Through these 
transactions, the Company effectively locks in a 
marketing fee equal to the difference between the sales 
price and the purchase price, less transportation costs. 
The crude oil marketing portfolio is essentially hedged 
whereby market risk, basis risk and quality differentials 
are mitigated or eliminated. The Company does not 
speculate with the crude oil marketing portfolio with the 
intent to generate profits from short-term market differ-
ences. Any accepted risk will be from small differences in 
contract terms, index risk, or credit risk. Any risk that the 
Company identifies will be managed and mitigated 
within the guidelines stipulated in the BHCRPP. 

The Company’s crude oil marketing operations had 
historically fallen under the purview of EITF 98-10 and 
as such, all crude oil contracts entered into on or before 
October 25, 2002, had been accounted for under mark-
to-market accounting. The net gains or losses have been 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

recorded as Operating revenues in the accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Income. With the adoption  
of EITF 02-3, the contracts entered into at the Company’s 
crude oil marketing operations either do not meet the 
definition of derivatives under SFAS 133 or have been 
exempted from mark-to-market accounting as normal 
purchase or normal sales contracts as allowed by SFAS 
133. Accordingly, none of these contracts entered into 
after October 25, 2002 are marked-to-market. 

The contract or notional amounts and terms of our crude 
oil contracts at December 31, are set forth below: 

 2004 2003 
 
 
(thousands of barrels) 

 
Notional 
Amounts 

Maximum 
Term 

in Years 

 
Notional 
Amounts 

Maximum 
Term 

in Years 
Crude oil purchased 1,669 1.0 2,688 0.5 
Crude oil sold 1,651 1.0 2,253 0.5 
 
As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, all of the Company’s 
crude oil marketing contracts are accounted for under the 
accrual method of accounting. 
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December 31, 2004 Notional 

 
 

Maximum   
Terms in 

Years 
Current 
Assets 

Non- 
current 
Assets 

Current 
Liabilities 

Non- 
current 

Liabilities 

Pre-tax 
Accumulated 

Other 
Comprehensive
Income (Loss) 

 
 
 

Earnings 
(Loss) 

Crude oil swaps 360,000 1.00 $         - $ 152 $ 3,112 $     - $ (2,886) $  (74) 
Natural gas swaps 3,810,000 0.50 1,710 155 493 - 1,372 - 
   $ 1,710 $ 307 $ 3,605 $     - $ (1,514) $  (74) 
         
December 31, 2003         
         
Crude oil swaps 360,000 1.00 $        - $     - $ 1,445 $     - $ (1,384) $  (61) 
Natural gas swaps 4,830,000 1.25 172 - 1,611 25 (1,462) (2) 
   $   172 $     - $ 3,056 $  25 $ (2,846) $  (63) 

* Crude in bbls, gas in MMbtus. 
 
Most of the Company’s crude oil and natural gas hedges are highly effective, resulting in very little earnings impact prior 
to realization. The Company estimates a portion of the unrealized earnings gains or losses currently recorded in 
accumulated other comprehensive income will be realized in earnings during 2005. Based on December 31, 2004 market 
prices, a $1.8 million loss will be realized and reported in earnings during 2005. These estimated realized losses for 2005 
were calculated using December 31, 2004 market prices. Estimated and actual realized losses will likely change during 
2005 as market prices change. 

Oil and Gas Exploration and Production 
The Company produces natural gas and crude oil through its exploration and production activities. These natural 
“long” positions, or unhedged open positions, introduce commodity price risk and variability in its cash flows. The 
Company employs risk management methods to mitigate this commodity price risk and preserve cash flows. The 
Company has adopted guidelines covering hedging for its natural gas and crude oil production. These guidelines have 
been approved by the Company’s Executive Risk Committee, and are routinely reviewed by its Board of Directors. 

To mitigate commodity price risk and preserve cash flows, over-the-counter swaps and options are used. These 
derivative instruments fall under the purview of SFAS 133 and the Company elects to utilize hedge accounting as 
allowed under this Statement. 

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had a portfolio of swaps to hedge portions of its crude oil and 
natural gas production. These transactions were previously identified as cash flow hedges, properly documented and 
initially met prospective effectiveness testing. At year-end, these transactions met retrospective effectiveness testing 
criteria and retained their cash flow hedge status. 

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the derivatives were marked to fair value and were recorded as Derivative assets or 
Derivative liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The effective portion of the gain or loss on these derivatives 
was reported in other comprehensive income and the ineffective portion was reported in earnings. 

On December 31, 2004 and 2003 the Company had the following swaps and related balances (in thousands): 
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Power Generation 
The Company has a portfolio of natural gas fueled 
generation assets located throughout several western 
states. Most of these generation assets are locked into 
long-term tolling contracts with third parties whereby 
any commodity price risk is transferred to the third 
party. However, we do have some natural gas fueled 
generation assets under long-term contracts and a few 
merchant plants that do possess market risk for fuel 
purchases.  

It is the Company’s policy that fuel risk, to the extent 
possible, be hedged. Since the Company is “long” 
natural gas in its exploration and production company,  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

the Company looks at its enterprise wide natural gas 
market risk when hedging at the subsidiary level. 
Therefore, the Company attempts to hedge only enter-
prise wide “long” or “short” positions. 

A potential risk related to power sales is the price risk 
arising from the sale of wholesale power that exceeds our 
generating capacity. These short positions can arise from 
unplanned plant outages or from unanticipated load 
demands. To control such risk, the Company restricts 
wholesale off-system sales to amounts by which the 
Company’s anticipated generating capabilities exceed its 
anticipated load requirements plus a required reserve 
margin. 
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December 31, 2004 Notional 

Weighted 
Average 

Fixed 
Interest 
Rate 

Maximum   
Terms in Years

Current 
Assets 

Non- 
current 
Assets 

Current 
Liabilities 

Non- 
current 

Liabilities 

Pre-tax 
Accumulated 

Other 
Comprehensive
Income (Loss) 

Swaps on project financing $113,000 4.22% 1.75 $    60 $    - $ 1,226 $    200 $ (1,366) 
         
December 31, 2003         
Swaps on project financing $113,000 4.48% 2.75 $ 256 $    - $ 3,247 $ 1,931 $ (4,922) 
Swaps on corporate debt 25,000 5.28% 0.25 - - 169 - (169) 
 $138,000   $ 256 $    - $ 3,416 $ 1,931 $ (5,091) 
 
The Company anticipates a portion of unrealized losses recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income will be 
realized as increased interest expense in 2005. Based on December 31, 2004 market interest rates, $1.2 million will be  
realized as additional interest expense during 2005. Estimated and realized amounts will likely change during 2005 as  
market interest rates change. 

At December 31, 2004, the Company had $366.6 million of outstanding, floating-rate debt of which $253.6 million was 
not offset with interest rate swap transactions that effectively convert the debt to a fixed rate. A 100 basis point increase in 
interest rates would cause annual interest expense to increase $2.5 million. 
 
During 2003 and 2002, the Company entered into treasury locks to hedge the risk of interest rate movement between the 
hedge date and the expected pricing date for a portion of certain of the Company’s debt offerings during those periods. 
These swaps terminated and cash-settled resulting in a $5.8 million loss. These swaps were designated as cash flow hedges, 
and accordingly, the resulting loss will remain in “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet and be amortized into earnings as additional interest expense over the life of the related long-term financings. 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
The Company engages in activities to manage risks associated with changes in interest rates. The Company has entered 
into floating-to-fixed interest rate swap agreements to reduce its exposure to interest rate fluctuations associated with its 
floating rate debt obligations. At December 31, 2004, these hedges met effectiveness testing criteria and retained their cash 
flow hedge status. At December 31, 2004, the Company had $113.0 million of notional amount floating-to-fixed interest 
rate swaps, having a maximum term of 1.75 years and a fair value of $(1.4) million. These hedges are substantially effective 
and any ineffectiveness was immaterial.  

On December 31, 2004 and 2003 the Company’s interest rate swaps and related balances were as follows (in thousands): 
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE CONTRACTS 

The Company’s gas marketing subsidiary conducts its 
business in the United States as well as western Canada. 
Transactions in Canada are generally transacted in 
Canadian dollars and create exchange rate risk for the 
Company. To mitigate this risk, the Company enters 
into forward currency exchange contracts to offset 
earning volatility from changes in exchange rates between 
the Canadian and United States dollars. At December 
31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had outstanding 
forward exchange contracts to sell approximately  
$38.0 million and $0 Canadian dollars, respectively.  
At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company also  
had outstanding forward exchange contracts to purchase 
approximately $10.8 million and $3.0 million Canadian 
dollars, respectively. These contracts had a fair value of 
$(1.0) million and $0.1 million at December 31, 2004 
and 2003, respectively, and have been recorded as Derivative 
Assets/Liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. All forward exchange contracts 
outstanding at December 31, 2004 settle by April 2005. 

CREDIT RISK 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss resulting from non-
performance of contractual obligations by a 
counterparty. The Company adopted the Black Hills 
Corporation Credit Policy (BHCCP) that establishes 
guidelines, controls, and limits to manage and mitigate 
credit risk within risk tolerances established by the Board 
of Directors. In addition, the Company has an Executive 
Credit Committee composed of senior executives that 
meets on a regular basis to review the Company’s credit 
activities and monitor compliance with the policies 
adopted by the Company.  

For energy marketing, production, and generation 
activities, the Company mitigates its credit exposure by 
attempting to conduct its business with investment 
grade companies, setting tenor and credit limits 
commensurate with counterparty financial strength, 
obtaining netting agreements, and securing credit 
exposure with less creditworthy counterparties through 
parental guarantees, prepayments, letters of credit, and 
asset security agreements.  

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its 
customers and adjusts credit limits based upon payment 
history and the customer’s current creditworthiness, as 
determined by review of their current credit information. 
The Company maintains a provision for estimated credit 
losses based upon historical experience and any specific 
customer collection issue that is identified. 

At the end of the year, the Company’s credit exposure 
(exclusive of retail customers of our regulated utility and 
 

communications segment) was concentrated with invest-
ment grade companies. Approximately 74 percent of the 
credit exposure was with investment grade companies. 
For the 26 percent credit exposure with non-investment 
grade rated counterparties, approximately 91 percent of 
this exposure was supported through letters of credit, 
prepayments, parental guarantees and asset liens. 

 Investments in Associated Companies 
 
Included in Investments on the Consolidated 

Balance Sheets are the following investments that have 
been recorded on the equity method of accounting: 

 A 12.6 percent, 6.9 percent and 5.3 percent interest in 
Energy Investors Fund, L.P., Energy Investors Fund 
II, L.P., and Project Finance Fund III, L.P., 
respectively, which in turn have investments in 
numerous electric generating facilities in the United 
States and elsewhere. The Company has a carrying 
amount in the investment of $10.3 million and $13.8 
million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, 
which includes $1.9 million that represents the cost of 
the investment over the underlying net assets of the 
funds. As of, and for the year ended December 31, 
2004, the funds had assets of $130.5 million, liabilities 
of $0.3 million and net income of $6.0 million. As of, 
and for the year ended December 31, 2003, the funds 
had assets of $163.8 million, liabilities of $0.4 million 
and net income of $5.0 million. 
 
Included in “Equity in earnings of unconsolidated 
subsidiaries” on the 2004, 2003 and 2002 Consolidated 
Statements of Income is approximately $0.3 million, 
$3.1 million and $0, respectively, related to the appli-
cation of the provisions of the AICPA Audit and 
Accounting Guide, “Audits of Investment Companies,” 
by the funds in which the Company invests. This 
guidance among other things requires investments 
held by investment companies to be stated at fair value.  

 A 50 percent interest in two natural gas-fired 
cogeneration facilities located in Rupert and Glenns 
Ferry, Idaho. The Company’s carrying amount in the 
investment is $3.6 million and $3.7 million as of 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, which 
includes $0.6 million that represents the cost of the 
investment over the value of the underlying net assets 
of the projects. As of, and for the year ended 
December 31, 2004, these projects had assets of  
$19.8 million, liabilities of $12.3 million and net loss 
of $0.3 million. As of, and for the year ended 
December 31, 2003, these projects had assets of  
$23.9 million, liabilities of $16.0 million and net 
income of $0.8 million. 
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 4 Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment at December 31, consisted of the following (in thousands): 

Regulated    
  

2004 
 

2003 
Lives 

(in years) 
Electric plant:    

Production $ 320,483 $ 316,544  25-58 
Transmission* 83,488 122,640  35-50 
Distribution 198,583 150,748  20-40 
General 30,658 29,857  7-40 

Total electric plant 633,212 619,789  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 232,401 212,041  

Electric plant net of accumulated depreciation and amortization 400,811 407,748  
Construction work in progress 4,066 3,060  

Net electric plant $ 404,877 $ 410,808  
* As part of the Common Use Transmission Open-Access Transmission Tariff FERC filing that was originally made in 2003, the majority of 69KV lines and 

substation costs were reclassified from Transmission to Distribution assets. 
 
 
 

 
 
Non-regulated 2004 
  

Property,  
Plant and 
Equipment 

 
Less 

Accumulated 
Depreciation 

Property, Plant and 
Equipment Net of 

Accumulated 
Depreciation 

 
Construction  

Work in  
Progress 

 
Net Property,  

Plant and 
Equipment 

 
 

Lives 
(in years) 

Coal mining $     72,846 $   36,922 $    35,924 $    521 $     36,445     3-39 
Oil & gas 259,695 81,165 178,530 - 178,530     3-40 
Energy marketing 
   and transportation 

 
27,517 

 
3,344 

 
24,173 

 
942 

 
25,115 

 
    3-40 

Power generation 791,275 112,124 679,151 1,110 680,261     3-40 
Communications 160,775 56,547 104,228 4,576 108,804     3-31.5 
Other 6,633 2,884 3,749 7,951 11,700     5-7 
 $ 1,318,741 $ 292,986 $ 1,025,755 $ 15,100 $ 1,040,855  
 
 
 2003 
  

Property,  
Plant and 
Equipment 

 
Less 

Accumulated 
Depreciation 

Property, Plant and 
Equipment Net of 

Accumulated 
Depreciation 

 
Construction  

Work in  
Progress 

 
Net Property,  

Plant and 
Equipment 

 
 

Lives 
(in years) 

Coal mining $     65,932 $   34,555 $     31,377 $   6,353 $     37,730     3-39 
Oil & gas 205,137 65,756 139,381 - 139,381     3-40 
Energy marketing 
   and transportation 

 
27,456 

 
2,190 

 
25,266 

 
382 

 
25,648 

 
    3-40 

Power generation 786,930 81,095 705,835 4,754 710,589     3-40 
Communications 159,534 43,930 115,604 - 115,604     3-31.5 
Other 3,075 707 2,368 143 2,511     5-7 
 $ 1,248,064 $ 228,233 $ 1,019,831 $ 11,632 $ 1,031,463  
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  Jointly Owned Facilities 
   The Company’s subsidiary, Black Hills Power  
   (BHP), owns a 20 percent interest and PacifiCorp 

owns an 80 percent interest in the Wyodak Plant (Plant), 
a 362 megawatt coal-fired electric generating station 
located in Campbell County, Wyoming. PacifiCorp is 
the operator of the Plant. BHP receives 20 percent of the 
Plant’s capacity and is committed to pay 20 percent of its 
additions, replacements and operating and maintenance 
expenses. As of December 31, 2004, BHP’s investment 
in the Plant included $73.4 million in electric plant and 
$34.5 million in accumulated depreciation, and is included 
in the corresponding captions in the accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. BHP’s share of direct 
expenses of the Plant was $6.0 million, $5.8 million and 
$5.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 
2003 and 2002, respectively, and is included in the 
corresponding categories of operating expenses in the 
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.  
As discussed in Note 21, the Company’s coal mining 
subsidiary, Wyodak Resources, supplies coal to the Plant 
under an agreement expiring in 2022. This coal supply 
agreement is collateralized by a mortgage on and a security 
interest in some of Wyodak Resources’ coal reserves. 
Under the coal supply agreement, PacifiCorp is obligated 
to purchase a minimum of 1.5 million tons of coal each 
year of the contract term, subject to adjustment for planned 
outages. Wyodak Resources’ sales to the Plant were 
$16.2 million, $18.7 million and $19.0 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively. 

BHP also owns a 35 percent interest and Basin Electric 
Power Cooperative owns a 65 percent interest in the 
Converter Station Site and South Rapid City Inter-
connection (the transmission tie), an AC-DC-AC 
transmission tie placed into service in the fourth quarter 
of 2003. The transmission tie provides an interconnection 
between the Western and Eastern transmission grids, 
which provides the Company with access to both the 
Western Electricity Coordinating Council (WECC) 
region and the Mid-Continent Area Power Pool, or 
“MAPP” region. The total transfer capacity of the tie  
is 400 megawatts – 200 megawatts West to East and  
200 megawatts from East to West. BHP is committed  
to pay 35 percent of the additions, replacements and 
operating and maintenance expenses. For the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2004, BHP’s share of 
direct expenses was $0.1 million. As of December 31, 
2004, BHP’s investment in the transmission tie was 
$19.7 million.  

The Company, through its subsidiary Black Hills Explor-
ation and Production (BHEP), owns a 44.7 percent non-
operating interest in the Newcastle Gas Plant (Gas Plant); 
a gas processing facility that gathers and processes 
approximately 3,000 MCF/day of gas, primarily from 

the Finn-Shurley Field in Wyoming. The Company 
receives its proportionate share of the Gas Plant’s net 
revenues and is committed to pay its proportionate share 
of additions, replacements and operating and maintenance 
expenses.  As of December 31, 2004, the Company’s 
investment in the Gas Plant included $4.0 million in 
plant and equipment and $3.5 million in accumulated 
depreciation, and is included in the corresponding 
captions in the accompanying Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. The Company’s share of revenues of the Gas 
Plant was $2.5 million, $1.7 million and $1.1 million for 
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively. The Company’s share of direct expenses for 
the Gas Plant were $0.3 million, $0.2 million and  
$0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 
2003 and 2002, respectively. These items are included  
in the corresponding categories of operating revenues 
and expenses in the accompanying Consolidated 
Statements of Income. 

  Variable Interest Entity 
   In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation 
   No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest 

Entities” (FIN 46). In December 2003, the FASB issued 
FIN No. 46 (Revised) (FIN 46-R) to address certain 
FIN 46 implementation issues. The Company’s 
subsidiary, Black Hills Wyoming, has an agreement with 
Wygen Funding, Limited Partnership, an unrelated 
variable interest entity (VIE) to lease the Wygen plant. 
Under the accounting interpretation, as amended, the 
Company consolidated the VIE effective December 31, 
2003. The effect of consolidating the VIE into the 
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 
2003 was an increase in total assets of $129.0 million, of 
which $121.5 million, net of accumulated depreciation 
of $3.0 million, is included in Property, plant and 
equipment and an increase in long-term debt in the 
amount of $128.3 million.  

Prior to the December 31, 2003 consolidation, the 
Company recorded lease expense on the Wygen plant. 
Lease payments began upon completion of the plant in 
February 2003. During the twelve month period ended 
December 31, 2003, lease payments were $2.7 million 
and are included in Operations and maintenance on the 
accompanying 2003 Consolidated Statement of Income. 
The net effect of consolidating the income statement of 
the VIE on December 31, 2003, was to recognize a 
cumulative effect charge for $2.5 million (net of $1.4 mil-
lion of income taxes), which represents the depreciation 
and interest expense which would have been recorded 
had the VIE been consolidated at inception. The net 
effect on current results is to recognize depreciation and 
interest expense in place of recognizing lease expense. 
During the twelve month period ended December 31, 
2004, depreciation expense was $3.4 million and interest 
expense was $3.6 million. 

5 

6



    

68                                                                                                                                                                                     Black Hills Corporation 2004 Annual Report 

  Long-Term Debt  
 

Long-term debt outstanding at December 31 is as 
follows (in thousands): 

 2004 2003 
Senior unsecured notes at 6.5% due 2013 $ 224,756 $ 249,696 
   
First mortgage bonds:   
     8.06% due 2010 30,000 30,000 
     9.49% due 2018 3,970 4,260 
     9.35% due 2021 28,305 29,970 
     8.30% repaid 2004 - 45,000 
     7.23% due 2032 75,000 75,000 
 137,275 184,230 
Other long-term debt:   
     Pollution control revenue bonds  
         at 6.7% due 2010(a)(b) 

 
- 

 
12,300 

     Pollution control revenue bonds  
          at 4.8% due 2014(b)  

 
6,450 

 
- 

     Pollution control revenue bonds  
          at 7.5% due 2024(b)  

 
- 

 
12,200 

     Pollution control revenue bonds  
         at 5.35% due 2024(b)  

 
12,200 

 
- 

     GECC Financing at 4.01% due 2010(c)(d) 28,213 30,214 
     Other 5,362 6,253 
 52,225 60,967 
Project financing floating rate debt(d):   
     Fountain Valley project at 4.31%  
          due 2006 

 
82,661 

 
132,328 

     Valmont and Arapahoe at 3.56%  
          due 2007 

 
124,565 

 
130,632 

     Wygen project at 2.87% due 2006 111,100 111,100 
     Wygen project at 2.87% due 2008 17,165 17,165 
      335,491 391,225 
   
Total long-term debt 749,747 886,118 
Less current maturities (16,166) (17,659) 
Net long-term debt $ 733,581 $ 868,459 
(a) In September 2004, the Company’s electric utility called $5.9 million of 

pollution control revenue bonds without converting into another form of 
long-term debt. 

(b) In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company’s electric utility called and 
refinanced $18.7 million of pollution control revenue bonds. 

(c) Floating rate debt, 86 percent secured by Gillette combustion turbine 
and 14 percent secured by a spare LM6000 turbine.  

(d) Interest rates are presented as of December 31, 2004. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

At December 31, 2004, approximately 31 percent of the 
Company’s $366.6 million variable rate debt balance has 
been hedged with interest rate swaps moving the floating 
rates to fixed rates with a weighted average interest rate 
of 4.22 percent (see Note 2). 

Substantially all of the Company’s utility property is 
subject to the lien of the indenture securing its first 
mortgage bonds. First mortgage bonds of the Company 
may be issued in amounts limited by property, earnings 
and other provisions of the mortgage indentures. 

Project financing debt is debt collateralized by a 
mortgage on each respective project’s land and facilities, 
leases and rights, including rights to receive payments 
under long-term purchase power contracts. The Fountain 
Valley, Valmont and Arapahoe project debt is non-recourse 
debt. The Wygen project debt is additionally guaranteed 
by the Company (see Note 22). 

Certain debt instruments of the Company and its subsidi-
aries contain restrictions and covenants, all of which the 
Company and its subsidiaries were in compliance with at 
December 31, 2004. Also, certain of the subsidiaries’ 
debt agreements provide that approximately $17.7 million 
of the subsidiaries’ cash balance at December 31, 2004 
may not be distributed to the parent company. 

Scheduled maturities of long-term debt for the next five 
years are: $16.2 million in 2005, $200.4 million in 2006, 
$115.5 million in 2007, $21.2 million in 2008 and  
$4.1 million in 2009. 

 

7 
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 Notes Payable 
   

The Company has committed lines of credit with  
various banks totaling $350.0 million at December 31, 
2004 and $425.0 million at December 31, 2003. At 
December 31, 2004, these lines consist of a $225.0 million 
revolving credit facility, which terminates August 20, 
2006 and a $125.0 million revolving credit facility that 
expires on May 12, 2005. The Company had $24.0 million 
of borrowings and $44.6 million of letters of credit and 
no borrowings and $54.3 million of letters of credit 
issued on the lines at December 31, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. The Company has no compensating balance 
requirements associated with these lines of credit. 

Interest rates under the facility borrowings vary and are 
based, at the option of the Company at the time of the 
loan origination, on either (i) a prime based borrowing 
rate (5.25 percent at December 31, 2004) or (ii) on a 
London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) based 
borrowing rate of LIBOR plus 1.25 percent to LIBOR 
plus 1.3 percent. The one-month LIBOR rate at 
December 31, 2004 was 2.4 percent. In addition to 
interest on outstanding borrowings, the credit facilities 
contain an annual facility fee of from 0.2 percent to  
0.25 percent on the total facility amount, and an annual 
utilization fee of 0.25 percent. 

In addition to the above lines of credit, at December 31, 
2004, Enserco Energy (Enserco) has a $150.0 million 
uncommitted, discretionary line of credit to provide 
support for the purchases of natural gas. The line of  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

credit is secured by all of Enserco’s assets and expires on 
September 30, 2005. The Company has made a $3.0 mil-
lion guarantee to the lender associated with the line of 
credit. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, there were 
outstanding letters of credit issued under the facility of 
$91.7 million and $80.3 million, respectively, with no 
borrowing balances on the facility. 

Black Hills Energy Resources (BHER) has a $25.0 million 
uncommitted, discretionary credit facility at December 
31, 2004. The facility is secured by cash, accounts 
receivable and other assets. The transactional line of 
credit provides credit support for the purchases of crude 
oil of BHER. The facility allows BHER to elect up to 
$40.0 million of available credit via notification to the 
bank at the beginning of each calendar quarter. The 
Company and its other subsidiaries provide no guaran-
tees to the lender. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, 
BHER had letters of credit outstanding of $8.9 million 
and $7.9 million, respectively, with no borrowing 
balances on the facility. 

The credit facilities and notes payable contain certain 
restrictive covenants including, among others, the main-
tenance of a fixed charge coverage ratio, a recourse debt-
to-capitalization ratio and a total level of equity. The 
Company and its subsidiaries had complied with all the 
covenants at December 31, 2004. These facilities do not 
contain default provisions pertaining to credit rating status. 

The Company has entered into floating-to-fixed interest 
rate swaps to hedge a portion of its exposure to interest 
rate fluctuations with the above floating rate obligations. 
See Note 2 for further details. 
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9  Asset Retirement Obligations 

SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (SFAS 143) provides accounting and disclosure 
requirements for retirement obligations associated with long-lived assets and was effective January 1, 2003. SFAS 143 
requires that the present value of retirement costs for which the Company has a legal obligation be recorded as liabilities 
with an equivalent amount added to the asset cost and depreciated over an appropriate period. The liability is then accreted 
over time by applying an interest method of allocation to the liability. The Company has identified legal retirement 
obligations related to plugging and abandonment of natural gas and oil wells in our Oil and Gas segment and reclamation 
of our coal mining sites in our Coal mining segment. Cumulative accretion and accumulated depreciation has been 
recognized for the time period from the date the liability would have been recognized had the provisions of SFAS 143  
been in effect, to the date of its adoption. Upon adoption, the Company recorded a $2.9 million transition adjustment to 
properly reflect its asset retirement obligations in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 143. The transition adjustment 
represents the current estimated fair value of the Company’s obligation to plug its oil and gas wells at the time of 
abandonment and an adjustment to its liability for reclaiming its coal mining sites following completion of mining activity. 

The cumulative effect on earnings of adopting SFAS 143 was a benefit of approximately $0.2 million representing the 
cumulative amounts of depreciation and changes in the asset retirement obligation due to the passage of time for historical 
accounting periods. The cumulative effect of initially applying SFAS 143 was recognized as a change in accounting 
principle. 

The following table presents the details of the Company’s asset retirement obligations which are included on the 
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets in “Other” under “Deferred credits and other liabilities” (in thousands): 

 
 Balance at 

12/31/03 
Liabilities 
Incurred 

Liabilities 
Settled 

 
Accretion 

Cash Flow 
Revisions 

Balance at 
12/31/04 

Oil and Gas $   7,233 $ 157 $          - $    552 $        - $   7,942 
Mining 15,752 549 (1,102) 668 - 15,867 
Total $ 22,985 $ 706 $ (1,102) $ 1,220 $        - $ 23,809 
 

10 Common Stock  

During 2003, the Company completed a public offering of its common stock through which 4.6 million shares were sold at 
$27 per share. Net proceeds were approximately $118 million after commissions and expenses. The proceeds were used to 
pay off a $50 million credit facility and to repay $68 million under the Company’s 364-day revolving credit facility, which 
expired on August 26, 2003. In addition, in 2003 the Company issued 481,509 shares and 45,000 warrants to purchase 
common stock in the acquisition of Mallon Resources Corporation (see Note 24). 

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS 
The Company has several employee equity compensation plans, which allow for the granting of stock, restricted stock, 
restricted stock units, stock options, performance shares, and an employee stock purchase plan (ESPP). The Company 
accounts for such plans under APB No. 25, and has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS 123. For a discussion 
of the effect on earnings and earnings per common share for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, if the 
Company had applied SFAS 123 and recognized compensation expense for all outstanding and unvested stock options 
based on the fair value at the date of grant (see Note 1). 

 



  

Black Hills Corporation 2004 Annual Report                                                                                                                                                                                       71 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Company has granted options with an option exercise price equal to the fair market value of the stock on the day of 
the grant. The Company has 318,330 shares available to grant at December 31, 2004. The options granted vest one-third 
each year for three years and expire after ten years from the grant date. 

A summary of the status of the stock option plans at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, and changes during the years 
then ended are as follows: 

 2004 2003 2002 
  Weighted  Weighted  Weighted 
  Average  Average  Average 
  Exercise  Exercise  Exercise 
 Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price 
       
Balance at beginning of year 1,211,122 $ 27.66 1,042,989 $ 27.68 992,872 $ 26.55 
Granted 203,000 29.81 289,665 28.01 211,985 30.04 
Forfeited (53,154) 31.54 (66,153) 34.31 (34,838) 33.52 
Exercised (71,099) 22.12 (55,379) 22.00 (127,030) 21.20 
Balance at end of year 1,289,869 $ 28.14 1,211,122 $ 27.66 1,042,989 $ 27.68 
Exercisable at end of year 885,894 $ 27.68 747,482 $ 26.45 566,654 $ 25.36 
 
Details of outstanding options at December 31, 2004 are as follows: 

 
Option  

Exercise Prices 

 
Shares  

Outstanding 

Weighted 
 Average  

Exercise Price 

Weighted Average 
Remaining  

Contractual Life 

 
Shares  

Exercisable 

 
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price 
$16.67 to $22.00 324,520 $ 21.57 4.8 years 324,520 $ 21.57 
$22.01 to $27.00 204,005 $ 24.32 6.0 years 174,656 $ 24.18 
$27.01 to $32.00 544,669 $ 29.14 8.5 years 200,336 $ 29.36 
$32.01 to $37.00 109,175 $ 34.42 7.3 years 79,482 $ 34.39 
$37.01 to $38.68 70,500 $ 37.74 6.0 years 69,900 $ 37.74 
$55.36 37,000 $ 55.36 6.4 years 37,000 $ 55.36 
 

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The weighted 
average fair value of the options granted and the assumptions used to estimate the fair value of options are as follows: 

 2004 2003 2002 
    
Weighted average fair value of options at grant date $6.90 $2.74 $6.63 
Weighted average risk-free interest rate 3.82% 3.09% 4.17% 
Weighted average expected price volatility 43.52% 46.80% 39.09% 
Weighted average expected dividend yield 4.16% 4.28% 3.86% 
Expected life in years 7 7 7 
 
The Company maintains the ESPP under which it sells shares to employees at 90 percent of the stock’s market price on the 
offering date. The Company issued 15,644, 24,963 and 17,496 shares of common stock under the ESPP in 2004, 2003 
and 2002, respectively. At December 31, 2004, 119,705 shares are reserved and available for issuance under the ESPP. 

During 2003 and 2001, the Company issued a total of 12,575 common shares and 36,550 common shares, respectively, as 
a stock bonus award to its non-officer employees. The bonuses were grossed up to cover related employee taxes. The total 
pre-tax compensation charge recognized by the Company was $0.3 million and $0.4 million in 2003 and 2002, which was 
based on the market value of the stock on the grant date. 

The Company issued 16,019 and 45,123 restricted stock units in 2004 and 2003, respectively, and 34,828, 24,643 and 
26,047 restricted common shares, to certain officers in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The shares carry a restriction on 
the officer’s ability to sell the shares until the shares vest. The shares substantially vest one-third per year over three years, 
contingent on continued employment. Compensation cost related to the awards is recognized over the vesting period. The 
Company recognized pre-tax compensation cost related to the awards of $1.7 million in 2004, $0.9 million in 2003 and 
$0.4 million in 2002. During 2003, the Company also issued 11,215 shares of common stock for the conversion of 
restricted stock units. 
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On March 1, 2004, certain officers of the Company and its subsidiaries were named participants in a performance share 
award plan. Entitlement to performance shares is based on the Company’s total shareholder return over designated 
performance periods as measured against a selected peer group. In addition, the Company’s stock price must also increase 
during the performance periods. Target grants of performance shares were made for the following performance periods: 

 
Grant Date 

 
Performance Period 

Total 
Target Grant of Shares 

March 1, 2004 March 1, 2004-December 31, 2005 15,458 
March 1, 2004 March 1, 2004-December 31, 2006 31,384 

 
Participants may earn additional performance shares if the Company’s total shareholder return exceeds the 50th percentile 
of the selected peer group. The final value of the performance shares may vary according to the number of shares of common 
stock that are ultimately granted based upon the performance criteria. Compensation expense recognized for the performance 
share awards for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $0.5 million. The performance awards are paid in 50 percent cash 
and 50 percent common stock. 

The Company issued 10,310, 3,075 and 38,749 shares of common stock in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively to certain 
key employees under the Short-term Annual Incentive Plan. The weighted average grant date fair value of the stock awards 
was $31.10, $23.10, and $28.60, respectively. 

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT AND STOCK PURCHASE PLAN 
The Company has a Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan under which shareholders may purchase additional 
shares of common stock through dividend reinvestment and/or optional cash payments at 100 percent of the recent 
average market price. The Company has the option of issuing new shares or purchasing the shares on the open market.  
The Company issued 22,934 new shares at a weighted average price of $30.41 and 71,727 open market shares at a weighted 
average price of $29.45 in 2004; 94,346 new shares in 2003 at a weighted average price of $28.90; and 66,882 new shares 
in 2002 at a weighted average price of $28.65. At December 31, 2004, 249,339 shares of unissued common stock were 
available for future offering under the Plan. 

DIVIDEND RESTRICTIONS 
Some of the Company’s credit facilities contain restrictions on the payment of cash dividends under a circumstance of 
default or event default. An event of default would be deemed to have occurred if the Company did not meet the financial 
covenant requirements for the respective facility. The most restrictive financial covenants include the following: fixed charge 
coverage ratio of not less than 1.5 to 1.0; a recourse leverage ratio not to exceed 0.65 to 1.00; and a minimum consolidated 
net worth of $550 million plus 50 percent of our aggregate consolidated net income since April 1, 2004. As of December 
31, 2004, we were in compliance with the above covenants. In addition, under PUHCA, unless there is an order from the 
SEC, a holding company or any subsidiary may only declare and pay dividends out of retained earnings. As part of the order 
approving our public utility holding company, we agreed that the consolidated company and the utility subsidiaries will 
maintain at least a 30 percent common equity ratio. Through December 31, 2007, our non-utility subsidiaries are also 
allowed to pay dividends out of capital and unearned surplus if (i) they have received excess cash as a result of the sale of 
assets, (ii) they have engaged in a restructuring or reorganization and/or (iii) they are returning capital to an associate company. 

TREASURY SHARES ACQUIRED 
The Company acquired 4,005 and 4,400 shares of treasury stock related to a forfeiture of unvested restricted stock in 2004 
and 2003, respectively, and 7,508, 3,119 and 696 shares related to the share withholding provisions of the restricted stock 
plan for the payment of taxes associated with the vesting of restricted shares in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.  
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 Preferred Stock 
 
 

The Company has 25,000,000 authorized shares of no-
par preferred stock of which 21,500 shares have been 
designated as the No Par Preferred Stock, Series 2000-A. 
As of December 31, 2004, 7,771 shares of the Series 
2000-A has been issued, of which 6,839 shares were 
outstanding. During 2004, 932 shares of the Series 
2000-A Preferred Stock were converted into 26,628 
shares of common stock at the conversion price of 
$35.00 per share. 

The Company did not issue any preferred shares in 2004 
or 2002, but issued 2,594 shares in 2003 in accordance 
with the Indeck Capital acquisition “earn-out” provisions 
(see Note 21). The preferred shares issued are non-
voting, cumulative, no par shares with a dividend rate 
equal to 1 percent per annum per share, computed on 
the basis of $1,000 per share plus an amount equal to 
any dividend declared payable with respect to the 
common stock, multiplied by the number of shares of 
common stock into which each share of preferred stock 
is convertible. The record and payment dates are the 
same as the record and payment dates with respect to the 
payment of dividends on common stock. No dividend 
may be declared or paid with respect to common stock 
unless such a dividend is declared and paid with respect 
to the preferred stock. The preferred stock is senior to 
the common stock in liquidation events. 

The Company may redeem the preferred stock in whole 
or in part, at any time solely at its option. The 
redemption price per share for the preferred stock is 
$1,000 per share plus all accrued and unpaid dividends. 
Each share of the preferred stock is convertible at the 
option of the holder into common stock at any time 
prior to July 7, 2005 and is automatically converted into 
common stock on July 7, 2005. Each share of preferred 
stock is convertible into 28.57 common shares. If the 
Company delivers a notice of redemption, the 
conversion price is adjusted equal to the lesser of (i) the 
conversion price then in effect, and (ii) the current 
market price on the redemption notice date. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Fair Value of  
  Financial Instruments 
 

The estimated fair values of the Company’s financial 
instruments are as follows (in thousands): 

 2004 2003 
 Carrying 

Amount 
Fair  

Value 
Carrying 
Amount 

Fair  
Value 

Cash and cash equivalents $  64,506 $  64,506 $ 172,759  $ 172,759
Restricted cash $    3,069 $    3,069 $     1,350 $     1,350
Derivative financial 

instruments – assets 
 

$  47,977 
 

$  47,977 $   26,804 $   26,804
Derivative financial 

instruments – liabilities 
 

$  43,206 
 

$  43,206 $   32,967 $   32,967
Notes payable $  24,000 $  24,000 $             - $             -
Long-term debt, including 

current maturities 
 

$749,747 
 

$788,212 $ 886,118 $ 924,879
 
The following methods and assumptions were used to 
estimate the fair value of each class of the Company’s 
financial instruments. 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 

RESTRICTED CASH 
The carrying amount approximates fair value due to the 
short maturity of these instruments. 

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
These instruments are carried at fair value. Descriptions 
of the various instruments the Company uses and the 
valuation method employed are available in Note 2. 

NOTES PAYABLE 
The carrying amount approximates fair value due to their 
variable interest rates with short reset periods. 

LONG-TERM DEBT 
The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt is 
estimated based on quoted market rates for debt 
instruments having similar maturities and similar debt 
ratings. The Company’s outstanding first mortgage 
bonds are either currently not callable or are subject to 
make-whole provisions which would eliminate any 
economic benefits for the Company to call and refinance 
the bonds. 
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13  Contract Termination Revenue 

During the third quarter of 2003, the Company completed 
a transaction terminating a fifteen year contract with 
Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC, a subsidiary 
of Allegheny Energy, Inc., for capacity and energy at the 
Company’s Las Vegas II power plant. The Company 
received a cash payment of $114.0 million, which is 
recorded as “Contract termination revenue” in the 
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. 
Operating results from the Las Vegas II power plant  
are included in the Power Generation segment. 

14  Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

As a result of the contract termination discussed in Note 
13, the Company assessed the recoverability of the 
carrying value of the Las Vegas II facility. The carrying 
value of the assets tested for impairment was $237.2 
million. This assessment resulted in an impairment 
charge of $117.2 million to write down the related 
Property, plant and equipment by $83.1 million, net of 
accumulated depreciation of $5.1 million, and intangible 
assets by $34.1 million, net of accumulated amortization 
of $1.1 million. This charge reflects the amount by 
which the carrying value of the facility exceeded its 
estimated fair value determined by its estimated future 
discounted cash flows. This charge is included as a 
component of “Operating expenses” on the 
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. 
Operating results from the Las Vegas II power plant are 
included in the Power Generation segment. In addition 
to the above asset impairment, certain long-lived assets 
accounted for as discontinued operations have incurred 
impairment charges (see Note 19). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15  Gain on Sale of Assets 

On March 1, 2004, the Company’s subsidiary, Daksoft, 
Inc., sold assets used in its campground reservation 
system. The Company recorded a pre-tax gain on the sale 
of the assets of $1.0 million, which is included as an 
offset to Operating expenses, Administrative and general 
on the accompanying Consolidated Statement of 
Income. Prior to this sale, for segment reporting (see 
Note 23) results of operations for Daksoft were included 
in the Communications segment. As Daksoft now 
primarily provides information technology support to 
the Company, its results are included in “Corporate” for 
segment reporting. 

16  Operating Leases 

The Company has entered into lease agreements relating 
to certain power plant land leases, office facility leases 
and storage agreements. 

The following is a schedule of future minimum 
payments required under the operating lease agreements 
(in thousands): 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2005 $   2,745 
2006 1,552 
2007 1,379 
2008 1,400 
2009 1,255 
Thereafter 10,874 

 $ 19,205 
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17  Income Taxes 

Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations 
for the years indicated was: 

(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 
Current:    
   Federal $     223 $ 35,414 $    (3,78) 
   State (2,705) 5,235 (1,494) 
 (2,482) 40,649 (5,280) 
Deferred:       
   Federal 30,580 (6,625) 30,128 
   State (1,115) (4,105) 2,212 
Tax credit amortization (279) (318) (416) 
 $ 26,704 $ 29,601 $26,644 

 
 
The temporary differences, which gave rise to the net 
deferred tax liability, were as follows: 

(in thousands) 
Years ended December 31, 

 
2004 

 
2003 

Deferred tax assets, current:   
   Valuation reserves $   2,235 $    2,824 
   Mining development and oil exploration 377 980 
   Employee benefits 7,799 6,216 
   Items of other comprehensive income 1,680 2,375 
   Other 250 1,586 
 12,341 13,981 
Deferred tax liabilities, current:   
   Prepaid expenses 2,156 1,733 
   Derivative fair value adjustments 188 850 
   Employee benefits 3,608 4,397 
   Items of other comprehensive income 618 160 
   Other 1,534 2,585 
 8,104 9,725 
   
Net deferred tax asset, current $   4,237 $   4,256 
   
Deferred tax assets, non-current:   
   Accelerated depreciation, amortization  
      and other plant-related differences 

 
$      873 

 
$      102 

   Mining development and oil exploration 205 213 
   Employee benefits 817 - 
   Regulatory asset 1,387 1,616 
   Deferred revenue 931 1,148 
   Items of other comprehensive income 1,149 2,147 
   Net operating loss (net of valuation  
      allowance) 

 
4,863 

 
4,927 

   Asset impairment 40,061 41,023 
   Other 8,867 12,436 
 59,153 63,612 
Deferred tax liabilities, non-current:   
   Accelerated depreciation, amortization  
      and other plant-related differences 

 
165,340 

 
135,614 

   Regulatory liability 4,172 4,320 
   Mining development and oil exploration 34,126 20,445 
   Derivative fair value adjustments 110 614 
   Items of other comprehensive income 115 - 
   Other 14,913 27,659 
 218,776 188,652 
   Net deferred tax liability, non-current $ 159,623 $ 125,040 
   Net deferred tax liability $ 155,386 $ 120,784 

 
The following table reconciles the change in the net 
deferred income tax liability from December 31, 2003, 
to December 31, 2004, to deferred income tax expense: 

(in thousands) 2004 
Net change in deferred income tax liability 

from the preceding table 
 

$34,602 
Deferred taxes associated with 2003  

Federal Income Tax Return True-up 
primarily related to  prepaid expenses  
and plant-related differences 

 
 
 

(3,442) 
Deferred taxes associated with other 

comprehensive loss 
 

(2,266) 
Deferred taxes related to net operating loss 

acquisitions 
 

407 
Other (115) 
Deferred income tax expense for the period $29,186 

 

The effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory 
rate for the years ended December 31, as follows: 

   2004   2003   2002 
Federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 
State income tax (3.2) 0.8 0.5 
Amortization of excess deferred 

and investment tax credits 
 

(0.5) 
 

(0.5) 
 

(0.6) 
Percentage depletion  

in excess of cost 
 

(0.8) 
 

(0.9) 
 

(0.7) 
Research and  

development credit 
 

- 
 

(0.6) 
 

(1.5) 
Other   1.3   0.6 (1.3) 
 31.8% 34.4% 31.4% 

 
At December 31, 2004, the Company had the following 
net operating loss carryforwards, which were acquired as 
part of the Mallon acquisition (in thousands): 

Net Operating Loss  
Carryforward 

Expiration  
Year 

$     101  2009 
336  2010 
361  2011 
48  2012 

463  2013 
22,789  2014-2023 

 
As of December 31, 2004, the Company had a valuation 
allowance of $19.2 million against these NOL carry-
forwards. Ultimate usage of these NOLs depends upon 
the Company’s future tax planning and filings. If the 
valuation allowance is reduced due to higher than anticipated 
utilization of the NOLS, the offsetting amount would 
reduce the Company’s financial reporting basis in its 
Mallon property. 
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18 Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

The following table displays the related tax effects 
allocated to each component of Other Comprehensive 
Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31 (in 
thousands): 

 2004 
  

Pre-tax 
Amount 

Tax 
(Expense) 

Benefit 

 
Net-of-tax 
Amount 

Minimum pension liability 
adjustments 

  
$      91 

 
$     (32) 

 
$      59 

Net change in fair value of 
derivatives designated as 
cash flow hedges 

 
 

5,690 

 
  

(2,234) 

 
 

3,456 
Other comprehensive  

income (loss) 
 

$  5,781 
 

 $ (2,266) 
 

$ 3,515 
    
 2003 
  

Pre-tax 
Amount 

Tax 
(Expense) 

Benefit 

 
Net-of-tax 
Amount 

Minimum pension liability 
adjustments 

  
$ 10,293 

 
$ (3,603) 

 
$ 6,690 

Net change in fair value of 
derivatives designated as 
cash flow hedges (net of 
minority interest share of 
$(331)) 

 
 
  
 

(592) 

 
 
 
 

44 

 
 
 
 

(548) 
Reclassification adjustment for 

interest rate swaps designated 
as   cash flow hedges settled 
as part of the hydroelectric 
asset sale and included in net 
income (net of minority 
interest share of ($2,379)) 

 
 
  
 
 
 

6,361 

 
 
  
 
 
 

(2,433) 

 
 
 
 
  
 

3,928 
Other comprehensive  

income (loss) 
 

$ 16,062 
 

$ (5,992) 
 

$ 10,070 
    
 2002 
 Pre-tax 

Amount 
 

Tax Benefit 
Net-of-tax 
Amount 

Minimum pension liability 
adjustments 

 
$ (13,556) 

 
$   4,745 

 
$   (8,811) 

Net change in fair value of 
derivatives designated as 
cash flow hedges (net of 
minority interest share of 
$(164)) 

 
  
 
 

(13,342) 

 
 
 
 

4,703 

 
 
  
 

(8,639) 
Other comprehensive  

income (loss) 
 

$ (26,898) 
 

$   9,448 
 

$ (17,450) 
 

 

 

 

 

19  Discontinued Operations 

The Company accounts for its discontinued operations 
under the provisions of Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the 
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” (SFAS 
144). Accordingly, results of operations and the related 
charges for discontinued operations have been classified 
as “Income from discontinued operations, net of tax” in 
the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. 
Assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations have 
been reclassified and reflected on the accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheets as “Assets of discontinued 
operations” and “Liabilities of discontinued operations.”  
For comparative purposes, all prior periods presented 
have been restated to reflect the reclassifications on a 
consistent basis. 

SALE OF LANDRICA DEVELOPMENT CORP. 
On May 21, 2004, the Company sold its subsidiary, 
Landrica Development Corp. Landrica’s primary assets 
consisted of a coal enhancement plant and land. The 
purchaser made a $0.5 million cash payment to the 
Company and assumed a $2.9 million reclamation 
liability. The sale resulted in a $2.1 million after-tax gain. 
For segment reporting purposes, Landrica was 
previously included in the Coal Mining segment. 

Net income from the discontinued operations at 
December 31, is as follows (in thousands): 

 2004 2003 2002 
Pre-tax (loss) income from 

discontinued operations 
 

$    (40) 
 

$   833 
 

$   704 
Pre-tax gain on disposal 3,208 - - 
Income tax expense (1,120) (319) (263) 
Net income from 

discontinued operations 
 

$ 2,048 
 

$   514 
 

$   441 
 
Assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations are 
as follows (in thousands): 

 December 31,  
2003 

Current assets $      31 
Property, plant and equipment 151 
Investments 500 
Non-current assets - 
Other current liabilities (118) 
Deferred reclamation (2,858) 
Other non-current liabilities (1) 
Net liabilities of discontinued operations $ (2,295) 
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ADOPTION OF PLAN TO SELL  
PEPPERELL PLANT 
During the third quarter of 2003, the Company adopted 
a plan to sell the 40 megawatt gas-fired Pepperell plant, 
which is part of the Power generation segment. The 
Pepperell plant is the Company’s only remaining gener-
ation asset in the Eastern market and management has 
determined that it is a non-strategic asset. In connection 
with the plan to sell, the Company determined that the 
carrying value of the underlying assets exceeded their fair 
value and a charge to operations was required. Consequently, 
in the third quarter of 2003, the Company recorded an 
after-tax charge of approximately $0.6 million. 

The Company’s original plan of sale included an 
expectation that the Pepperell plant would be sold by 
September 2004. While various market circumstances 
prevented a sale by this time, the Company continues to 
actively market the plant, taking actions necessary to 
respond to market changes. Consequently, in the fourth 
quarter of 2004, the Company recorded an additional 
after-tax charge of approximately $0.7 million, which 
represents the difference between the carrying value of 
the assets versus the estimated fair value, less cost to sell. 

For business segment reporting purposes, the Pepperell 
plant results were previously included in the Power 
Generation segment. 

Revenues and net income from the discontinued 
operations during the years ended December 31, are  
as follows: 

(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 
Operating revenues $      120 $   2,152 $   3,572 
Pre-tax income (loss) from 

discontinued operations 
 

$     (972) 
 

$  (1,422) 
 

$  (1,115) 
Pre-tax loss on disposal (1,064) (3,464) - 
Income tax benefit 712 2,979 397 
Net loss from discontinued 

operations 
 

$  (1,324) 
 

$  (1,907) 
 

$    (718) 

Assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations at 
December 31, are as follows: 

(in thousands) 2004 2003 
Current assets $     107 $    249 
Property, plant and equipment - 1,064 
Non-current deferred tax asset 2,952 2,580 
Other current liabilities (167) (86) 
Non-current deferred tax liability (484) (381) 
Net assets of discontinued 

operations 
 

$ 2,408 
 

$ 3,426 
 

 

SALE OF HYDROELECTRIC ASSETS 
On September 30, 2003 the Company sold its seven 
hydroelectric power plants located in Upstate New 
York. The aggregate cash purchase price of approximately 
$186 million was used in part to pay off the remaining 
amount of project-level debt and related interest rate 
swaps associated with these assets, which totaled 
approximately $91 million. The purchasers are affiliates 
of Boralex, Inc., a Canadian corporation, and Boralex 
Power Income Fund, an unincorporated Canadian trust 
of which Boralex owns an interest (collectively the 
Purchaser). The agreements with the Purchaser required 
that the Company deliver 100 percent of the equity 
interests of the entities that owned the facilities and 
required that the Company acquire those minority 
interests which it did not then own, in advance of 
closing. In anticipation of entering into the agreements 
with the Purchaser, on July 8, 2003, the Company 
acquired the equity interests of a third party investor for 
$9.0 million and entered into a definitive agreement to 
acquire the balance of the equity interests from another 
third party investor. For business segment reporting 
purposes, the hydroelectric power plants results were 
previously included in the Power Generation segment. 

Revenues and net income from the discontinued 
operations at December 31, are as follows: 

(in thousands) 2003 2002 
Operating revenues $ 21,800 $ 27,397 
Pre-tax income from 
discontinued operations 

 
$   7,986 

 
$   8,484 

Pre-tax gain on disposal 13,864 - 
Income tax expense (11,355) (3,152) 
Net income from discontinued 

operations 
 

$ 10,495 
 

$   5,332 
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SALE OF COAL MARKETING SUBSIDIARY 
During the second quarter of 2002, the Company 
adopted a plan to dispose of its coal marketing 
subsidiary, Black Hills Coal Network. The sale and 
disposal was finalized in July 2002. In connection with 
the plan of disposal, the Company determined that the 
carrying values of some of the underlying assets exceeded 
their fair values and a charge to operations was required. 

Consequently, in the second quarter of 2002, the Company 
recorded an after-tax charge of approximately $1.0 million, 
which represents the difference between the carrying 
values of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary versus 
their fair values, less cost to sell. In addition, during the 
first quarter of 2002, the Company had a $0.8 million 
(pre-tax) impairment loss of certain intangibles as a result 
of a weak coal market. For business segment reporting 
purposes, the coal marketing business results were        
previously included in the Energy marketing and 
transportation segment. 

Gross margins on energy trading contracts and net income 
from the discontinued operation at December 31, are as 
follows: 

(in thousands) 2003 2002 
Gross margins on energy  

trading contracts 
 

$      - 
 

$     235 
Pre-tax loss from  

discontinued operations 
 

$      - 
 

$ (2,679) 
Pre-tax loss on disposal - (1,588) 
Income tax benefit 834 1,630 
Net income (loss) from 

discontinued operations 
 

$ 834 
 

$ (2,637) 
 

  Employee Benefit Plans  

    
 

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 
The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit 
pension plan (Plan) covering the employees of the 
Company and those of the following subsidiaries, Black 
Hills Power, Wyodak Resources Development Corp., 
Black Hills Exploration and Production and Daksoft 
who meet certain eligibility requirements. The benefits 
are based on years of service and compensation levels 
during the highest five consecutive years of the last ten 
years of service. The Company’s funding policy is in 
accordance with the federal government’s funding 
requirements. The Plan’s assets are held in trust and 
consist primarily of equity securities and cash equivalents. 
The Company uses a September 30 measurement date 
for the Plan. 

Obligations and Funded Status 
Change in benefit obligation: 

(in thousands) 2004 2003 
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year  $61,879 $50,888 
Service cost 1,772 1,293 
Interest cost 3,637 3,351 
Actuarial (gain) loss (237) 2,199 
Discount rate change - 6,414 
Benefits paid (2,291) (2,221) 
Taxable wage rate and cost of living rate change - (45) 
Net increase 2,881 10,991 
Projected benefit obligation at end of year $64,760 $61,879 
 
A reconciliation of the fair value of Plan assets (as of the 
September 30 measurement date) is as follows: 

(in thousands) 2004 2003 
Beginning market value of plan assets $48,797 $32,437 
Benefits paid (2,291) (2,221) 
Investment income 6,276 8,081 
Employer contributions - 10,500 
Ending market value of plan assets $52,782 $48,797 
 
Funding information for the Plan is as follows: 

(in thousands) 2004 2003 
Fair value of plan assets  $52,782 $48,797 
Projected benefit obligation (64,760) (61,879)
Funded status (11,978) (13,082)
   
Unrecognized:   
     Net loss 20,674 24,170 
     Prior service cost 1,377 1,609 
Net asset recognized $10,073 $12,697 
 
Amounts recognized in statement of financial position 
consist of: 

(in thousands) 2004 2003 
Net pension asset $10,073 $12,697 

   
Accumulated benefit obligation $51,690 $48,581 

 
The provisions of SFAS No. 87 “Employers’ Accounting 
for Pensions” (SFAS 87) required the Company to record  
a net pension asset of $10.1 million and $12.7 million  
at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, which is 
included in the line item Other Assets on the accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Components of Net Periodic Pension Expense 
(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 
Service cost  $ 1,772 $ 1,293 $   979 
Interest cost 3,637 3,351 3,135 
Expected return on assets (4,515) (3,119) (4,206) 
Amortization of prior service cost 232 232 231 
Recognized net actuarial (gain) loss 1,498 1,407 102 
Net pension (income) expense $ 2,624 $ 3,164 $   241 

 

20 
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Additional Information 
(in thousands) 2004 2003  
Pre-tax amount included in other 

comprehensive income (loss) 
arising from a change in the   
additional minimum pension liability 

 
 
 

$     - 

 
 
 

$12,474 

 

 

Assumptions 
Weighted-average assumptions used 

to determine benefit obligations: 
 
 

2004 

 
 

2003 

 

Discount rate 6.00% 6.00%  
Rate of increase in  

compensation levels 
 

4.39% 
 

5.00% 
 

    
Weighted-average assumptions used 

to determine net periodic benefit 
cost for plan year: 

 
 

2004 

 
 

2003 

 
 

2002 
    
Discount rate 6.00% 6.75% 7.50% 
Expected long-term rate of return on 

assets* 
 

9.50% 
 

10.00%
 

10.50% 
Rate of increase in  

compensation levels 
 

4.39% 
 

5.00%
 

5.00% 

*The expected rate of return on plan assets was changed from 9.5 percent  
in 2004 to 9.0 percent for the calculation of the 2005 net periodic  
pension cost. This change is expected to increase pension costs in  
2005 by approximately $0.3 million. 

 
The Plan’s expected long-term rate of return on assets 
assumption is based upon the weighted average expected 
long-term rate of returns for each individual asset class. 
The asset class weighting is determined using the target 
allocation for each asset class in the Plan portfolio. The 
expected long-term rate of return for each asset class is 
determined primarily from long-term historical returns 
for the asset class, with adjustments if it is anticipated 
that long-term future returns will not achieve historical 
results. 

The expected long-term rate of return for equity 
investments was 10.0 percent and 10.5 percent for the 
2004 and 2003 plan years, respectively. For determining 
the expected long-term rate of return for equity assets, 
the Company reviewed annual 20-, 30-, 40-, and 50-year 
returns on the S&P 500 Index, which were, at December 
31, 2004, 13.2 percent, 13.7 percent, 10.4 percent and 
10.9 percent respectively. Fund management fees were 
estimated to be 0.18 percent for S&P 500 Index assets 
and 0.45 percent for other assets. The expected long-
term rate of return on fixed income investments was  
6.0 percent; the return was based upon historical returns 
on intermediate-term treasury bonds of 6.3 percent from 
1950 to 2002. The expected long-term rate of return on 
cash investments was estimated to be 4.0 percent; expected 
cash returns were estimated to be 2.0 percent below 
long-term returns on intermediate-term treasury bonds. 

Plan Assets 
Percentage of fair value of Plan assets at September 30: 

 2004 2003 
Domestic equity 59.7% 44.8% 
Foreign equity 34.5 26.6 
Fixed income 2.6 3.8 
Cash 3.2 24.8(a) 
Total 100.0% 100.0% 

(a) Allocation includes $10.5 million cash contribution made to the plan  
     on September 30, 2003. 
 
The Plan’s investment policy includes a target asset 
allocation as follows: 

Asset Class Target Allocation 
US  
Stocks 

60% (with a variance of no more or less than 10%  
of target) 

Foreign 
Stocks 

30% (with a variance of no more or less than 10%  
of target) 

Fixed  
Income 

5% (with a variance of no more than 10% or no less 
than 5% of target) 

Cash 5% (with a variance of no more than 10% or no less 
than 5% of target) 

 
The Plan’s investment policy includes the investment 
objective that the achieved long-term rate of return meet 
or exceed the assumed actuarial rate. The policy strategy 
seeks to prudently invest in a diversified portfolio of 
predominately equity-based assets. The policy provides 
that the Plan will maintain a passive core US Stock 
portfolio based on the S&P 500 Index. Complementing 
this core will be investments in US and foreign equities 
through actively managed mutual funds.  

The policy contains certain prohibitions on transactions 
in separately managed portfolios in which the Plan may 
invest, including prohibitions on short sales and the use 
of options or futures contracts. With regard to pooled 
funds, the policy requires the evaluation of the appropri-
ateness of such funds for managing Plan assets if a fund 
engages in such transactions. The Plan has historically 
not invested in funds engaging in such transactions. 

Cash Flows 
The Company does not anticipate any employer 
contributions to the Plan in 2005. 

Estimated Future Benefit Payments 
The following benefit payments, which reflect future 
service, are expected to be paid (in thousands): 

2005 $2,496 
2006 2,519 
2007 2,582 
2008 2,689 
2009 2,855 
2010-2014 17,351 
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SUPPLEMENTAL NONQUALIFIED DEFINED 

BENEFIT RETIREMENT PLANS 
The Company has various supplemental retirement plans 
for outside directors and key executives of the Company. 
The Plans are nonqualified defined benefit plans. The Com-
pany uses a September 30 measurement date for the Plans. 

Obligations and Funded Status 
(in thousands) 2004 2003 
Change in benefit obligation:   
Projected benefit obligation  

at beginning of year 
 

$ 16,194 
 

$ 11,303 
Service cost 536 425 
Interest cost 965 759 
Actuarial (gains) losses (582) 6,107 
Benefits paid (133) (120) 
Discount rate change - 2,256 
Taxable wage rate and  

cost of living rate change 
 

- 
 

107 
Change in salary projection - (4,643) 
Net increase 786 4,891 
Projected benefit obligation  

at end of year 
 

$ 16,980 
 

$ 16,194 
     
Fair value of plan assets  

at end of year 
 

$           - 
 

$           - 
Funded status (16,980) (16,194) 
Unrecognized net loss 9,249 10,577 
Unrecognized prior service cost 53 62 
Contributions 84 30 
Net amount recognized $  (7,594) $  (5,525) 
 
 
(in thousands) 2004 2003 
Amounts recognized in consolidated 

balance sheets consist of: 
  

     Net pension (liability) $ (10,902) $  (8,886) 
     Intangible asset 52 68 
     Contributions 84 30 
     Accumulated other  
         comprehensive loss 

 
3,172 

 
3,263 

Net amount recognized $   (7,594) $  (5,525) 
   
Accumulated benefit obligation $  10,902 $   8,886 
 
The provisions of SFAS 87 required the Company to 
record a net pension liability of $10.9 million and  
$8.9 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 
This amount is included in Deferred credits and other 
liabilities, Other on the accompanying Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. 

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost 
(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 
Service cost  $   536 $   425 $  240 
Interest cost 965 759 432 
Amortization of prior service cost 9 (2) 26 
Recognized net actuarial loss 748 511 145 
Net periodic benefit cost $2,258 $1,693 $  843 

Additional Information 
(in thousands) 2004 2003  
Pre-tax amount included in other 

comprehensive income (loss) 
arising from a change in the 
additional minimum  
pension liability 

 
 
 
 

$91 $(2,181)

 

Assumptions 
Weighted-average assumptions 

used to determine benefit 
obligations at September 30 

 
 

2004 

 
 

2003 

 

Discount rate 6.00% 6.00%  
Rate of increase in  

compensation levels 
 

5.00% 
 

5.00% 
 

    
Weighted-average assumptions 

used to determine net periodic 
benefit cost for plan year 

 
 

2004 

 
 

2003 

 
 

2002 
Discount rate 6.00% 6.75% 7.50% 
Rate of increase in  

compensation levels 
 

5.00% 
 

5.00% 
 

5.00% 

Plan Assets 
The plans have no assets. The Company funds on a cash 
basis as benefits are paid. 

Estimated Cash Flows 
The estimated employer contribution is expected to be 
$0.3 million in 2005. 

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected 
future service, are expected to be paid (in thousands): 

Fiscal Year Ending  
2005 $316 
2006 307 
2007 308 
2008 318 
2009 296 
2010-2014 1,361 

NON-PENSION DEFINED BENEFIT 

POSTRETIREMENT PLAN 
Employees who are participants in the Company’s 
Postretirement Healthcare Plan and who retire from the 
Company on or after attaining age 55 after completing at 
least five years of service to the Company are entitled to 
postretirement healthcare benefits. These benefits are 
subject to premiums, deductibles, co-payment provisions 
and other limitations. The Company may amend or 
change the Plan periodically. The Company is not pre-
funding its retiree medical plan. The Company uses a 
September 30 measurement date for the Plan. 

These financial statements and this Note do not reflect 
the effects of the 2003 Medicare Act on the postretire-
ment benefit plan. 
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Obligation and Funded Status 
(in thousands) 2004 2003 
Change in benefit obligation:   
Accumulated postretirement benefit 

obligation at beginning of year 
  

$ 11,151 
  

$   8,647 
Service cost 561 383 
Interest cost 662 576 
Plan participant’s contributions 385 381 
Benefits paid and actual expenses (611) (606) 
Actuarial (gains) losses (1,156) 1,770 
Net (decrease) increase (159) 2,504 
Accumulated postretirement benefit 

obligation at end of year 
  

$ 10,992 
 

$ 11,151 
     
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $           - $           -  
Funded status (10,992) (11,151) 
Unrecognized net loss 2,538 3,882 
Unrecognized prior service cost (288) (311) 
Unrecognized transition obligation 1,198 1,348 
Contributions 36 60 
Net amount recognized $ (7,508) $ (6,172) 
 
Amounts recognized on the accompanying Consolidated 
Balance Sheets consist of: 

(in thousands) 2004 2003 
Accrued postretirement liability $(7,508) $(6,172) 

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost 
(in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 
Service cost  $    561 $     383 $    284 
Interest cost 662 576 519 
Amortization of transition obligation 150 150 150 
Amortization of prior service cost (24) (24) (24) 
Recognized net actuarial loss 189 89 35 
Net periodic benefit cost $ 1,538 $ 1,174 $   964 

Assumptions 
Weighted-average assumptions 

used to determine benefit 
obligations at September 30 

 
 

2004 

 
 

2003 

 

Discount rate 6.00% 6.00%  
    
Weighted-average assumptions 

used to determine net periodic 
benefit cost for plan year 

 
 

2004 

 
 

2003 

 
 

2002 
Discount rate 6.00% 6.75% 7.50% 
 
The healthcare trend rate assumption for 2003 fiscal year 
disclosure and 2004 fiscal year expense and disclosure is 
12 percent for fiscal 2004 grading down 1 percent per 
year until a 5 percent ultimate trend rate is reached in 
fiscal year 2011. The healthcare cost trend rate assump-
tion for the 2003 fiscal year expense was 11 percent for 
fiscal 2003 grading down 1 percent per year until a  
5 percent ultimate trend rate is reached in fiscal year 2009. 

 

 

The healthcare cost trend rate assumption has a signifi-
cant effect on the amounts reported. A 1 percent increase 
in the healthcare cost trend assumption would increase 
the service and interest cost $0.3 million or 24 percent 
and the accumulated periodic postretirement benefit 
obligation $2.2 million or 20 percent. A 1 percent 
decrease would reduce the service and interest cost by 
$0.2 million or 18 percent and the accumulated periodic 
postretirement benefit obligation $1.7 million or 16 percent. 

Plan Assets 
The plan has no assets. The Company funds on a cash 
basis as benefits are paid. 

Estimated Cash Flows 
The estimated employer contribution is expected to be 
$0.2 million in 2005. 

Estimated Future Benefit Payments 
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected 
future service, are expected to be paid (in thousands): 

Fiscal Year Ending  
2005 $238 
2006 277 
2007 306 
2008 337 
2009 390 
2010-2014 2,759 

 

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 
The Company also sponsors a 401(k) savings plan for 
eligible employees. Participants elect to invest up to 20 
percent of their eligible compensation on a pre-tax basis. 
The Company provides a matching contribution of 100 
percent of the employee’s tax-deferred contribution up 
to a maximum of 3 percent of the employee’s eligible 
compensation. Matching contributions vest at 20 percent 
per year and are fully vested when the participant has  
5 years of service with the Company. The Company’s 
matching contributions totaled $1.4 million for 2004, 
$1.4 million for 2003 and $1.3 million for 2002. 
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Commitments and Contingencies  
 

 
VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITY 
The Company’s subsidiary, Black Hills Wyoming, has  
an Agreement for Lease and Lease with Wygen Funding, 
Limited Partnership (the variable interest entity) for the 
Wygen plant. The Company is considered the “primary 
beneficiary” and therefore the variable interest entity has 
been consolidated by the Company into the accompany-
ing consolidated financial statements (see Note 6). The 
initial term of the lease is five years, with two five-year 
renewal options, and includes a purchase option equal to 
the adjusted acquisition cost. The adjusted acquisition 
cost is essentially equal to the cost of the plant. At the 
end of each lease term, the Company may renew the 
lease, purchase the plant, or sell the plant on behalf of the 
variable interest entity, to an independent third party. If 
the project is sold and the proceeds from the sale are 
insufficient to repay the investors, the Company will be 
required to make a payment to the variable interest entity 
of the shortfall up to 83.5 percent of the adjusted 
acquisition cost, or approximately $111.1 million. The 
Company has guaranteed the obligations of Black Hills 
Wyoming to the variable interest entity. As discussed in 
Note 6, the Company has recorded the debt of the 
Variable Interest Entity on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet, which was $128.3 million at December 31, 2004. 

ACQUISITION EARN-OUT AGREEMENT 
On July 7, 2000, the Company acquired Indeck Capital, 
Inc. and merged it into its subsidiary, Black Hills Gener-
ation (f/k/a Black Hills Energy Capital, Inc.). The 
acquisition was a stock transaction with the Company 
issuing 1,536,747 shares of common stock to the share-
holders of Indeck priced at $21.98 per share, along with 
$4.0 million in preferred stock, resulting in a purchase 
price of $37.8 million. Additional consideration, 
consisting of common and preferred stock, was payable 
in the form of an earn-out over a four-year period 
beginning in 2000. As of December 31, 2004, earn-out 
consideration valued at $13.7 million for book purposes 
has been recorded. Litigation concerning the earn-out is 
described in “Legal Proceedings” within this note. 
Additional consideration paid out under the earn-out is 
recorded as an increase to goodwill. The earn-out consid-
eration is based on the acquired company’s earnings during 
such period and cannot exceed $35.0 million in total. 

 

 

POWER PURCHASE AND TRANSMISSION 

SERVICES AGREEMENTS – PACIFIC POWER  
In 1983, the Company entered into a 40 year power 
purchase agreement with PacifiCorp providing for the 
purchase by the Company of 75 megawatts of electric 
capacity and energy from PacifiCorp’s system. An amended 
agreement signed in October 1997 reduces the contract 
capacity by 25 megawatts (5 megawatts per year starting 
in 2000). The price paid for the capacity and energy is 
based on the operating costs of one of PacifiCorp’s 
coal-fired electric generating plants. Costs incurred under 
this agreement were $10.0 million in 2004, $10.8 million 
in 2003 and $10.9 million (net of a $1.3 million refund 
for prior years) in 2002. 

In addition, the Company has a firm network transmission 
agreement for 36 MWs of capacity with PacifiCorp that 
expires on December 31, 2006. Annual costs are approxi-
mately $0.9 million per year. The Company uses this 
agreement to serve the Sheridan, Wyoming electric service 
territory under our contract with Montana-Dakota 
Utilities Company. 

The Company also has a firm point-to-point transmission 
service agreement with PacifiCorp that expires on 
December 31, 2023. The agreement provides that the 
following amounts of capacity and energy be transmitted: 
32 megawatts in 2001, 27 megawatts in 2002, 22 megawatts 
in 2003, 17 megawatts in 2004-2006 and 50 megawatts 
in 2007-2023. Costs incurred under this agreement were 
$0.4 million in 2004, $0.5 million in 2003 and $0.7 million 
in 2002. 

LONG-TERM POWER SALES AGREEMENTS 
The Company, through its subsidiaries, has the 
following significant long-term power sales contracts: 

 The Company has long-term power sales contracts 
with Public Service Company of Colorado (PSCO) 
for the output of several of its plants. All of the output 
of the Company’s Fountain Valley, Arapahoe and 
Valmont gas-fired facilities, totaling 450 megawatts, is 
included under the contracts which expire in 2012. 
The contracts are treated as leases under accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States and 
establish capacity and availability payments over the 
lives of the contracts. The contracts are tolling 
arrangements in which the Company assumes no fuel 
price risk. 
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 The Company has a ten-year power sales contract with 
Cheyenne Light, Fuel and Power (CLF&P) for the 
output of the 40 megawatt gas-fired Gillette CT. The 
Company assumes fuel price risk under this agreement 
since the fuel price is fixed at the outset of each month 
and CLF&P has the right to dispatch the facility on a 
day-ahead basis. The Company is permitted to 
remarket the energy that is not prescheduled by 
CLF&P. This agreement has been temporarily 
assigned from CLF&P to its former affiliate, PSCO, 
for the four-year term of CLF&P’s all requirements 
power purchase agreement with PSCO, which expires 
December 31, 2007. The Company acquired CLF&P 
on January 21, 2005 (see Note 25). 

 The Company has a ten-year contract with CLF&P for 
60 megawatts of contingent capacity from the 90 mega-
watt Wygen plant. The Company has consented, subject 
to receipt of lender approval, to CLF&P’s assignment 
of this agreement to its affiliate, PSCO, for the term of 
its all requirements power purchase agree-ment, which 
expires December 31, 2007. Twenty megawatts of the 
remaining capacity of this plant has been sold under a 
ten year unit contingent contract with the Municipal 
Energy Agency of Nebraska (MEAN). 

 The Company has a ten-year power sales contract with 
the MEAN for 20 megawatts of contingent capacity 
from the Neil Simpson Unit #2 plant. The contract 
commenced in February, 2003. 

 The Company has a long-term contract for the output 
of the 53 megawatt Las Vegas I plant with Nevada 
Power Company (NPC) through 2024. 

 The Company has a long-term contract to provide 
capacity and energy from the Las Vegas II plant to 
NPC. The contract became effective April 1, 2004 and 
expires December 31, 2013. The contract is a tolling 
arrangement whereby NPC is responsible for 
supplying natural gas. The Las Vegas II power plant, 
comprised of combined-cycle gas turbines, is rated at 
224 megawatts. The power plant’s capacity and energy 
will be fully dispatchable by NPC to serve its retail load. 

 The Company has entered into a tolling agreement with 
Southern California Edison for all of the capacity and 
energy from the Company’s gas-fired Harbor Cogen-
eration plant. The agreement commences April 1, 2005 
and expires May 31, 2008. Through October 2004, the 
facility sold capacity and energy under a seasonal agree-
ment that ran from June through October of each year. 

 The Company has a contract with Montana-Dakota 
Utilities Company, expiring January 1, 2007, for the 
sale of up to 55 megawatts of energy and capacity to 
service the Sheridan, Wyoming electric service 
territory. The Company also has a contract with the 
City of Gillette, Wyoming, expiring in 2012, to 
provide the city’s first 23 megawatts of capacity and 
energy. Both contracts are served by BHP and are 
integrated into its control area and are treated as part 
of the utility’s firm native load. 

TRANSMISSION SERVICES AGREEMENT 
The Company has a Firm Point-To-Point Transmission 
Service Agreement (TSA) with NPC related to the Las 
Vegas II power plant that expires April 30, 2008. The 
TSA provided transmission service in support of a 
Capacity and Ancillary Services Sale and Tolling Services 
Agreement with Allegheny Energy Supply Company, 
LLC (Allegheny), which was terminated in September 
2003. On April 1, 2004, the Company’s new long-term 
tolling contract to provide capacity and energy from the 
Las Vegas II plant to NPC became effective. The Las 
Vegas II plant is interconnected with NPC’s 
transmission system through a step-up transformer 
owned by Las Vegas Cogeneration II, LLC, pursuant to 
an interconnection agreement on file with FERC. To the 
extent that transmission rights established under the 
TSA cannot be remarketed, costs under the agreement 
may not be recoverable. Payments under the TSA are 
approximately $3.9 million per year based on current 
tariffs. In its consideration and approval of the NPC 
tolling contract, the Nevada Public Utilities Commission 
established a linkage between the TSA and the tolling 
contract that results in the Company recognizing the 
costs of the TSA over the term of the tolling contract  
(10 years, $1.6 million per year) rather than the remaining 
term of the TSA (3.5 years, $3.9 million per year).               

RECLAMATION LIABILITY 
Under its mining permit, Wyodak Resources is required 
to reclaim all land where it has mined coal reserves. The 
reclamation liability is recorded at the present value of 
the estimated future cost to reclaim the land with an 
equivalent amount added to the asset costs. The asset is 
depreciated over the appropriate time period and the 
liability is accreted over time using an interest method of 
allocation. Approximately $0.7 million and $0.6 million 
was charged to accretion expense for the years ended 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Approximately 
$0.5 million and $0.3 million was charged to depreciation 
expense for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 
2003. Approximately $0.9 million was charged to 
operations as reclamation expense in 2002. Accrued 
reclamation costs included in Other in Deferred credits 
and other liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated 
Balance Sheets were approximately $15.9 million and 
$15.8 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. 
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LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

Forest Fire Claims 
In September 2001, a fire occurred in the southwestern 
Black Hills, now known as the “Hell Canyon Fire.”  It is 
alleged that the fire occurred when a high voltage 
electrical span maintained by the Company’s electric 
utility, BHP, broke, and electrical arcing from the 
severed line ignited dry grass. The fire burned 
approximately 10,000 acres of land owned by the Black 
Hills National Forest, the Oglala Sioux Tribe, and other 
private landowners. The State of South Dakota initiated 
litigation against BHP, in the Seventh Judicial Circuit 
Court, Fall River County, South Dakota, on or about 
January 31, 2003. The Complaint seeks recovery of 
damages for alleged fire suppression and rehabilitation 
costs. A claim for treble damages is asserted with respect 
to the claim for injury to timber. A substantially similar 
suit was filed against BHP by the United States Forest 
Service, on June 30, 2003, in the United States District 
Court for the District of South Dakota, Western 
Division. The State subsequently joined its claim in the 
federal action. The State claims damages in the amount 
of approximately $0.8 million for fire suppression and 
rehabilitation costs. The United States Government’s 
claim for fire suppression and related costs has been 
submitted at approximately $1.3 million. The Company 
continues to investigate the cause and origin of the fire, 
and the damage claims. A trial date has been set for early 
2005. The Company has denied all claims and will 
vigorously defend this matter, the timing or outcome of 
which is uncertain. 

On June 29, 2002, a forest fire began near Deadwood, 
South Dakota, now known as the “Grizzly Gulch Fire.”  
Before being contained more than eight days later, the 
fire consumed over 10,000 acres of public and private 
land, mostly consisting of rugged forested areas. The fire 
destroyed approximately 7 homes, and 15 outbuildings. 
There were no reported personal injuries. In addition, 
the fire burned to the edge of the City of Deadwood, 
forcing the evacuation of the City of Deadwood, and the 
adjacent City of Lead, South Dakota. These 
communities are active in the tourist and gaming 
industries. Individuals were ordered to leave their 
homes, and businesses were closed for a short period of 
time. On July 16, 2002, the State of South Dakota 
announced the results of its investigation of the cause 
and origin of the fire. The State asserted that the fire was 
caused by tree encroachment into and contact with a 
transmission line owned and maintained by BHP. 

On September 6, 2002, the State of South Dakota 
commenced litigation against BHP, in the Seventh 
 
 
 

Judicial Circuit Court, Pennington County, South  
Dakota. The Complaint seeks recovery of damages for 
alleged injury to timber, fire suppression and rehabili-
tation costs. A claim for treble damages was asserted 
with respect to the claim for injury to timber.  

On March 3, 2003, the United States of America filed a 
similar suit against BHP, in the United States District 
Court, District of South Dakota, Western Division. The 
federal government’s Complaint likewise seeks recovery 
of damages for alleged injury to timber, fire suppression 
and rehabilitation costs. A similar claim for treble 
damages is asserted with respect to the claim for injury 
to timber. In April 2003, the State of South Dakota 
intervened in the federal action. Accordingly, the state 
court litigation has been stayed, and all governmental 
claims will be tried in U.S. District Court.  

The state and federal government claim approximately 
$5.3 million for suppression costs, $1.2 million for 
rehabilitation costs, and $0.6 million for timber loss. 
Additional claims could be asserted for alleged loss of 
habitat and aesthetics or for assistance to private 
landowners. 

BHP is completing its own investigation of the fire cause 
and origin. BHP’s investigation is continuing, but based 
upon information currently available, BHP filed its 
Answer to the Complaints of both the State and the 
United States government, denying all claims, and 
asserting that the fire was caused by an independent 
intervening cause, or an act of God. The Company 
expects to vigorously defend all claims brought by 
governmental or private parties.  

During the period of April 2003 through September 
2004, various private civil actions were filed against 
BHP, asserting that the Grizzly Gulch Fire caused 
damage to the parties’ real property. These actions were 
filed in the Fourth Judicial Circuit Court, Lawrence 
County, South Dakota. The Complaints seek recovery 
on the same theories asserted in the governmental 
Complaints, but most of the Complaints specify no 
amount for damage claims. The Company will 
vigorously defend these matters as well. 

Additional claims could be made for individual and 
business losses relating to injury to personal and real 
property, and lost income. 

Although we cannot predict the outcome or the viability 
of potential claims with respect to either fire, based on 
the information available, management believes that any 
such claims, if determined adversely to the Company, 
will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
financial condition or results of operations.  
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PPM Energy, Inc. Demand for Arbitration 
On January 2, 2004, PPM Energy, Inc. delivered a 
Demand for Arbitration to BHP. The demand alleges 
claims for breach of contract and requests a declaration 
of the parties’ rights and responsibilities under an 
Exchange Agreement executed on or about April 3, 
2001. Specifically, PPM Energy asserts that the 
Exchange Agreement obligates BHP to accept receipt 
and cause corresponding delivery of electric energy, and 
to grant access to transmission rights allegedly covered 
by the Agreement. PPM Energy requests an award of 
damages in an amount not less than $20.0 million. BHP 
filed its Response to Demand, including a counterclaim 
that seeks recovery of sums PPM has refused to pay 
pursuant to the Exchange Agreement. The Company 
denies all claims and will vigorously defend this matter, 
the timing and outcome of which is uncertain.  

Price Reporting Class Actions 
A. Cornerstone Propane Partners, L.P. 

On August 18, 2003, Cornerstone Propane Partners, 
L.P. commenced a putative class action lawsuit against 
over thirty energy companies. Cornerstone Propane 
Partners, L.P. v. Reliant Energy Services, Inc., et. al.,  
Civ. No. 03-CV-6168 (U.S. District Court, Southern 
District of New York)(“Cornerstone Propane 
Litigation”). The Complaint, which names Black Hills 
Corporation and Enserco Energy Inc. as defendants, 
asserts claims for an unspecified amount of damages, 
based upon alleged violations of the Commodity 
Exchange Act. General allegations in the Complaint 
assert that defendants manipulated natural gas futures 
contracts through false reporting of prices and volumes. 
Similar specific allegations are made against Black Hills 
Corporation and Enserco, based upon claims that 
former traders at Enserco reported false price and 
volume information to trade publications. Other 
defendants are alleged to have manipulated spot market 
gas prices by engaging in “wash trades” and/or by 
“churning” natural gas trades. Initially, the plaintiff seeks 
an order certifying the proceeding as a class action 
according to applicable rules. 

B. Roberto E. Calle Gracey  

On October 1, 2003, Roberto E. Calle Gracey commenced 
a putative class action lawsuit against a group of 
defendants that sets forth claims and demands similar to 
those described above with respect to the Cornerstone 
Propane Litigation. Black Hills Corporation and Enserco 
Energy, Inc. are named as defendants in this action as 
well. Gracey v. American Electric Power Company, Inc.,  
et. al., Civ. No., 03-CV-7750 (U.S. District Court, Southern 
District of New York). 

 

C. In re Natural Gas Commodity Litigation 

On December 5, 2003, the actions cited in paragraphs  
A and B above, were consolidated with other actions 
involving similar claims against other parties, in a civil 
action captioned In re Natural Gas Commodity 
Litigation, 03 CV 6186(VM), United States District 
Court, Southern District of New York. All further 
proceedings relative to these matters will be conducted 
in the consolidated action. The consolidated class action 
now includes claims against a number of companies, 
based upon a variety of alleged misconduct. The claims 
against Black Hills Corporation and Enserco comprise  
a relatively small part of only one category of the total 
claims included in this lawsuit. The action has not been 
certified to proceed as a class action. Motions to Dismiss 
were denied. Defendants will make an effort to 
“decertify” the matter as a class action based upon the 
dissimilarity of parties, claims and issues. While it is 
possible for an individual to state a claim for relief based 
upon allegations such as those made against Black Hills 
Corporation and Enserco, those Plaintiffs that have 
asserted claims against Black Hills Corporation and 
Enserco have a number of procedural and substantive 
hurdles to overcome. Even if Plaintiff’s claims survive 
Motions to Dismiss, and successfully avoid class 
decertification, they still must prove actual damages as a 
result of the conduct of an individual Defendant, such as 
Black Hills Corporation and Enserco. Based upon 
information currently available, and given the current 
status of the litigation, we do not believe it is likely that 
Plaintiffs will be able to succeed in recovering on a claim 
in an amount that would be material to the Company’s 
consolidated financial position or results of operations. 

Acquisition Earn-Out Agreement Lawsuit 
On August 13, 2004, the former shareholders of Indeck 
Capital, Inc. (Indeck) commenced litigation against the 
Company in United States District Court, Northeastern 
District of Illinois, Eastern Division. The lawsuit concerns 
the Company’s performance of its obligation under the 
“Earn-out” provisions of the Agreement and Plan of 
Merger dated July 7, 2000, related to the Company’s 
acquisition of Indeck. Under the “Earn-out” provisions, 
the former shareholders of Indeck were entitled to 
receive “contingent merger consideration” for a four year 
period beginning in 2000. The “contingent merger 
consideration” was not to exceed $35.0 million and was 
based on the acquired company’s earnings over the four 
year period. As of December 31, 2004, $11.3 million  
has been either paid or offered for payment under the 
“Earn-out” provisions. 

The lawsuit alleges that the Company failed to meet its 
obligation to produce documentation for its calculation 
of the contingent merger consideration, and in addition, 
failed to issue stock compensation in the full amount due 
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to them. The Company denies these allegations and 
believes that it has fully and in good faith performed all 
of its obligations under the Agreement and Plan of 
Merger. In addition, the Company contends that that 
Agreement and Plan of Merger provides for mandatory 
arbitration as a medium for resolution of all disputes 
relating to the payment of contingent merger 
consideration, and will aggressively pursue the dismissal 
of the litigation. The outcome of this matter is uncertain, 
as is the amount of contingent merger consideration that 
could be awarded following arbitration or litigation. 

Ongoing Proceedings 
The Company is subject to various other legal proceedings, 
claims and litigation which arise in the ordinary course 
of operations. In the opinion of management, the 
amount of liability, if any, with respect to these actions 
would not materially affect the consolidated financial 
position or results of operations of the Company. 

 Guarantees 
 

The Company has entered into various agreements 
providing financial or performance assurance to third 
parties on behalf of certain subsidiaries. Such agreements 
include guarantees of debt obligations, contractual 
performance obligations and indemnification for 
reclamation and surety bonds. 

As prescribed in FASB Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s 
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, 
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of 
Others” (FIN 45), the Company records a liability for 
the fair value of the obligation it has undertaken for 
guarantees issued after December 31, 2002. The liability 
recognition requirements of FIN 45 are to be applied on 
a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after 
December 31, 2002, while the disclosure requirements 
are applied to all guarantees.  

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had the 
following guarantees in place (in thousands): 

 
 
 
Nature of Guarantee 

Outstanding 
at 

December 
31, 2004 

 
 

Year 
Expiring 

Guarantee payments under the Las Vegas 
Cogen I Power Purchase and Sales 
Agreement with Sempra Energy Solutions 

 
 

$  10,000 

 
Upon 5 days 
written notice

Guarantee of certain obligations under 
Enserco’s credit facility 

 
3,000 

 
2005 

Guarantee of obligation of Las Vegas Cogen 
II under an interconnection and operation 
agreement 

 
 

750 

 
 

2005 
Guarantee payments of Black Hills Power 

under various transactions with Idaho 
Power Company 

 
 

500 

 
 

2005 
(continued in next column)   

(continued from previous column) 
 
 
Nature of Guarantee 

Outstanding 
at 

December 
31, 2004 

 
 

Year 
Expiring 

Guarantee payments of Black Hills Power 
under various transactions with Southern 
California Edison Company 

 
 

750 

 
2005 

Guarantee obligations under the Wygen  
Plant Lease 

 
111,018 

 
2008 

Guarantee payment and performance under 
credit agreements for two combustion 
turbines 

 
 

28,213 

 
 

2010 
Guarantee payments of Las Vegas Cogen II 

to Nevada Power Company under a power 
purchase agreement 

 
 

5,000 

 
 

2013 
Indemnification for subsidiary 

reclamation/surety bonds 
 

25,420 
 

Ongoing 
 $ 184,651  
 
The Company has guaranteed up to $10.0 million of 
payments of its power generation subsidiary, Las Vegas 
Cogeneration Limited Partnership, to Sempra Energy 
Solutions which may arise from transactions entered into 
by the two parties under a Master Power Purchase and 
Sale Agreement. To the extent liabilities exist under this 
power and purchase sale agreement subject to this 
guarantee, such liabilities are included in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. The guarantee may be terminated for 
future transactions upon five days written notice. 

The Company has guaranteed up to $3.0 million of 
Enserco Energy Inc.’s obligations to Fortis Capital 
Corp. under its credit facility. There are no liabilities on 
the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets associated 
with this guarantee. 

The Company has guaranteed up to $0.8 million of the 
obligations of Las Vegas Cogeneration II, LLC under 
an interconnection and operations agreement for the  
LV II unit. To the extent liabilities exist under the 
interconnection and operations agreement, such 
liabilities are included in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. The obligation is due May 20, 2005. 

The Company has guaranteed up to $0.5 million of the 
obligations of its electric utility subsidiary, BHP, under 
various transactions with Idaho Power Company. To the 
extent liabilities exist under these transactions and subject 
to this guarantee, such liabilities are included in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. This guarantee expired on 
March 1, 2005 and the Company issued a similar guaran-
tee in the amount of $0.2 million on March 1, 2005. 

The Company has guaranteed up to $0.8 million of the 
obligations of its electric utility subsidiary, BHP, under 
various transactions with Southern California Edison 
Company. To the extent liabilities exist under these 
transactions which are subject to this guarantee, such 
liabilities are included in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. This guarantee expires on the earlier of April 1, 
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2005 or 30 days after the date creditor receives written 
notification from guarantor. 

The Company has guaranteed the obligations of Black Hills 
Wyoming under the Agreement for Lease and Lease for the 
Wygen plant. The Company consolidates the Variable 
Interest Entity that owns the plant into its financial statements; 
therefore the obligations associated with this guarantee are 
included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. If the lease was 
terminated and sold, the Company’s obligation is the 
amount of deficiency in the proceeds from the sale to repay 
the investors up to a maximum of 83.5 percent of the cost of 
the project. At December 31, 2004, the Company’s maximum 
obligation under the guarantee is $111.0 million (83.5 percent 
of $133.0 million, the cost incurred for the Wygen plant). 
The initial term of the lease is five years with two five-year 
renewal options. 

The Company has guaranteed the payment of $24.2 million 
of debt of Black Hills Wyoming and $4.0 million of 
debt for another of the Company’s wholly-owned 
subsidiaries, Black Hills Generation. The debt is 
recorded on the Company’s Consolidated Balance 
Sheets and is due December 18, 2010. 

The Company has guaranteed up to $5.0 million of 
payments of its power generation subsidiary, Las Vegas 
Cogeneration II, LLC under the Western Systems 
Power Pool Confirmation Agreement with Nevada 
Power Company. To the extent liabilities exist under  
the agreements subject to this guarantee, such liabilities 
are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  
The guarantee expires upon payment in full of all the 
obligations under the contract, which expires in 2013. 

In addition, at December 31, 2004, the Company had 
guarantees in place totaling approximately $25.4 million 
for reclamation and surety bonds for its subsidiaries.  
The guarantees were entered into in the normal course of 
business. To the extent liabilities are incurred as a result of 
activities covered by the surety bonds, such liabilities are 
included in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
 

 Business Segments 
 

The Company’s reportable segments are those that are 
based on the Company’s method of internal reporting, 
which generally segregates the strategic business groups 
due to differences in products, services and regulation. 
As of December 31, 2004, substantially all of the 
Company’s operations and assets are located within the 
United States. The Company’s operations are conducted 
through six business segments that include: Wholesale 
Energy consisting of: Coal Mining, which engages in the 
mining and sale of coal from its mine near Gillette, 
Wyoming; Oil and Gas, which produces, explores and 

operates oil and natural gas interests located in the 
Rocky Mountain region, Texas, California and other 
states; Energy Marketing and Transportation, which 
markets natural gas, oil and related services to customers 
in the Midwest, Southwest, Rocky Mountain, West 
Coast and Northwest regional markets; Power Generation, 
which produces and sells power and capacity to 
wholesale customers; and Retail Services consisting of: 
Electric utility, which supplies electric utility service to 
western South Dakota, northeastern Wyoming and 
southeastern Montana and Communications, which 
primarily markets broadband communications services.  

Prior to 2004, the Company’s communications segment 
marketed campground reservation services and software 
development services to external parties through Daksoft, 
Inc. With the sale of certain assets and a change in its 
business strategy, Daksoft now primarily provides infor-
mation technology support to the Company. With its 
focus now on corporate support, beginning with the first 
quarter 2004, Daksoft’s results of operations are 
included with corporate results. 

 

(in thousands) 
December 31: 

 
2004 

 
2003 

Total assets   
Wholesale energy:   
   Coal mining $     55,310 $     45,989 
   Oil and gas 194,203 145,371 
   Energy marketing and transportation 373,286 256,059 
   Power generation 826,240 876,160 
Electric utility 464,361 463,869 
Communications 116,373 126,204 
Corporate 23,331 145,025 
Discontinued operations 3,059 4,575 
Total assets $2,056,163 $2,063,252 
   
Capital expenditures and acquisitions   
Wholesale energy:   
   Coal mining $     3,183 $     8,203 
   Oil and gas 53,891 43,448 
   Energy marketing and transportation 622 822 
   Power generation 6,043 28,798 
Electric utility 13,347 25,427 
Communications 8,101 8,178 
Corporate 5,787 1,815 
Total capital expenditures and acquisitions $    90,974 $   116,691 
   
Property, plant and equipment   
Wholesale energy:   
   Coal mining $     73,367 $     72,285 
   Oil and gas 259,695 205,137 
   Energy marketing and transportation 28,459 27,838 
   Power generation 792,385 791,684 
Electric utility 637,278 622,849 
Communications 165,351 159,534 
Corporate 14,584 3,218 
Total property, plant and equipment $1,971,119 $1,882,545 
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(in thousands) 
December 31: 

 
2004 

 
2003 

 
2002 

External operating revenues    
Wholesale energy:    
   Coal mining $     19,669 $     22,232 $     20,811 
   Oil and gas 59,191 46,648 26,043 
   Energy marketing and transportation(a) 662,110 675,586 553,688 
   Power generation(b) 158,037 284,567 102,548 
Electric utility 172,774 170,942 162,186 
Communications 39,586 39,763 32,677 
Corporate 761 - - 
Total external operating revenues $1,112,128 $1,239,738 $   897,953 
(a)  Operating revenues for energy  

marketing and transportation  
are presented in accordance  
with EITF 02-3 and EITF 99-19,  
as described in Note 1. 

(b)  Power generation revenue in 2003  
includes $114 million of contract  
termination revenue as described  
in Note 13. 

 
 

   

Intersegment operating revenues    
Wholesale energy:    
Coal mining $ 12,298 $ 12,545 $ 10,524 
Oil and gas  343 329 443 
Electric utility 971 77 - 
Corporate 2,672 - - 
Intersegment eliminations (6,711) (2,639) (443) 
Total intersegment  
   operating revenues (c) 

 
$   9,573 

 
$ 10,312 

 
$ 10,524 

 (c)    In accordance with the provisions of  
SFAS 71, intercompany fuel sales to  
the Company’s regulated utility, 
Black Hills Power,  are not eliminated. 

 
 

   

Depreciation, depletion  
   and amortization 

   

Wholesale energy:    
   Coal mining $  5,142 $  3,808 $  3,358 
   Oil and gas 13,028 10,000 7,799 
   Energy marketing and transportation 1,201 1,183 932 
   Power generation 34,535 31,727 21,452 
Electric utility 18,873 18,999 17,499 
Communications 13,793 14,515 12,678 
Corporate 1,261 559 147 
Total depreciation, depletion  
   and amortization 

 
$ 87,833 

 
$ 80,791 

 
$  63,865 

 
 

   

Operating income (loss)    
Wholesale energy:    
   Coal mining $    8,454 $    8,775 $    9,457 
   Oil and gas 19,181 13,258 6,471 
   Energy marketing and transportation 18,181 12,151 17,816 
   Power generation 47,934 58,893 35,362 
Electric utility 43,809 51,099 58,160 
Communications (2,334) (5,241) (7,447) 
Corporate (1,306) (7,767) (7,103) 
Total operating income $ 133,919 $ 131,168 $ 112,716 
 
 
 
 

   

    

(in thousands) 
December 31: 

 
2004 

 
2003 

 
2002 

Interest income    
Wholesale energy:    
   Coal mining $    1,393 $    2,473 $    3,459 
   Oil and gas 12 832 2 
   Energy marketing and transportation 728 1,236 1,634 
   Power generation 24,559 23,720 22,254 
Electric utility 696 1,512 734 
Communications - - 3 
Corporate 15,626 16,090 16,680 
Intersegment eliminations (41,256) (44,787) (44,157) 
Total interest income $    1,758 $    1,076 $      609 
 
 

   

Interest expense    
Wholesale energy:    
   Coal mining $    226 $    757 $    2,453 
   Oil and gas 1,578 2,054 59 
   Energy marketing and transportation 877 885 564 
   Power generation 49,758 53,854 41,454 
Electric utility 16,019 17,044 13,663 
Communications 3,748 3,827 3,993 
Corporate 20,892 18,945 15,535 
Intersegment eliminations (41,256) (44,787) (44,157) 
Total interest expense $ 51,842 $ 52,579 $ 33,564 
 
 

   

Income taxes    
Wholesale energy:    
   Coal mining $    2,574 $    2,423 $    2,957 
   Oil and gas 5,315 3,978 1,739 
   Energy marketing and transportation 7,811 5,778 6,396 
   Power generation 6,711 11,795 7,430 
Electric utility 9,512 11,622 15,067 
Communications (2,127) (3,184) (3,948) 
Corporate (3,092) (2,811) (2,997) 
Total income taxes $ 26,704 $ 29,601 $ 26,644 
 
 

   

Income (loss) from continuing 
   operations before  change in  
   accounting principle 

   

Wholesale energy:    
   Coal mining $    7,463 $    8,289 $    8,131 
   Oil and gas 12,200 8,400 4,783 
   Energy marketing and transportation 10,222 6,725 12,739 
   Power generation 15,562 22,429 12,523 
Electric utility 19,209 24,089 30,217 
Communications (3,941) (5,880) (7,260) 
Corporate (3,462) (7,569) (2,981) 
Intersegment eliminations (4) (2) (14) 
Total income from continuing  
   operations before change in  
   accounting principle 

 
 

$ 57,249 

 
 

$ 56,481 

 
 

$ 58,138 
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 Acquisitions 
On October 1, 2002, the Company entered into 
a definitive merger agreement to acquire the 

Denver-based Mallon Resources Corporation. On 
March 10, 2003, the Company completed this 
acquisition. The total cost of the transaction was 
approximately $51.2 million. The total cost of the 
transaction includes $30.5 million for the October 2002 
acquisition of Mallon’s debt to Aquila Energy Capital 
Corporation and the settlement of outstanding hedges, 
and approximately $8.4 million, which the Company 
loaned to Mallon prior to completion of the acquisition. 
Mallon shareholders received 0.044 of a share of the 
Company’s common stock for each share of Mallon, 
which was equivalent to 481,509 shares of Black Hills 
Corporation common stock. 

The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase 
method of accounting and, accordingly, the purchase 
price was allocated to the acquired assets and liabilities 
based on estimates of the fair values of the assets 
purchased and liabilities assumed as of the date of 
acquisition. The purchase allocation has been adjusted to 
reflect the completion of the quantification and analysis 
of the acquired asset retirement obligations in 
accordance with SFAS 143. This adjustment resulted in 
a $0.7 million increase to Long-term liabilities and 
Property, plant and equipment. The adjusted allocation 
of the purchase price is as follows (in thousands): 

Current assets $      165 
Property, plant and equipment 56,283 
Deferred tax asset 5,194 
Total assets acquired $ 61,642 
  
Current liabilities $   6,343 
Long-term liabilities 4,146 
Total liabilities assumed $ 10,489 
  
Net assets $ 51,153 

The results of operations of the above acquired company 
have been included in the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements since the acquisition date. 

The following pro forma consolidated results of 
operations for the years ended December 31, have been 
prepared as if the Mallon acquisition had occurred on 
January 1, 2002 (in thousands): 

 2003 2002 
Operating revenues $1,252,991 $   919,538 
Income from continuing operations $     56,033 $     52,539 
Net income available for common $     60,516 $     55,630 
Earnings per share -   
Basic:   
Continuing operations $         1.80 $         1.92 
Total $         1.95 $         2.04 
Diluted:     
Continuing operations $         1.78 $         1.90 
Total $         1.93 $         2.02 

The above pro forma information is presented for infor-
mational purposes only and is not necessarily indicative 
of the results of operations that actually would have been 
achieved had the acquisition been consummated as of that 
time, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results. 

Mallon Resources’ proved developed and undeveloped 
reserves, estimated using constant year-end product 
prices, as of December 31, 2002, were approximately  
86 billion cubic feet of gas equivalent. These estimates 
are based on reserve reports by Ralph E. Davis Associates, 
Inc., an independent engineering firm selected by the 
Company. The reserves are located primarily on the 
Jicarilla Apache Nation in the San Juan Basin of New 
Mexico and are comprised almost entirely of natural gas 
in shallow sand formations. The oil and gas leases of the 
acquisition total more than 66,500 gross acres (56,000 
net), most of which is contained in a contiguous block 
that is in the early stages of development.  

  Subsequent Events 
  CHEYENNE ACQUISITION 
   On January 13, 2004, the Company entered 

into a Stock Purchase Agreement to acquire from Xcel 
Energy, Inc. all of the outstanding capital stock of its 
subsidiary, CLF&P, a Wyoming corporation. On January 
21, 2005, the Company completed this acquisition. The 
Company purchased all the common stock of CLF&P, 
including the assumption of outstanding debt of 
approximately $25 million, for approximately $90 million, 
plus a working capital adjust-ment to be finalized in the 
second quarter of 2005. 

Cheyenne serves approximately 38,000 electric and 
31,000 natural gas customers in Cheyenne and other 
parts of Laramie County, Wyoming. Its electric system 
peak load is 163 megawatts and power is supplied to the 
utility under an all-requirements contract with Public 
Service Company of Colorado, a subsidiary of Xcel 
Energy. The all-requirements contract expires in 2007. 
Annual gas distribution and transportation is 
approximately 5.0 million MMbtu. 

POWER SALES AGREEMENT 
The Company, through its subsidiary BHP, has entered 
into an agreement with Montana-Dakota Utilities Co., a 
division of MDU Resources Group, Inc., to provide 
wholesale power for the City of Sheridan, Wyoming. 
Under the agreement, the Company will provide all 
requirements up to 74 megawatts of power to Montana-
Dakota from January 1, 2007 through January 1, 2017. 
Power requirements above 74 megawatts are negotiable 
under terms specified in the agreement. The contract is 
pending approval by the Wyoming Public Service 
Commission. An existing contract provides up to  
55 megawatts and expires January 1, 2007. 

24 
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 Oil and Gas Reserves and Related  
 Financial Data (Unaudited) 

Black Hills Exploration and Production has interests in 
996 oil and gas properties in ten states and also holds 
leases on approximately 256,000 net acres. 

COSTS INCURRED 
Following is a summary of costs incurred in oil and gas 
property acquisition, exploration and development 
during the year ended December 31, (in thousands): 

 2004 2003 2002 
Acquisition of properties:    
Proved $   1,578 $ 21,075 $      162 
Unproved 231 19,994 2,331 
Exploration costs 6,094 4,089 2,367 
Development costs 39,258 19,377 11,699 
Company’s share of equity method 

investees’ costs of property 
acquisition, exploration and 
development 

 
 
  

392 

 
  
 

1,067 

 
 
 

- 
 $ 47,553 $ 65,602 $ 16,559 
 

RESERVES 
The following table summarizes Black Hills Exploration 
and Production’s quantities of proved developed and 
undeveloped oil and natural gas reserves, estimated using 
constant year-end product prices, as of December 31, 
2004, 2003 and 2002, and a reconciliation of the 
changes between these dates. These estimates are based 
on reserve reports by Ralph E. Davis Associates, Inc., an 
independent engineering company selected by the 
Company. Such reserve estimates are based upon a 
number of variable factors and assumptions, which may 
cause these estimates to differ from actual results. 

(in thousands of barrels of oil and MMcf of gas)    2004 
              Oil            Gas
Proved developed and undeveloped reserves:  
     Balance at beginning of year 5,389 124,062
        Production (432) (9,456)
        Additions 685 65,965
        Property sales (39) (1,698)
        Revisions to previous estimates (364) (36,890)
     Balance at end of year 5,239 141,983
Proved developed reserves at 
      end of year included above 

 
4,608 80,366

   
Year-end prices (NYMEX) $ 43.45 $  6.15
Year-end prices (average well-head) $ 41.19 $  5.55
(continued in next column) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

(continued from previous column) 
(in thousands of barrels of oil and MMcf of gas) 

 
   2003 

             Oil           Gas 
Proved developed and undeveloped reserves:  
     Balance at beginning of year 4,880 28,513 
        Production (405) (8,548) 
        Additions 364 91,736 
        Property sales - - 
        Revisions to previous estimates 550 12,361 
     Balance at end of year 5,389 124,062 
Proved developed reserves at  

  end of year included above 4,830
 

66,294 
   
Year-end prices (NYMEX) $ 32.52 $ 6.19 
Year-end prices (average well-head) $ 30.56 $ 4.63 
 
 

 

    2002 
             Oil           Gas 
Proved developed and undeveloped reserves:  
     Balance at beginning of year 4,055 24,071 
        Production (455) (4,707) 
        Additions 188 8,504 
        Property sales (11) - 
        Revisions to previous estimates 1,103 645 
     Balance at end of year 4,880 28,513 
Proved developed reserves at  
      end of year included above 4,188

 
27,473 

   
Year-end prices (NYMEX) $ 31.20 $ 4.60 
Year-end prices (average well-head) $ 29.24 $ 3.41 
 
The 2004 reserve reconciliation reflected a 36.8 BCF 
downward revision to previous estimates. Approximately 
70 percent of the revision is associated with our East 
Blanco Field in New Mexico. Since acquiring the field in 
March 2003, we have undertaken an extensive drilling 
and recompletion program. Overall, results of this 
development program have resulted in substantial 
reserve additions from numerous producing formations. 
However, our estimates for Proved Developed Non-
Producing (PNP) and Proved Developed Behind Pipe 
(PBP) reserves, particularly in the multiple horizons of 
the Tertiary and Pictured Cliff zones, were revised 
downward based on actual results from our drilling and 
completion activities. In addition, many well locations 
which had been booked as Proved Undeveloped (PUD) 
and Proved Developed Non-Producing (PNP) in last 
year’s reserve study were reclassified through drilling and 
completion activities to Proved Developed Producing 
(PDP) status by year-end 2004. Based on actual 
production history at the reclassified properties, reserve 
estimates for some well locations were revised 
downward.  

The remaining 30 percent of downward reserve revisions 
were the result of various routine changes to engineering 
estimates, primarily due to additional production history.  
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CAPITALIZED COSTS 
Following is information concerning capitalized costs 
for the years ended December 31, (in thousands): 

 2004 2003 2002 
Unproved oil and gas properties $   20,148 $   22,705 $    5,109 
Proved oil and gas properties 209,748 162,116 111,227 
 229,896 184,821 116,336 
Accumulated depreciation, 

depletion & amortization  
and valuation allowances  

 
 

(75,870) 

 
 

(61,928) 

 
 

(56,488) 
Net capitalized costs $ 154,026 $ 122,893 $ 59,848 
Company’s share of equity 

method investees’ net 
capitalized costs 

 
 

$     1,459 

 
 

$     1,067 

 
 

  $           - 

 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
Following is a summary of results of operations for 
producing activities for the years ended December 31, 
(in thousands): 

 2004 2003 2002 
Revenues    
Sales $ 57,869 $ 43,458 $ 23,291 
Production costs 19,991 14,432 6,310 
Depreciation, depletion & 
amortization and valuation 
provisions 

 
 

11,497 

 
 

9,331 

 
 

7,246 
 31,488 23,763 13,556 
Income tax expenses 5,342 3,953 1,668 
Results of operations from 

producing activities 
(excluding corporate 
overhead and interest costs) 

 
 
 

$ 21,039 

 
 
 

$ 15,742 

 
 
 

$  8,067 
Company’s share of equity 

method investees’ results  
of operations for producing 
activities 

  
 
 

$     (120) 

  
 
 

$      337 

  
  
 

$          - 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STANDARDIZED MEASURE OF DISCOUNTED 

FUTURE NET CASH FLOWS 
Following is a summary of the standardized measure as 
prescribed in SFAS 69, of discounted future net cash 
flows and related changes relating to proved oil and gas 
reserves for the years ended December 31, (in thousands): 

 2004 2003 2002
   
Future cash inflows $1,044,098 $ 794,555 $ 274,900
Future production and 

development costs 
 

(409,478) 
 

(339,732) (124,451)
Future income tax expenses (144,053) (129,538) (41,546)
Future net cash flows 490,567 325,285 108,903
10 percent annual discount for 

estimated timing of cash flows 
 

(181,368) 
 

(123,163) (36,585)
Standardized measure of 

discounted future net cash flows 
 

$  309,199 
 

$ 202,122 $   72,318
 
The following are the principal sources of change in the 
standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows 
during the years ended December 31, (in thousands): 

 2004 2003 2002
Standardized measure – 

beginning of year 
 

$ 202,122 $   72,318 $  38,876
Sales and transfers of oil and gas 

produced, net of production costs 
 

(45,266) (29,026) (16,981)
Net changes in prices and production 

costs 
 

55,916 51,735 33,285
Extensions, discoveries and improved 

recovery, less related costs 
 

168,516 9,064 15,700
Net changes in future  

development costs 
 

21,852 32,757 2,202
Revisions of previous quantity 

estimates 
 

(96,419) 26,632 11,839
Accretion of discount 26,534 9,417 4,375
Net change in income taxes (22,028) (41,372) (16,978)
Purchases of reserves 4,062 70,597 -
Sales of reserves (6,090) - -
Standardized measure – end of year $ 309,199 $ 202,122 $  72,318
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 Quarterly Historical Data (Unaudited) 
 
 

The Company operates on a calendar year basis. The 
following table sets forth selected unaudited historical 
operating results and market data for each quarter of 
2004 and 2003. 

2004     
(in thousands, except per 
share amounts, dividends  
and common stock prices) 

 
First 

Quarter 

 
Second 
Quarter 

Third
Quarter

 
Fourth 

Quarter 
Operating revenues $ 274,328 $ 280,355 $ 279,614 $ 287,404 
Operating income 28,306 27,274 37,313 41,026 
Income from  

continuing operations 
 

9,994 
 

9,552 17,348
 

20,355 
(Loss) income from discontinued 

operations, net of taxes 
 

(208) 
 

1,963 (168)
 

(863)
Net income 9,786 11,515 17,180 19,492 
Net income available for 

common stock 
 

9,698 
 

11,437 17,102
 

19,415 
Earnings per common share:       
   Basic -     
      Continuing operations $        0.31 $        0.29 $       0.53 $       0.63
      Discontinued operations (0.01) 0.06 - (0.03)
         Total $        0.30 $        0.35 $       0.53 $       0.60
   Diluted -      
      Continuing operations $        0.30 $        0.29 $       0.53 $       0.62
      Discontinued operations - 0.06 (0.01) (0.03)
         Total $        0.30 $        0.35 $       0.52 $       0.59
     
Dividends paid per share $        0.31 $        0.31 $       0.31 $       0.31
Common stock prices       
   High $      32.17 $      32.49 $     31.60 $     31.68
   Low $      29.19 $      27.83 $     26.52 $     27.85
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

2003     
(in thousands, except per 
share amounts, dividends  
and common stock prices) 

 
First 

Quarter 

 
Second 
Quarter 

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Operating revenues $ 291,445 $ 289,243 $ 410,860 $ 258,502
Operating income 35,504 30,330 39,044 26,290
Income from continuing 
   operations before changes
   in accounting principles 

 
 

15,698 

 
 

13,507 17,673 9,603
Income from discontinued  
   operations, net of taxes 

 
1,160 

 
3,153 4,771 852

Net income 14,178 16,660 22,444 7,940
Net income available for 
common stock 

 
14,121 

 
16,603 22,387 7,853

Earnings per common share:     
   Basic -     
      Continuing operations $      0.58 $      0.44 $      0.55 $      0.29 
      Discontinued operations 0.04 0.10 0.15 0.03 
      Changes in accounting  
         principles 

 
(0.10) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(0.08)

         Total $      0.52 $      0.54 $      0.70 $      0.24 
   Diluted -     
      Continuing operations $      0.58 $      0.43 $      0.54 $      0.29 
      Discontinued operations 0.04 0.10 0.15 0.03 
      Changes in accounting  
         principles 

 
(0.10) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(0.08)

         Total $      0.52 $      0.54 $      0.69 $      0.24 
     
Dividends paid per share $      0.30 $      0.30 $      0.30 $      0.30 
Common stock prices     
   High $   28.39 $   31.70 $   33.54 $   33.15 
   Low $   21.85 $   27.00 $   29.82 $   27.76 
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Selected Financial Statistics 
Years ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 
TOTAL ASSETS (in thousands) $2,056,163 $2,063,252 $1,999,974 $1,651,765 $1,252,936 
      
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(in thousands) 

     

Total property, plant and equipment $1,971,119 $1,882,545 $1,703,220 $1,377,521 $  911,147 
Accumulated depreciation and depletion 525,387 440,274 377,568 297,400 252,816 
Capital expenditures 90,974 116,691 303,191 594,142 173,517(a) 
      
CAPITALIZATION (in thousands)      
Long-term debt, net of current maturities $   733,581 $  868,459 $  540,958 $  329,771 $  213,606 
Preferred stock equity 7,167 8,143 5,549 5,549 4,000 
Common stock equity 728,598 701,604 529,614 509,615 278,346 
Total capitalization $1,469,346 $1,578,206 $1,076,121 $  844,935 $  495,952 
      
CAPITALIZATION RATIOS      
Long-term debt, net of current maturities 49.9% 55.0% 50.3% 39.0% 43.1% 
Preferred stock equity 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.7 0.8 
Common stock equity 49.6 44.5 49.2 60.3 56.1 
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
      
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES  
(in thousands) 

 
$1,121,701 

 
$1,250,050(b) 

 
$  908,477 

 
$ 737,806 

 
$  741,121 

      
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE 
CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE (in thousands) 

 
$     57,249 

 
$    56,481 

 
$    58,138 

 
$     84,355 

 
$    52,480 

      
DIVIDENDS PAID ON COMMON STOCK  
(in thousands) 

 
$     40,210 

 
$    37,025 

 
$    31,116 

 
$    28,517 

 
$    23,527 

      
COMMON STOCK DATA      
(in thousands)      
Shares outstanding, average 32,387 30,496 26,803 25,374 22,118 
Shares outstanding, average diluted 32,912 31,015 27,167 25,771 22,281 
Shares outstanding, end of year 32,478 32,298 26,933 26,652 22,921 
(in dollars)      
Basic earnings per average share –      
Continuing operations $        1.76 $        1.84 $        2.16 $        3.30 $        2.37 
Discontinued operations 0.02 0.33 0.09 0.15 0.02 
Change in accounting principle - (0.17) 0.03 - - 
Total $        1.78 $        2.00 $        2.28 $        3.45 $        2.39 
     Diluted earnings per average share –      
Continuing operations $        1.74 $        1.82 $        2.14 $        3.28 $        2.35 
Discontinued operations 0.02 0.32 0.09 0.14 0.02 
Change in accounting principle - (0.17) 0.03 - - 
Total $        1.76 $        1.97 $        2.26 $        3.42 $        2.37 
Dividends paid per share $        1.24 $        1.20 $        1.16 $        1.12 $        1.08 
Book value per share, end of year $      22.43 $      21.72 $      19.66 $      19.12 $      12.14 
      
RETURN ON AVERAGE  
COMMON STOCK EQUITY   

 
8.1% 

 
9.9% 

 
11.8% 

 
22.2% 

 
21.3% 

 
(a) Excludes the non-cash acquisition of Indeck Capital, Inc. 
(b)  Includes $114.0 million of contract termination revenue. 
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Selected Operation Statistics (unaudited) 

Years ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 
WHOLESALE ENERGY      
Coal production (in thousands)      
Tons of coal produced and sold 4,780 4,812 4,052 3,518 3,050 
Coal reserves – tons 294,235 262,650 272,794 276,648 274,667 
      
Exploration and production reserves  
(in thousands) 

     

Oil – barrels 5,239 5,389 4,880 4,055 4,413 
Gas – Mcf  141,983 124,062 28,513 24,071 18,404 
Total Mcfe reserves 173,417 156,399 57,793 48,401 44,882 
      
Net present value (PV-10 method) $ 394,446 $ 265,341 $   94,165 $   43,745 $  111,451 
      
Production (in thousands)      
Oil – barrels 432 416 453 446 334 
Gas – Mcf  10,000 8,348 4,683 4,619 3,274 
Total Mcfe  12,595 10,843 7,398 7,293 5,278 
      
Wells      
Wells – operated 516 514 384 385 298 
Wells – nonoperated 480 509 440 428 341 
 996 1,023 824 813 639 
      
Drilled – gross 127 82 52 81 63 
Drilled – net 43 23 12 19 11 

Fuel marketing average daily volumes       
Natural gas physical sales – MMBtus 1,226,600 897,850 683,500 543,000 567,900 
Natural gas financial sales – MMBtus 514,500 344,050 404,700 504,700 292,900 
Crude oil marketed – barrels 44,900 58,700 57,200 36,500 44,300 
      
Power generation      
Operating Nameplate MWs      
Coal-fired (b) 90 90 - - - 
Natural gas-fired (c) 885 884 884(a) 553 171 
Hydroelectric (d) - - 42 40 39 
Equity investment, various types 29 28 24 24 40 
 1,004 1,002 950 617 250 
Under construction MWs,  
net ownership: 

     

Natural gas-fired - - - 274 380 
Coal-fired (b) - - 90 90 90 
 - - 90 364 470 
      
(a)  Includes the 224 MW expansion at the Las Vegas cogeneration power plant which went into service on January 3, 2003. 
(b)  Includes plant under a lease arrangement. 
(c)  Includes 40 MW in 2004, 2003 and 2002, 28 MW in 2001 and 19 MW in 2000 currently reported as “discontinued operations.” 
(d)  These assets were sold in September 2003 and are reported as “discontinued operations.” 
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Selected Operation Statistics (continued, unaudited) 

Years ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 
ELECTRIC UTILITY      
Electric utility electricity generated and purchased 
(megawatthours) 

     

Generated, net station output 1,781,518 1,963,147 2,072,545 2,270,470 2,122,766 
Purchased and net interchange 1,361,409 1,048,076 952,965 760,727 620,958 
Total, generated and purchased 3,142,927 3,011,223 3,025,510 3,031,197 2,743,724 
Company use and losses (92,131) (85,698) (79,773) (53,813) (86,280) 
 3,050,796 2,925,525 2,945,737 2,977,384 2,657,444 

Electric utility electricity sales (megawatthours)      
Residential 447,166 463,290 454,201 430,916 415,761 
General and commercial 627,326 641,779 620,665 602,713 582,761 
Industrial 406,209 404,341 413,930 508,856 510,053 
Public authorities 28,934 27,426 26,839 25,968 25,484 
Sales for resale 450,334 457,983 450,425 443,901 439,007 
Total firm electricity sales 1,959,969 1,994,819 1,966,060 2,012,354 1,973,066 
Non-firm sales 1,090,827 930,706 979,677 965,030 684,378 
 3,050,796 2,925,525 2,945,737 2,977,384 2,657,444 
Electric utility revenue (in thousands)      
Residential $    36,536 $   37,716 $     37,111 $    35,183 $    34,140 
General and commercial 46,791 47,777 46,673 45,007 43,860 
Industrial 19,796 19,589 20,407 24,014 24,234 
Public authorities 2,200 2,102 2,070 2,014 1,994 
Sales for resale 17,359 17,458 17,017 16,399 15,969 
Total firm electricity revenue 122,682 124,642 123,278 122,617 120,197 
Non-firm electric revenue 43,589 37,736 31,945 84,891 47,574 
Other electric revenue 7,474 8,641 6,963 4,847 5,537 
 $  173,745 $ 171,019 $ 162,186 $ 212,355 $ 173,308 
Electric utility customers (end of year)      
Residential 50,760 49,848 48,889 48,436 47,974 
General and commercial 11,301 11,107 10,874 10,611 10,431 
Industrial 45 45 42 45 47 
Public authorities 151 146 141 143 147 
Other electric utilities 2 2 2 2 2 
 62,259 61,148 59,948 59,237 58,601 
      
Degree days 7,075 7,956 7,972 7,682 8,005 
      
COMMUNICATIONS      
Communications revenue (in thousands)      
Residential $    22,105 $   21,979 $    19,437 $   12,072 $     4,490 
Business 10,477 9,119 8,600 5,512 2,287 
Other 7,004 8,665 4,640 2,674 912 
 $    39,586 $   39,763 $    32,677 $  20,258 $     7,689 
        
Residential customers 23,663 23,878 21,700 15,660 8,368 
Revenue generating units (a) 56,835 53,568 48,285 32,484 16,634 
Business customers  3,317  3,012 (b)  3,061 2,250 646 
      
        
Hybrid fiber-coaxial cable (miles) 845 840 818 737 588 
      
(a) Total Revenue generating units (RGU) equal the total number of services to which residential customers subscribe.  

 Telephone, cable TV and Internet access each represent an RGU. 
(b) In 2003, reported business customers were adjusted for the consolidation of multiple-location business customers,  

  business orders and temporary business access lines. 
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DANIEL P. LANDGUTH 
Daniel P. Landguth, age 58, has been Chairman of the Board since January 2004. He served as 
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer from January 1991 to January 2004. Mr. 
Landguth has 35 years of experience with Black Hills Corporation. He has been a member of the 
Board of Directors since 1989 and currently chairs the Executive Committee. Mr. Landguth holds  
a B.S. degree in Electrical Engineering from the South Dakota School of Mines and Technology. 

 

DAVID R. EMERY 
David R. Emery, age 42, was elected President, Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Board of 
Directors in January 2004. He served as President and Chief Operating Officer – Retail Business Segment 
from April 2003 to January 2004 and Vice President – Fuel Resources from January 1997 to April 
2003. From June 1993 to January 1997, he was General Manager of Black Hills Exploration and 
Production, Inc. Mr. Emery has 16 years of experience with the Company. He was previously employed as 
a petroleum engineer for a large independent oil and gas company. He holds a B.S. degree in Petroleum 
Engineering from the University of Wyoming and a M.B.A. from the University of South Dakota. 

 

BRUCE B. BRUNDAGE 
Bruce B. Brundage, age 69, has been President and Director of Brundage & Company, since 1973. 
Brundage & Company is a Colorado-based firm providing financial and advisory services to business 
concerns primarily located in the western United States. Mr. Brundage has been a member of the 
Board of Directors since 1986 and currently chairs the Audit Committee. 

 

DAVID C. EBERTZ 
David C. Ebertz, age 59, is President of Dave Ebertz Risk Management Consulting, a firm 
specializing in insurance and risk management services for schools and public entities, since January 
2000. From 1976 until December 1999, he was President and majority owner at Barlow Agency, 
Inc., Gillette, Wyoming, providing risk management and insurance services primarily to the 
manufacturing, oil and gas, and mining industries. Mr. Ebertz has served on the Board of Directors 
since 1998. 

 

JACK W. EUGSTER 
Jack W. Eugster, age 59, is the Non-Executive Chairman of Shopko Stores, Inc., a general merchandise 
discount store chain since 2001. He was Chairman, CEO and President of Musicland Stores, Inc. 
from 1986 to 2001. Mr. Eugster was elected to the Board of Directors in May 2004. 
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JOHN R. HOWARD 
John R. Howard, age 64, retired, was President of Industrial Products, Inc., which provided 
equipment and supplies to the mining and manufacturing industries, from 1992 to 2003 and was 
Special Projects Manager for Linweld, Inc. Mr. Howard was elected to the Board of Directors in 
1977 and currently serves as Lead Director and chairs the Governance Committee. 

 

KAY S. JORGENSEN 
Kay S. Jorgensen, age 54, is involved in numerous business activities and is owner of Jorgensen-
Thompson Creative Broadcast Services, Inc., providing radio broadcast services in the western 
United States. Previously, she served in the South Dakota State Legislature for several terms and has 
served on various regional, state and local boards and commissions. Ms. Jorgensen has served on the 
Board of Directors since 1992. 

 

RICHARD KORPAN 
Richard Korpan, age 63, retired, was Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Florida 
Progress Corporation and its predecessor from 1991 to 2000. Mr. Korpan was elected to the Board 
of Directors in June 2003. 

 

STEPHEN D. NEWLIN 
Stephen R. Newlin, age 52, is President of the Industrial Sector of Ecolab, Inc. (NYSE:ECL). Ecolab 
is a provider of cleaning, sanitizing, food safety, chemicals and equipment serving industrial, institutional, 
healthcare, food and beverage industries, since 2003. Prior to that, Mr. Newlin was a private investor 
and business advisor from 2001 to 2003 and was President, Chief Operating Officer and Director of 
Nalco Chemical Company from 1998 to 2001. Mr. Newlin was elected to the Board of Directors in 
January 2004. 

 

THOMAS J. ZELLER 
Thomas J. Zeller, age 57, has been President of RESPEC, a technical consulting and services firm 
with expertise in engineering, environmental and information technologies, since 1995. Mr. Zeller 
has been a member of the Board of Directors since 1997 and currently chairs the Compensation 
Committee. 
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DAVID R. EMERY 
David R. Emery, age 42, was elected President, Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Board  
of Directors in January 2004. Prior to that, he was our President and Chief Operating Officer – Retail 
Business Segment from April 2003 to January 2004 and Vice President – Fuel Resources from January 
1997 to April 2003. From June 1993 to January 1997, he was General Manager of Black Hills Exploration 
and Production. Mr. Emery has 16 years of experience with Black Hills. He was previously employed as a 
petroleum engineer for a large independent oil and gas company. He holds a B.S. in Petroleum 
Engineering from the University of Wyoming and a M.B.A. from the University of South Dakota. 

THOMAS M. OHLMACHER  
Thomas M. Ohlmacher, age 53, has been the President and Chief Operating Officer of our Wholesale 
Energy Group since November 2001. He served as Senior Vice President – Power Supply and Power 
Marketing from January 2001 to November 2001 and Vice President – Power Supply from 1994 to 
2001. Prior to that, he held several positions with our company since 1974. Mr. Ohlmacher holds a 
B.S. in Chemistry from the South Dakota School of Mines and Technology. 

LINDEN R. EVANS 
Linden R. Evans, age 42, was appointed President and Chief Operating Officer – Retail Services  
in October 2004. Mr. Evans had been serving as our Vice President and General Manager of our 
communications subsidiary since December 2003, and served as our Associate Counsel from May 
2001 to December 2003. Prior to joining Black Hills, Mr. Evans was an attorney for several law 
firms, including the law firm Truhe, Beardsley, Jensen, Helmers and VonWald from February 1997 
to May 2001. He was also employed as a mining engineer with several gold mining companies.  
He holds a J.D. from the Northwestern School of Law, Lewis & Clark College, Portland, Oregon, 
and a B.S. Degree in Mining Engineering from the University of Missouri. 

MARK T. THIES 
Mark T. Thies, age 41, has been our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since  
March 2000. From May 1997 to March 2000, he was our Controller. From 1990 to 1997, Mr. Thies 
served in a number of accounting positions with InterCoast Energy Company, an unregulated energy 
company and a wholly owned subsidiary of MidAmerican Energy Holdings Company. Mr. Thies 
holds a B.A. in Accounting and a B.A. in Business Administration from Saint Ambrose College and  
is a Certified Public Accountant. 

RUSSELL L. COHEN 
Russell L. Cohen, age 44, has been Senior Vice President and Chief Risk Officer since May 2002. Prior to 
joining Black Hills, Mr. Cohen was General Partner and Chief Financial Officer at Regenesis Group, 
LLC from December 2000 to April 2002. He was Chief Financial Officer at Worldbridge Broadband 
Services, Inc. from January 1998 to February 2000, when it was acquired, and left in November 2000. 
He worked in various derivative products positions at First Boston, Lehman Brothers and Bear Stearns 
from June 1987 to December 1997. Mr. Cohen holds a B.S. in Economics from Yale University and 
an M.B.A. from Stanford. 

STEVEN J. HELMERS  
Steven J. Helmers, age 48, has been our Senior Vice President, General Counsel since January 2004. 
He served as our Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary from January 2001 
to January 2004. Prior to joining Black Hills, Mr. Helmers was an attorney and a shareholder with 
the Rapid City, South Dakota law firms of Truhe, Beardsley, Jensen, Helmers & VonWald, from 
1997 to January 2001, and Lynn, Jackson, Shultz & Lebrun, P.C., from 1983 to 1997. He holds a 
J.D. from the University of South Dakota School of Law. 
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MAURICE T. KLEFEKER 
Maurice T. Klefeker, age 48, was elected Senior Vice President – Strategic Planning and Development 
in March 2004. Prior to that, he served as Senior Vice President of our subsidiary, Black Hills 
Generation, Inc. from September 2002 to March 2004 and as Vice President of Corporate 
Development from July 2000 to September 2002. He joined Indeck Capital, Inc. in December 1995 
as Asset Manager and later served as Vice President of Business Development until July 2000. Prior 
to that, he served in a variety of technical and engineering positions with Northern Indiana Public 
Service Company for 14 years. Mr. Klefeker holds a B.S. from Purdue University and a M.B.A. from 
the University of Notre Dame. 

JAMES M. MATTERN  
James M. Mattern, age 50, has been the Senior Vice President – Corporate Administration and 
Compliance since April 2003, Senior Vice President – Corporate Administration from September 
1999 to April 2003, and was Vice President – Corporate Administration from January 1994 to 
September 1999. Mr. Mattern has 17 years of experience with Black Hills. He holds a B.S. in Social 
Sciences and an M.S. in Administration from Northern State University.  

GARNER M. ANDERSON 
Garner M. Anderson, age 42, has been our Vice President and Treasurer since July 2003. Mr. Anderson 
has over 17 years of experience with Black Hills, including positions as Director – Treasury Services 
and Risk Manager. Mr. Anderson holds a B.S. in Business Administration from the University of South 
Dakota and an M.B.A. in Finance from Arizona State University, and is a Certified Public Accountant. 

ROXANN R. BASHAM 
Roxann R. Basham, age 43, was elected Vice President – Governance and Corporate Secretary in February 
2004. Prior to that, she was our Vice President – Controller from March 2000 to January 2004. From 
December 1997 to March 2000, she was Vice President – Finance and Secretary/Treasurer. From 1993 
until December 1997, she served as our Secretary/Treasurer, and has a total of 21 years of experience 
with Black Hills. She holds a B.S. in Business Administration from the University of South Dakota 
and is a Certified Public Accountant. 

PERRY S. KRUSH 
Perry S. Krush, age 46, was appointed Vice President – Controller in December 2004. Mr. Krush has 
over 16 years of experience with Black Hills, including positions as Controller – Retail Operations from 
2003 to 2004, Director of Accounting for our Subsidiary, Black Hills Energy Inc. and Accounting 
Manager – Fuel Resources from 1997 to 2003. He previously held positions in healthcare 
administration and public accounting. Mr. Krush holds a B.S. in Business Administration from the 
University of South Dakota. 

KYLE D. WHITE  
Kyle D. White, age 45, has been Vice President – Corporate Affairs since January 30, 2001 and  
Vice President –Marketing and Regulatory Affairs since July 1998. Mr. White served as Director – 
Strategic Marketing and Sales from 1993 to January 1998 and Vice President-Energy Services from 
January 1998 to July 1998. He has a total of 22 years of experience with Black Hills. Mr. White  
holds a B.S. and M.S. in Business Administration from the University of South Dakota. 
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COMMON STOCK

Transfer Agent, Registrar
& Dividend Disbursing Agent
Wells Fargo Shareowner Services
P.O. Box 64854
St. Paul, Minnesota 55164-0854
800-468-9716  

SENIOR UNSECURED NOTES

Trustee & Paying Agent
LaSalle Bank N.A.
135 S. LaSalle Street, Suite 1840
Chicago, Illinois 60603    

FIRST MORTGAGE BONDS

Trustee & Paying Agent
JPMorgan Chase Bank
450 West 33rd Street
New York, New York 10001   

POLLUTION CONTROL REFUNDING

Revenue Bonds
Trustee & Paying Agent
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.                              
Sixth Street and Marquette Avenue
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55479   

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT

Revenue Bonds
Trustee & Paying Agent
JPMorgan Institutional Trust Services   
131 South Dearborn, 8th Floor
Chicago, Illinois 60670

CORPORATE OFFICES

Black Hills Corporation
P.O. Box 1400
625 Ninth Street
Rapid City, South Dakota 57709
605-721-1700
www.blackhillscorp.com

MARKET FOR EQUITY SECURITIES

The Company’s Common Stock ($1 par value) 
is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE).
The Company has filed its CEO Certification 
with the NYSE.
Quotations for the Common Stock are reported
under the symbol BKH. At year-end, the Company
had 5,500 shareholders of record. All fifty states 
and the District of Columbia plus 16 foreign 
countries are represented.

The continued interest and support of equity 
owners is appreciated. The Company has declared
Common Stock dividends payable in each year since
its incorporation in 1941. At its February 2005
meeting, the Board of Directors raised the quarterly
dividend to 32.0 cents per share, equivalent to an
annual increase of 4.0 cents per share. This regular
quarterly dividend is payable March 1, 2005.
Dividend payment dates are normally March 1, 
June 1, September 1 and December 1.

2005 ANNUAL MEETING   

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders 
will be held at The Journey Museum, 
222 New York Street, Rapid City,
South Dakota, at 9:30 a.m. local time
on May 25, 2005. Prior to the meeting,
formal notice, proxy statement and
proxy will be mailed to shareholders.

DIRECT DEPOSIT OF DIVIDENDS

The Company encourages you to consider the direct
deposit of your dividends. With direct deposit, your
quarterly dividend payment can be automatically
transferred on the dividend payment date to the
bank, savings and loan, or credit union of your
choice. Direct deposit assures payments are credited
to shareholders’ accounts without delay. A form is
attached to your dividend check where you can
request information about this method of payment.
Questions regarding direct deposit should be 
directed to Wells Fargo Shareowner Services.

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

A Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan
(the Plan) is available to common shareholders. 
The Plan provides a method of investing common
stock dividends and optional cash payments in 
additional shares of Common Stock of the Company
at 100 percent of the recent average market price.
Participants may elect to continue to receive cash
dividends on shares registered in their names and
invest by making optional cash payments only.
Questions regarding the Plan should be directed 
to Wells Fargo Shareowner Services. 

The Company reports details concerning its operation and
other matters periodically to the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Form 8-K, Form 10-Q and Form 10-K, 
which are available on written request to: 
Investor Relations, Black Hills Corporation, P.O. Box
1400, Rapid City, South Dakota, 57709. The Company’s
CEO/CFO Section 302 Certifications have been filed 
on exhibits to its Form 10-K. The Company also has
available through our internet website at www.black-
hillscorp.com its annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and
amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably 
practicable after the Company
electronically files such material
with, or furnishes it to, the
Securities and Exchange
Commission. 

In addition, the Company has certain corporate 
governance documents on our website. These documents
include a Code of Ethics that applies to its CEO, CFO
and key finance/accounting employees, Corporate
Governance Guidelines for its Board of Directors, Code
of Business Conduct for its employees, and charters for
the Executive, Audit, Compensation and Governance
Committees of the Board of Directors.
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